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his year, the Financial and Fiscal Commission (the Commission) celebrated an 
important milestone: the Commission turned 20 years old. To mark its 20th Anni-
versary, the Commission organised a very successful conference on South Africa’s 
experience of intergovernmental fiscal relations and lessons for other African 
countries embarking on similar activities. The conference report was tabled with 

Parliament and all the Commission’s stakeholders. On 3 July 2015, the President signed the 
Bill that finally rectified the legislated governance structure issue, whereby the position of the 
Chairperson was combined with that of the Accounting Officer and Chief Executive (CE). Having 
worked closely with the Minister of Finance to address the governance challenges emanating 
from the Financial and Fiscal Commission Act, I am confident that with the successful passing 
of the Bill, the Commission is on a sound corporate governance footing. 

The year under review also saw the appointment of new Commissioners following the expiry of 
the terms of Commissioners Tania Ajam, Lucienne Abrahams and Nelisiwe Shezi. In total three 
new Commissioners were appointed to fill in virtually all the vacancies, save that of the Chair-
person. My term of office expired in February 2013 and was extended until 28 February 2015. I 
was thereafter reappointed from 1 March 2015 until 31 August 2016. This process has ensured 
a degree of stability in the Commission, although the challenges associated with the position of 
Acting Chairperson/CE remain. In this respect I must thank all the Commissioners (outgoing and 
incoming) for the unwavering support that they have provided.

Over the past year, we continued to make significant progress, meeting (and in some cases 
exceeding) our objectives. The Commission has adhered very strictly to the long-term research 
strategy and produced work that has enabled it to meet its constitutional mandate and obliga-
tion. We tabled the Submission for the Division of Revenue 2015/16 on time and fulfilled all 
the other related obligations, including briefings to all the nine provinces and organised local 
government. In addition, we made the mandatory submissions on the Medium Term Budget 
Policy Statement, the Division of Revenue Bill, Fiscal Frameworks and Revenue Proposals, and 
the Appropriations Bill. The Commission also tabled in Parliament the report Climate Change, 
Household Vulnerability and Smart Agriculture: The Case of Two South African Provinces that 
was done in collaboration with the Food, Agriculture and Natural Resources Policy Analysis 
Network. The work on the public sector wage bill, which was being done in conjunction with the 
Public Service Commission, has been subsumed into the work of the Presidential Remuneration 
Review Commission (PRRC).

With regard to governance and financial issues, we have strived to address issues arising from 
last year’s audit report and are committed to clean administration, as well as extracting as much 
value as possible from our limited budget. We are fully cognisant of the need to engage only 
in value-for-money activities and continue to cooperate actively with other organs of state in 
responding to challenges facing the IGFR system. Nevertheless, funding remains a challenge, 
both to meet the increased requests from stakeholders and to extend the Commission’s work 
and presence across all three spheres of government. It requires maintaining a very difficult 
balance between the Commission’s wage bill and the rest of its activities. For a very long period, 
the Commission has had to postpone spending on its ICT infrastructure and other assets, with 
negative effects that are beginning to show, as systems constantly break down. In this regard, 
we are making ongoing representations to the National Treasury. The matter of the Commis-
sion’s accommodation is yet to be resolved, with the Department of Public Works renting the 
property on behalf of the Commission. This has presented challenges that we hope to resolve 
going forward. 

I am confident about the future of the Commission to deliver on its mandate. With the relevant 
governance structures in place, we have evaluated our external and internal risk areas, and 
have successfully implemented the relevant strategies, while also achieving operational effi-
ciencies. We will continue to effectively execute the Commission’s constitutional role within the 
ambit of the South African fiscal framework.
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I would like to thank the Minister of Finance, the Chairpersons of Finance and Appropriations 
Committees in Parliament, the Commissioners and the Commission’s Secretariat for their 
support in ensuring that the Commission meets it obligations to the Constitution and the people 
of South Africa despite all the challenges, as highlighted. 

Mr Bongani Khumalo 
Acting Chairperson/Chief Executive
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1.1 Constitutional and Legislative Mandate

The Financial and Fiscal Commission (the Commission or FFC) derives its mandate from the Constitu-
tion of the Republic of South Africa Act No. 108 of 1996 as amended. Sections 214(2), 220, 222, 228(2)
(b), 229(5), 230(2) and 230A(2) of the Constitution provides, among others, that the Commission is an 
independent and impartial advisory institution, which Government has to consult with regard to the 
division of revenue among the three spheres of government and in the enactment of legislation per-
taining to provincial taxes, municipal fiscal powers and functions, and provincial and municipal loans.

The Commission’s mandate is enabled through the Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations Act No. 97 of 
1997, the Financial and Fiscal Commission Act No. 99 of 1997 (as amended), the Local Government: 
Municipal Systems Act No. 32 of 2000 (as amended), the Provincial Tax Regulation Process Act No. 53 
of 2001, the Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act No. 13 of 2005, the Municipal Fiscal Powers 
and Functions Act No. 12 of 2007, and the Money Bills Amendment Procedures and Related Matters 
Act No. 9 of 2009,

1.2 Vision, Mission and Values

1.2.1 Vision

To provide influential advise for an equitable, efficient and sustainable Intergovernmental Fiscal 
Relations (IGFR) system

1.2.2 Mission

To provide proactive, expert and independent advice on promoting a sustainable and equitable IGFR 
system, through evidence based policy analysis to ensure the realization of our Constitutional values.

1.2.3 Values

To enable the Commission to deliver on its mandate, it subscribes to the following values as enshrined 
in the Batho Pele principles:-

•	 Professionalism, which implies fairness and equal treatment; the free sharing of information; 
striving for quality; and time management

•	 Respect for each other as colleagues and for the diversity of the workforce

•	 Empowerment in employing policies to increase delegation rather than to stifle it; the tolerance 
of different views and ideas; and making resources available when required

•	 Trust which requires openness and transparency; humility; person of Integrity; and honesty in all 
undertakings

•	 Teamwork, which encourages cross-functional integration; voluntary mentorship and coaching; 
taking responsibility; and flexibility

•	 Innovation, which allows intellectual space; provides systems to support innovation; and 
tolerates mistakes as opportunities for learning.

 



1.3 Composition and Organisational Structure

The Commission comprises the following nine persons:

1. A Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson;

2. Three persons, appointed after consultation with the provincial premiers, from a list compiled in 
accordance with a process prescribed by national legislation; 

3. Two persons, appointed after consultation with organised local government, from a list compiled 
in accordance with a process prescribed by national legislation; and 

4. Two other persons. 

Commissioners are appointed in terms of the Constitution and the Financial and Fiscal Commission 
Act, 1997 (as amended). All appointments are made by the President of the Republic of South Africa. 
Appointments may not exceed a period of five years, but Commissioners are eligible for reappoint-
ment. The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson are in the full-time employment of the Commission 
while the rest of the Commissioners are employed part-time. The Commission Secretariat has four 
divisions: Commission Secretary/Administration, Finance, Corporate Services and Research and Rec-
ommendations. 

Commission

Deputy  
Chairperson

Commission 
Secretary/Administration

Stakeholder Liaison

Corporate ServicesFinance
Research and 

Recommendations 
Programme (RRP)

Chairperson and 
Chief Executive 

Officer



1.4 Commissioners

1.4.1 Full Time Commissioners

Mr Bongani Khumalo 
(1 March 2013–28 February 2015; reappointed: 1 March 2015–31 August 2016) 

Mr Bongani Khumalo is the Acting Chairperson/CE of the Commission. He was previously the 
Programme Manager for Fiscal Policy in the Secretariat of the Commission. He has worked on a variety 
of areas within the South African IGFR system, including the design of revenue-sharing formulae, the 
financing of education, health care and social assistance, sub-national borrowing and taxation issues, 
and the design of conditional grants. Bongani lectured at undergraduate and graduate level at the Uni-
versity of Zimbabwe (in international trade and development, and public finance) and then at Rhodes 
University in Grahamstown (in public policy, international trade policy and development economics) 
until 1999, when he joined the Commission as a Researcher. He has published articles and contributed 
book chapters on IGFR and public finance, and holds an MSc in Economics from the University of 
Zimbabwe. 

1.4.2 Part Time Commissioners 

Mr Kenneth Fihla, Commissioner
(1 September 2013–31 August 2018)

Mr Kenneth Fihla is the Head of Client Coverage, Corporate and Investment Banking/CIB Franchise, 
Standard Bank Group. He is responsible for corporate client relationship management across 19 
African countries and 20 countries on other continents, as well as for managing Standard Bank’s 
Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB) South Africa Client Franchise business. He is a respected leader 
with extensive investment banking experience. Kenneth joined Standard Bank as Head of Investor 
Services in September 2006, was appointed to the CIB’s Executive Committee in March 2007, and 
became Head of Transactional Products and Services South Africa in April 2008. He studied Mechanical 
Engineering at the Harare Polytechnic. He holds an MSc in Financial Economics from the University of 
London and an MBA from the University of Witwatersrand.  

Mr Krish Kumar, Commissioner 
(1 March 2013–28 February 2018)

Mr Krish Kumar commenced work as a Trainee Accountant with the erstwhile Durban City Council 
in 1981 and progressed through the ranks to become City Treasurer of the North and South Central 
Local Councils in 1997. In addition, in 1999 he was appointed City Treasurer of the Durban Metropolitan 
Council and in 2001 Deputy City Manager: Treasury. Krish is a member of the South African Local 
Government Association’s (SALGA) finance working group, Fellow (and past President) of the Institute 
of Municipal Finance Officers (IMFO), Chairperson of the Municipal Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Forum 
and has served two terms as a member of the Accounting Standards Board. He holds a Master of 
Administration degree from the University of KwaZulu-Natal. 

Mr Sipho Lubisi, Commissioner 
(28 July 2014–27 July 2019)

Mr Sipho Lubisi commenced work at TSB Sugar Holdings in 1981 where he served as a shop steward 
of the Food and Allied Workers Union (FAWU). From 1986 to 1993, he held a number of regional and 
national positions with FAWU and Cosatu, including that of Chairperson of the Costau Eastern Transvaal 
Region (1989–1993). He was a member of the African National Congress (ANC) Provincial Executive 
Committee (1992–2008), the ANC Provincial Deputy Chairperson (2002–2005) and a member of the 
South African Communist Party (SACP) Central Committee (2002–2007). He is currently a member 
of the SACP Executive Committee in Mpumalanga province. In 1998, Sipho joined the Mpumalanga 
Provincial Legislature and was elected as the Speaker of the Legislature (1998–2004). He has served as 
a Member of the Executive Council (MEC) for the departments of health and social development, and 
economic development and planning, and was Speaker of the Mpumalanga Legislature from 2009 to 
2014.



Prof. Gilingwe Mayende, Commissioner
 (28 July 2014–27 July 2019)

After completing his PhD in 1990, Prof. Gilingwe Mayende was selected to be Visiting Fellow and Senior 
Associate Member of St Antony’s College at Oxford University in the UK, where he conducted research 
on the land question in South Africa. Between 1995 and 2005, he served as a senior public servant in the 
South African government, during which time he held the positions of Director-General of the Depart-
ment of Land Affairs (2000–2005), Deputy Director-General of the Eastern Cape Provincial Government 
(1999–2000) and Regional Land Claims Commissioner for the Eastern Cape and Free State (1995–1998). 
Since leaving the public service in 2005, he has held a variety of posts and is currently attached to the 
Centre for the Advancement of Non-Racialism and Democracy at the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan 
University, where he is a Senior Research Fellow. Gilingwe holds a BA in Sociology and History from the 
University of Botswana, an MA in Development Sociology (1987) and a PhD in Sociology (1990) from 
the University of Hull in the UK. He also holds a Diploma in Executive Leadership (Senior Executive 
Programme) from Wits and Harvard Universities. 

Dr Sibongile Muthwa, Commissioner
(28 July 2014–27 July 2019)

Dr Sibongile Muthwa has international work experience in the non-government, development and 
public sectors, as well as in academia. She is currently the Deputy Vice Chancellor: Institutional Support 
at the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University and sits on the boards of Seriti Institute, Women in 
Dialogue Trust, University Sports Company and Curro Holdings. In the past, Sibongile has served in 
various structures, including the Joint Universities Public Management Education Trust (Chairperson) 
and Applied Fiscal Review Centre. Previous positions include Director of the University of Fort Hare’s 
Institute of Government (1999–2004) and Director-General of the Eastern Cape Provincial Government 
(2001–2010). She holds a BA (SW) (Fort Hare), BA (SW) Hons (Wits), MSc (SPPDC) and PhD (London).

Prof. Daniel Plaatjies, Commissioner
(1 September 2013–31 August 2018)

Prof. Daniel Plaatjies is Executive Director at the Human Science Research Council (HSRC) responsible 
for Democracy, Governance, Service Delivery and Social Cohesion. The former Head and Director of the 
Wits School of Governance, he is currently a Visiting Professor at the University of Free State School 
Of Business. He has served in various senior and executive management positions in South Africa’s 
national and provincial governments. Daniel is the author and editor of Future Inheritance – Building 
State Capacity in Democratic South Africa (Jacana, 2011) and Protecting the Inheritance – Governance 
and Public Accountability in Democratic South Africa (Jacana, 2013). He has also published articles on 
government, governance, civil society and public policies. He holds a BSocSc (Hons) in Policy, Planning, 
Administration and Management from the University of Cape Town, an MPhil in Policy, Planning and 
Management from the University of Western Cape and a PhD in Governance, Public Policy and Public 
Finance from the University of the Witwatersrand. 



Prof. Nico Steytler, Commissioner
(1 September 2013–31 August 2018)

Prof. Nico Steytler is a Professor of public law and the South African Research Chair in Multilevel Govern-
ment, Law and Policy at the Community Law Centre, the University of the Western Cape. He was formerly 
Director of the Community Law Centre, a research and advocacy institute that works on governance and 
human rights. His main field of research is multilevel government, including local government. He has 
written extensively on the subject, including co-authoring the Local Government Law of South Africa. 
Nico has advised governments at all levels on constitutional and statutory design and implementation 
of multilevel governance, including being a technical adviser to the Constitutional Assembly for the 1996 
Constitution and to the Western Cape Provincial Legislature for the provincial constitution (1996-1997). 
He was a member of the Municipal Demarcation Board (2004–2014) and is President of the International 
Association of Centres for Federal Studies (2010–2016). Most recently, as an UN-appointed expert, he 
advised the Yemen’s Constitutional Drafting Committee on the design of a federal constitution. Prof. Nico 
Steytler holds a BA LLB (University of Stellenbosch), an LLM (University of London), a PhD (University of 
Natal) and a doctorate (honoris causa) from the University of Fribourg, Switzerland.

1.4.3 Commissioners whose terms expired during the period under review

Ms Tania Ajam (part-time) (1 July 2009- 30 June 2014)

Ms Nelisiwe Shezi (part-time) (1 July 2009- 30 June 2014)

Ms Lucienne (Luci) Abrahams (1 July 2009-30 June 2014)
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2.1 Introduction

The Commission adheres to the highest standards of corporate governance and the ongoing imple-
mentation of best practice. These are constantly reviewed and adapted to accommodate internal 
corporate developments and reflect national and international good practice.

The Commission is committed to ensuring compliance to the Code of Corporate Practices and 
Conduct provided it is not in contravention of any applicable legislation. Governance practices and 
processes will continue to receive the Commission’s and its committees’ consideration and attention 
thus ensuring that its operations are conducted ethically and within prudent risk parameters.

2.2 Compliance with Laws and Regulations

A compliance checklist that is aligned to the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 has been developed 
and is implemented monthly. Various internal controls are implemented to ensure compliance with 
laws and regulations within the Commission. Delegations of authority are also in place to ensure ac-
countability.

2.3 Commission Meetings Attendance

The table below indicates frequency of Commission meetings and attendance during 2014/2015.

Name of Member Position Meetings Attendance and Dates

7 August 
2014

27 
November 

2014

28 
November 

2014

29 January 
2015

30 January 
2015

30 March 
2015

Mr Bongani Khumalo
Commissioner, 

Chairperson      

Mr Kenneth Fihla Commissioner 

Mr Krish Kumar Commissioner      

Mr Sipho Lubisi Commissioner     

Prof. Gilingwe Mayende Commissioner      

Dr Sibongile Muthwa Commissioner      

Prof. Daniel Plaatjies Commissioner     

Prof. Nico Steytler Commissioner    



2.4 Commission Committees

The Commission oversees its operations through a governance structure comprising various commit-
tees.

2.4.1 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established primarily to assist the Commission in overseeing the quality and 
integrity of the financial statements, and public disclosures thereof; the scope and effectiveness of the 
external audit function; and the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal controls and internal audit 
function. The mandate of the Committee also includes oversight of the Commission’s performance 
against predetermined objectives and the Commission’s financial and non-financial risk manage-
ment and fraud prevention efforts. The Audit Committee has adopted appropriate formal terms of 
reference as its audit committee charter and has regulated its affairs and discharged its responsibilities 
in compliance to the Charter. The table below indicates the Audit Committee composition, frequency 
of meetings and attendance during 2014/2015.

Name of Member Position Meetings Attendance and Dates

22 May 
2014

23 July 
2014

18 No-
vember 

2014

24 March 
2015

Mr Jerry Sithole Independent, Chairperson    

Mr Duncan Ntuli Independent Member    

Mr Mkuseli Bashe Independent Member   

Ms Mmathabo Sukati Independent Member 

Mr Krish Kumar Commissioner, Member   

Mr Sipho Lubisi (ap-
pointed to the  Com-
mittee on 7 August 
2014)

Commissioner, Member  

Mr Kenny Fihla (ap-
pointed to the Commit-
tee on 7 August 2014)

Commissioner, Member 



2.4.2 Human Resources Committee

The role of the Human Resources Committee is to provide human resource guidance to the Com-
mission. The Committee facilitates and promotes communication regarding human resource related 
matters. It also receives, processes and interprets inputs, reports and advice from Commissioners, the 
Commission’s sub committees or the Chairperson/CE. The table below indicates the Human Resources 
Committee composition, frequency of meetings and attendance during 2014/2015.

Name of Member Position Meetings Attendance and Dates

8 September 2014 8 December 2014

Dr Sibongile Muthwa Commissioner, Chairperson  

Mr Caleb Mabaso Independent Member  

Mr Andre Michaux Independent Member  

Ms Nontobeko Schep-
pers

Independent Member 

Mr Sipho Lubisi (ap-
pointed to the Commit-
tee on 7 August 2014)

Commissioner, Member 

2.4.3 Research Committee

The role of the Research Committee is primarily to assist the Commission in overseeing research and 
recommendations work of the Commission. The Research Committee provides strategic support and 
oversight for the work of the Commission’s Research and Recommendations Programme. Meetings 
are held on a quarterly basis, or more frequently if needed. Activities involve monitoring research 
plans, resources, outputs and external inputs, reviewing research proposals, and providing strategic 
direction and guidance during the research process. Equally critical is the Research Committee’s role 
in managing the policy impact of the Commission’s recommendations. The table below indicates the 
Research Committee composition, frequency of meetings and attendance during 2014/2015.

Name of Member Position Meetings Attendance and Dates

22 May 2014 23 July 2014 18 November 
2014 24 March 2015

Professor Nico Steytler
Commissioner, 

Chairperson    

Professor Daniel 
Plaatjies

Commissioner, 
Member    

Professor Gilingwe 
Mayende

Commissioner, 
Member 

Dr Sibongile Muthwa
Commissioner, 

Member 



2.5 Remuneration of Commissioners

Section 221(3) of the Constitution and Section 8 of the Financial and Fiscal Commission Act deal with 
the tenure of office of Commissioners. Section 9 of the Financial and Fiscal Commission Act and 
Section 219(5) of the Constitution covers the remuneration, allowances and other benefits of the Com-
missioners, although the provisions of Section 219(5) have not been used. 

2.6 Sustainability

2.6.1 Funding

The funds of the Financial and Fiscal Commission consist of money appropriated by Parliament for 
the purpose of the Commission, money earned on bank savings, money received from donors, money 
obtained by the disposal movable or immovable property, money accruing to the Commission from 
any other source, and money otherwise becoming available to the Commission.

2.6.2 Risk Management

Risk management forms an integral part of the Commission’s plan to deliver effectively and efficiently 
on its mandate. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for risk management in the Commission and 
has facilitated the development of a risk register which identifies strategic risks and mitigating actions. 
The register is reviewed monthly. Any significant risk is considered at the Executive Management 
Planning meetings that take place weekly to contain the risk and prevent it from becoming an incident.

2.6.3 Fraud and Corruption Prevention

There is a duty on all staff members to report knowledge or suspicion on fraud and corruption to 
the relevant personnel within the Commission. The implementation and monitoring is done at the 
weekly Executive Management Planning meetings, monthly at Management and Executive Committee 
meetings and is also part of the quarterly Commission Committee meetings.

2.6.4 Performance Budgeting and Management

The Commission has customised and adopted the National Treasury Framework for Managing 
Programme Performance Information and the National Treasury Framework for Strategic Plans and 
Annual Performance Plans.

2.6.5 Balanced Scorecard Planning

The Commission has adopted and implemented the Balanced Scorecard Approach for strategic and 
business planning purposes.

2.6.6 Code of Ethics

The Commission has developed and adopted a Code of Ethics which has been reviewed regularly. 

2.7 Internal Controls

The Commission has developed and implemented a comprehensive system of internal controls as 
follows:

2.7.1 Research and Recommendations Programme

Guided by the Commission’s long-term Research Strategy and Research Policy, the RRP’s primary 
role is generating and disseminating influential policy advice on using the intergovernmental system 
to realise the policy impacts necessary for national development and the progressive realisation of 
the constitutional vision. To this end, quality research is a critical core business enabler of evidence-
based recommendations. However, excellence in research is unlikely to be impactful unless policy 
analysis is packaged in a way that is understood by stakeholders and adds value to their processes.  



Accordingly, a critical aspect of the RRP’s work is effective dissemination of research insights and 
recommendations and effective stakeholder management. This includes following up on the imple-
mentation of recommendations and finding innovative ways for the Commission to engage with its 
stakeholders. 

2.7.2 Finance

The responsibility of the finance function is to assist the Accounting Officer in the effective, efficient 
and transparent financial management of the resources of the Commission, including the exercise of 
sound budgeting and budgetary control practices, the operation of internal controls and the timely 
production of financial reports.

2.7.3 Commission Secretary

The responsibility of the Commission Secretary function is to translate and implement the strategic 
direction of the Commission for Communication/Stakeholder Management, ensure administrative ef-
ficiency and compliance.

2.7.4 Corporate Services

The responsibility of the corporate services function is to translate and implement the strategic 
direction of the Commission for HR management, information and communication technology (ICT) 
and facilities management.
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3.1 Statement of Responsibility for Performance Information

The Chief Executive is responsible for the preparation of the Commission’s performance information 
and for judgments made on this information. This involves establishing, and implementing a system of 
internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of perfor-
mance information. 

The Auditor- General currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance informa-
tion to provide assurance on audit conclusions. The audit conclusion on the performance against 
predetermined objectives is included in the report to management. In my opinion and as corroborated 
by the Auditor General, the performance information fairly reflects the operations of the Commission 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

Mr Bongani Khumalo 
Acting Chairperson/Chief Executive



3.2 Preamble

The measurable strategic objectives outlined in the Commission’s Strategic Plan against which achieve-
ments of the Commission are assessed are as follows:

1. To profile the Commission with a special focus on the Commission’s Mandate, role; approach, 
achievements, challenges and recommendations (objective 5.1.1).

2. To ensure the generation of quality, innovative, pioneering evidence-based research that informs 
key IGFR strategic debates and choices(objective 5.1.2).

3. To ensure that Commission research is converted to policy advice and recommendations written 
in language that policymakers can understand(objective 5.1.3).

4. To ensure that policy advice and recommendations respond timeously and proactively to the 
dynamic needs of stakeholders(objective 5.1.4).

5. To ensure the progressive and innovative human resource management that attracts, develops 
and retains key talent, and leverages external expertise (objective 5.2.1).

6. To ensure the coordinated, coherent, high-quality, innovative and cost-effective approach to ICT 
that meets the needs of the Commission, the Commission Secretariat and stakeholders (objective 
5.2.2).

7. To ensure the coordinated, cost-effective and innovative management of Commission assets in 
support of delivery on the Commission’s mandate (objective 5.2.3).

8. Compliance with legislation and adherence to relevant corporate governance best practice 
(objective 5.2.4).

9. To ensure the creation, institutionalization and transfer of new knowledge to other role players 
within the IGFR system(objective 5.3.1).

10. To ensure the coordinated, cost-effective and innovative acquisition and management of Com-
mission data, information and knowledge resources in support of delivery on the Commission’s 
mandate (objective 5.3.2).

11. To ensure prudent and transparent management of the Commission’s financial resources 
(objective 5.4.1).

12. To ensure access to alternative sources of funding (objective 5.4.2).

The detailed performance information provided in Section 3.3 show that the Commission has continued 
to make quite significant progress in relation to its medium-term goals, while at the same time markedly 
improving its financial condition (as reflected in the audited annual financial statements).



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.1.1: To profile the Commission with a special focus on the Commission’s Mandate, role; approach, 
achievements, challenges and recommendations.

Legislature and 
Government Plan

Dissemination of 
Commission prof-
fering, engagement 
with stakeholders 
and issues manage-
ment

Number of Q2 to 
Q3 briefings on 
2015/2016 Submis-
sion for the Division 
of Revenue

2
2

Parliament
2

9
9 

Provincial 
Legislatures

9

1 1 SALGA 1

1
1 

Government
2

Additional requests 
made by Free State 
Health Department

Number of Q3 brief-
ings on 2014 Me-
dium Term Budget 
Policy Statement

1
1 

Parliament
3

Additional requests 
made by Parlia-
ment.

Number of Q4 brief-
ings on Commis-
sion Submission on 
the 2015 Division of 
Revenue Bill

2
2 

Parliament
2

Number of Q4 
briefings on Fiscal 
Framework and 
Revenue Proposals

2
2 

Parliament
2

Number of Q4 brief-
ings on Commis-
sion Submission on 
Appropriations Bill

-
2 

Parliament
1

The budget process 
was incomplete, 
the Commission 
received invitation 
subsequent to year 
end.

Number of Q3 
briefings on Com-
mission Annual 
Report annually by 
financial year end

-
1 

Parliament
1

Number of TCF 1 
Meetings by Q4

4 6 6

Number of Budget 
Council Meetings 
and Forum meet-
ings by Q4

3 2 3

Number of other 
(ad hoc2) Legislature 
and Government 
briefings by Q4

44
8 briefings @ 

2 briefings per 
Quarter

12

The invitations from 
Stakeholders had 

exceeded the target 
and the Commis-
sion was able to 

comply with the ad 
hoc requests

Media, ISDs, 
NGOs, CBOs, Aca-
demia, and Peers 
Management

Number of IGFR 
Workshops by Q4

- 2 2

Number of Public 
Hearings by Q4

1 1 1

3.3 Performance Information 2014/2015

2 Technical Committee on Finance
3 Section 3(2)(b)(ii) of Financial and Fiscal Commission Act



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.1.2: To ensure the generation of quality, innovative, pioneering evidence-based research that informs key 
IGFR strategic debates and choices

Research and 
Recommenda-
tions Programme

Better stewardship 
of public funds/
Value for Money

2015/16 Annual 
Submission for Divi-
sion of Revenue 
in Q4

1 1 1

2014 Medium Term 
Budget Policy State-
ment Submission 
in Q3 1 1 1

2015 Division of 
Revenue Bill Sub-
mission in Q4 1 1 1

2015 Fiscal Frame-
works and Tax 
Proposals Submis-
sion in Q4

1 1 1

2015 Appropriations 
Bill Submission 
in Q4 1 1 1

2015/2016 Annual 
Submission Techni-
cal Report in Q2 1 1 1

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.1.3: To ensure that Commission research is converted to policy advice and recommendations written in 
language that policymakers can understand

Plain Language 
Editing

Accessible Commis-
sion profferings

Number of plain 
language edited 
Submissions, Re-
ports and Policy 
Briefs by year end

1

1 2015/2016 Annual 
Submission for the 
Division of Revenue 

in Q1

1

-

1 English Grass-
roots Version of 

2015/2016 Submis-
sion for the Division 

of Revenue in Q1

1

-

3 Other Official 
Language Grass-
roots Versions of 

2015/2016 Submis-
sion for the Division 

of Revenue in Q1

-

Budgetary and 
human capital 

constraints. The 
Commission is cur-
rently drafting an 
Official languages 

Policy which will be 
implemented in the 
2015/2016 financial 

year

1

1 Policy Brief 
per Chapter of 

2015/2016 Submis-
sion for the Division 

of Revenue in Q2

1



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.1.4: To ensure that policy advice and recommendations respond timeously and proactively to the 
dynamic needs of stakeholders

Environmental 
Scan and Issues 
Management

Research, policy 
advice and recom-
mendations that 
deal with IGFR 
issues that are rel-
evant and topical

Number of State 
and Government 
fora attended by 
year end

1
Medium Term 

Budget Policy State-
ment in Q3

1

1
State of the Nation 

Address in Q4
1

1
Budget Speech 

in Q4
1

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.2.1:To ensure the progressive and innovative human resource management that attracts, develops and 
retains key talent, and leverages external expertise

Human Resource 
Management

People organised 
effectively for 
performance

Number of Organisa-
tional Development 
Components com-
pleted by year end

- 1 1

EXCO approved 
Revised Human 

Resource Strategy 
in Q4

1

EXCO approved 
Revised Human 

Resource Strategy 
in Q4

1

Annual number of 
reviewed Human 

Resource Manage-
ment Policies and 

Procedures

3
EXCO approved 
Revised Policies 

in Q4
8

Remuneration of 
staff at rates not be-
low DPSA published 
rates in 2014/2015

100%

SMS and non-SMS 
staff remuneration 

not below DPSA 
rates by Q2

100%

Proportion of staff 
(normal distribution 

curve) rewarded 
and recognised for 

superior perfor-
mance in 2014/2015

SMS 28.6% 
Non SMS 78.3%

SMS 20% 
Non SMS 25% 

by Q1

SMS: 70% 
Non SMS: 78.9%

Improvements in 
staff performance 
based on set tar-
gets for the year.

Annual number of 
employees  meeting 

the competence 
standards set in  

Commission Policy

100%
No less than 80% 
of total number of 
employees by Q4

100%

All Staff achieved 
competence 

standards as set by 
the Commission’s 

performance policy.

Annual number of 
unoccupied but 
budgeted posts

5.9%

No more than 15% 
of total number of 
budgeted positions 

by Q4

12.1%
3 vacant positions 

were filled after 
year end.

Annual rate of 
absenteeism 3

1.1% <5% 2.3%

Overall absentee-
ism rate achieved 
does not exceed 

the standards as set 
in the HR policy.

Annual number 
of employees 
disciplined for 
misconduct 4

2.3% <3% by Q4 3%

Annual number of 
days in  training 

per organisational 
training and devel-
opment plan per 

employee

1.1%
3 days year per 
employee by Q4

3.1

Annual ratio of male 
to female staff

SMS 88.9%/11.1% 
Professional 
34.5%/65.5% 

Non- SMS 
20.5%/79.5% 
Organisation 
46.4%/53.6%

SMS 60/40 
Professional 60/40  

Non- SMS 60/40 
Organisation 60/40 

by Q4

SMS 80/20 
Professional 31/69 

Non- SMS 27/73 
Organisation 44/56

3 Total Days Absent/Total Working Days %
4 Incidents/Total Staff Compliment %



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.2.2: To ensure the coordinated, coherent, high-quality, innovative and cost-effective approach to ICT that 
meets the needs of the Commission, the Commission Secretariat and stakeholders

ICT Management ICT organised 
effectively for 
performance

Revised ICT 
Strategy by Q4

1 CE approved 
Revised ICT Strategy 

Document by Q4

1

Revised ICT Plan 
annually by finan-

cial year end

1 CE approved 
Revised ICT Plan 

by Q4

1

Revised ICT Policies 
and Procedures 

by Q4

1 CE approved 
Revised ICT Policy 
Document by Q4

1

Revised Disaster 
Recovery Plan (DRP) 

by Q4

1 CE approved Re-
vised DRP by Q4

1

Revised Business 
Continuity Plan 

(BCP) by Q4

1 CE approved Re-
vised BCP by Q4

1

Number of 
incidents reported 
by desktop users 

by Q4

1 Not more than 90 
per quarter (30 per 

month) by Q4

1

Duration of down-
time per incident 

by Q4

2 hours 45 minutes Not more than 
three (3) hours per 

incident for desktop 
support by Q4

-

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.2.3: To ensure the coordinated, cost-effective and innovative management of Commission assets in sup-
port of delivery on the Commission’s mandate

Facilities  
Management

Space, 
infrastructure, 
people and 
organisation 
effectively 
coordinated for 
performance

Revised Facilities 
Strategy and Plan 

by Q4
1

CE approved 
Revised Facilities 
Strategy by Q4

1

Revised Facilities 
Management Plan 
annually by year 

end

1

CE approved 
Revised Facilities 
Strategy by Q4 1

Number of Facilities 
Management 
Policies and 
Procedures 

recvised by Q4

1

CE approved 
Revised Facilities 

Management Plan 
by Q4

1

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.2.4: Compliance with legislation and adherence to relevant corporate governance best practice

 Compliance Commitment to 
legal and ethical 
standards, and 
doing the right thing

2015/2016 
Submission for the 
Division of Revenue 
in Q1

1

Tabling of 
Submission for the 
Division of Revenue 

by May 2014

1

2013/2014 Annual 
Report in Q2

1

Tabling of 
2013/2014 Annual 

Report by 30 
September 2014

1

Enterprise Risk 
Assessment by Q3

1

Revised Risk 
Management and 
Fraud Prevention 
Framework and 

Profiles in Q3

1



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Compliance 
(cont.)

Commitment to 
legal and ethical 
standards, and 
doing the right thing  
(Cont).

Commission 
Governance as 
prescribed by 
the Financial and 
Fiscal Commission 
Act and approved 
Committee Terms 
of Reference by Q4

5
5 Commission 

Meetings5 as per 
approved Schedule

5

10

10 Commission 
Committee 

Meetings as per 
approved schedule

12

12
12 EXCO6 Meetings 

as per approved 
schedule

12

12
12 MANCO7 

Meetings as per 
approved schedule

12

Stakeholder advi-
sories in terms of 
Section 3(2)(i)(b) of 
the Financial and 
Fiscal Commission 
Act and other ap-
plicable legislation 
by Q4

5 Ad Hoc 2

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.3.1: To ensure the creation , institutionalization and transfer of new knowledge to other role players 
within the IGFR system

Information 
Management, 
Enterprise 
Content 
Management, 
and Knowledge 
Management

Preserve institu-
tional memory File Plan, systems, 

infrastructure and 
digitisation by Q4

- Draft File Plan by Q4 -

Infrastructure and 
digitization not 
achieved due to 
budgetary controls

Advance IGFR 
knowledge

Number of 
peer-reviewed 
publications in ac-
credited journals as 
per Research Policy 
by Q4

10.6
10.68

5
10.6

Actual achieved 
exceed in year 
changes due to an 
aggressive publica-
tion plan, attend-
ance of external 
conferences and 
IGFR 20th anniver-
sary conference 
attended during the 
year.

Number of 
recognised book 
chapters or working 
papers or Technical 
Reports published 
as per Research 
Policy by Q4

16
169

8
13.2

Actual achieved 
exceed in year 
changes due to an 
aggressive publica-
tion plan, attend-
ance of external 
conferences and 
IGFR 20th anniver-
sary conference 
attended during 
the year

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.3.2: To ensure the coordinated, cost-effective and innovative acquisition and management of Commis-
sion data, information and knowledge resources in support of delivery on the Commission’s mandate

Library Unrestricted access 
to information in 
many formats from 
a variety of sources

Number of suc-
cessful referencing 
transactions by Q4

13 404 12 000 11 824

Demand lower than 
expected and so 

efforts focused on 
reference works

Number of 
reference works 
acquired by Q4

13 4 17

Demand higher 
than expected and 

so resources for 
referencing transac-

tions were used

5  May, July, and November 2014; January and March 2015
6 Monthly Executive Committee
7 Monthly Management Committee
8 Annual target change – (proportional reduction – 66% of technical Reports implied by consolidation)
9 Annual target change – based on new size of consolidated projects



 Project/Activities 
(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key Performance 
Measure/
Indicator

2013/2014 
Actual

2014/2015 
Annual Target

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/ 
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.4.1: To ensure prudent and transparent management of the Commission’s financial resources.

Financial 
Management

Organizational 
agility through the 
allocation of scarce 
resources amongst 
competing interests 
and opportunities

Revised Financial 
Management 

Policies and Proce-
dures by Q4

1

CE approved 
Revised Financial 

Management 
Policies and Proce-

dures by Q4

1

Revised Supply 
Chain Management 

Policies  by Q4
1

CE approved 
Revised Supply 

Chain Management 
Policies by Q4

1

Auditor General 
AG Audit Report 

of 2013/2014 AFS 
and Performance 

Information with no 
matters of empha-

sis inQ2

1

2013/2014 AG Audit 
Report with no mat-

ters of emphasis 
in Q2

1

Percentage de-
viation from budget 

allocation by Q4
3%

No more and no 
less than 5% of 
allocation by Q4

1%
Target exceeded 

due to cost contain-
ment measures.

Target reduction 
oflegacy benefit 

through bidding for 
allocations, budget 
adjustments and 

implementation of 
financial discipline 

by Q4

79%
25% reduction of 
balance of deficit 

by Q4
134%

Deficit eliminated 
through cost sav-

ings.

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.4.2: To ensure access to alternative sources of funding

Collaboration and 
Partnerships

Cooperating to cre-
ate and/or acquire 

knowledge

Number of partner-
ships, sponsorships, 
collaboration agree-

ments or special 
projects by Q4

3

2 partnerships, 
sponsorships, 

collaboration agree-
ments or special 
projects by Q4

5
Additional partner-
ship project during 

the year.



3.4 Commission Submission for the 2015/2016 Division of Revenue

Every year the Commission makes recommendations to Parliament on the division of revenue 
among the three levels of government by submitting an Annual Submission to Parliament. These 
annual submissions are made in terms of Section 214( 1) of the Constitution of South Africa ( 1996), 
Section 9 ofthe Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations Act (No. 97 of 1997), Section 4(4c) of the Money Bills 
Amendment Procedure and Related Matters Act (No.9 of2009) and the Local Government: Municipal 
Systems Act, 2000 (Act No. 32 of 2000) (as amended) (a role for the Commission in the wage negotia-
tions between organised local govenment and organised labour). 

For the 2015/16 Submission, the Commission observed that Government has set a course of economic 
and social reforms with the key foundation being the National Development Plan (NDP). Excellent public 
services are critical to achieving the NDP’s vision. The Commission understands and supports the desire for 
excellent public services, provided they come at a cost that South Africans can afford. The country faces 
three overarching tasks in achieving this goal: (1) to understand and address directly the urgent economic 
growth and employment creation challenges; (2) to establish a balanced fiscal position that can be sustained 
over the long term; (3) to sharpen the efficiency with which government carries out its functions, so as to 
provide greatest value for money. This is the message of this year’s Submission delivered under the theme:

“Balancing	fiscal	sustainability	with	socio-economic	impact”

The country faces more severe economic and fiscal challenges than most people realise, at a time of deep 
and widespread uncertainty over the world economy and its financial system that is unparalleled since the 
Great Depression. But even after the world economy once more finds its footing, South Africans cannot 
assume that strong economic growth will follow, especially given the poverty and inequality challenges 
facing the country. The government needs to have steady and dependable revenue growth in order to 
finance programmes over the long term. An expanding economy is the foundation for rising revenues. If 
the economy fails to grow quickly enough, South Africa’s revenues will fall short of the sums needed to 
support existing government programmes as well as the ambitious new programmes to which the NDP 
aspires. This will put pressure not only on government’s current initiatives to realise socio-economic rights 
in the medium term (such as National Health Insurance) but also on the more ambitious NDP aspirations of 
eradicating poverty and increasing income equalities by 2030. Hard trade-offs will have to be made to strike 
a balance between fiscal sustainability and protecting (and extending) the existing socio-economic gains.

If policy-makers are to attain this balance, their priority should always be to improve economic prospects. 
In order to raise long-term economic growth, structural reforms will be required across multiple institutions, 
as many of the problems are interlinked. Central, provincial and municipal governments all deliver public 
services, at times with inconsistent objectives and uncoordinated activities. Relations among the three 
spheres of government (e.g. a province’s relations with the central government and with municipalities) will 
impact on economic growth and the realisation of socio-economic rights. Most of the initiatives covered 
in this Submission, relating to education, health, electricity, water and housing, have an intergovernmental 
dimension. Intergovernmental relations should aim to strengthen the long-term financial development and 
sustainability of local, provincial and national governments.

Government should continue with efforts to address the fiscal position, which is entirely within its control. 
Sustained deficits, which can undermine the country’s economic and social future, are not inevitable. 
Reforms to the delivery of public services can contribute not only to increasing economic growth but also 
to achieving the balance between fiscal sustainability and socio-economic impacts. These reforms are both 
desirable in their own right to improve the quality and access to public services, as well as to lower costs. 
Affordability and excellence are not incompatible and can be accomplished through greater efficiency that 
serves both the fiscal imperative and South Africans’ desire for better run programmes. However, in order 
to protect and extend the existing socio-economic gains, the country will have to do things differently. 
Decisions will have to be made, to ensure that growth is not compromised by further fiscal tightening on 
the expenditure side and additional revenue raising.

The Submission begins by analysing South Africa’s economic story to date (Section I). This section sets the 
macroeconomic and fiscal background for the Submission and sketches alternative fiscal policy adjust-
ment paths. South Africa is facing two major macro-fiscal challenges. The first one is a long-term problem, 
of potential public debt unsustainability, which may require greater fiscal discipline in a way that least 



jeopardises short-term economic growth and enhances longer-term economic growth and employment 
prospects. The second is a more pressing economic problem, of how best to deal with high levels of poverty 
and inequality. Social programmes help the country’s most vulnerable citizens. Addressing the poverty and 
inequality challenges will require bold policy prescriptions, new partnerships and a continuing commitment 
to transform these programmes. These macro-fiscal challenges affect future fiscal frameworks because 
of their impact on public sector efficiency, public and business confidence and, more broadly, the efficient 
use of resources that are essential for the economy to develop and grow. Moreover, programmes should 
be integrated across different departments and different spheres of government, putting the vulnerable 
citizens’ perspective first. Vulnerable people and their families do not care which sphere of government or 
which department is responsible for providing support – they just want help.

The remainder of the Submission looks at how South Africa, especially through the intergovernmental 
system, can create better conditions for inclusive growth. Ensuring greater impact and efficiency of public 
spending is one way to reconcile the dwindling fiscal space with the need to stimulate economic growth, 
encourage participation in the economy and improve equity. Creating a dynamic economy requires three 
basic investments: in people (human capital), in equipment and physical structures (infrastructure) and in 
new ideas and technologies (innovation). Two previous submissions have covered innovation and research 
and their recommendations remain relevant. This year’s Submission focuses on the first two investments. It 
looks at how the causes of lower productivity levels are linked to investment failures in human capital (basic 
education, health and food security), in Section II, and in infrastructure (municipal infrastructure, transport, 
electricity and housing), in Section III. South Africa already spends significant amounts of money on health, 
education and other human capital investment, but while access has improved dramatically, there is a 
crisis of quality. Furthermore, despite substantial resources directed successfully at infrastructure, poor 
infrastructure planning and implementation, escalating costs, supply chain management fraud and inef-
ficiency, and inadequate maintenance have meant that infrastructure outcomes have often fallen short 
of expectations. Effective resource allocation is not just about sharing resources fairly across spheres of 
government. An often-ignored issue is the effect on resource allocation of changes to municipal boundaries 
(re-demarcation). The last part of the Submission (Section IV) suggests a fiscally prudent way of carrying out 
demarcations of municipal boundaries in order to minimise the negative impacts on the financial and fiscal 
performance of municipalities.

The Recommendations 

Below is the list of the recommendations of the Commission for the 2015/16 Division of Revenue.

With	respect	to	keeping	a	check	on	the	deficit	and	public	debt	in	ways	that	contribute	towards	
fiscal	sustainability	and	socio-economic	development,	the	Commission	recommends	that:

1.  Government avoids setting rigid public debt targets. While keeping debt low has historically been con-
sidered desirable, borrowing is a valid and appropriate option available to government to help finance 
ongoing infrastructure and developmental requirements consistent with realising the aspirations of 
the NDP. This presumes that debt management continues to have the objective of raising the required 
funding at the lowest possible cost within a given risk tolerance.

2.  Government does not resort simply to cutting costs to reduce public debt. The need to restrain 
spending should be an opportunity to reform programmes and service delivery. Simple cost cutting 
may be effective in achieving deficit reduction targets but does not encourage longer-run fiscal stability 
or allow for reforms that will generate more value for money spent.

3.  Government avoids across-the-board cuts or expenditure ceilings as a means of debt control. Such 
blunt tools treat valuable, efficiently run programmes and outdated, poorly managed programmes in 
the same way. Spending should be aligned with government priorities, to ensure adequately funding 
of high-priority initiatives and elimination or substantial reduction of lower priority programmes.



With respect to social programmes to eliminate poverty and reduce inequality, the Commis-
sion	recommends	that	Government:

1.  Moves aggressively towards a fully integrated benefits system that simplifies client access, improves 
client outcomes and improves fiscal sustainability through greater programme effectiveness, reduced 
fraud and corruption, and reduced administrative costs..

2. Implements a fully integrated benefits system that seeks efficiencies by, at a minimum, centralis-
ing income testing and payment delivery; automating the processing of applications, eligibility and 
payments; automating income verification; consolidating programme delivery; and standardising eli-
gibility criteria.

3. Collects the information necessary to deliver and evaluate a fully integrated benefits system. In so 
doing, personal information and privacy should continue to be respected and protected.

With respect to equitable resourcing of schools for better outcomes, the Commission recom-
mends	that:

1. The Department of Basic Education aligns learner subsidy allocations with national policy require-
ments and priorities. The current baselines do not cater for the significant increase in funding to cover 
the curriculum requirements i.e. CAPS, norms and standards for school infrastructure and municipal 
services to schools among others. The alignment must be carried out in conjunction with strengthening 
oversight of provincial education departments (PEDs) to ensure adherence to national policy priorities.

a. PEDs must reprioritise their budgets for public ordinary schools away from personnel, ensure 
a correct mix of teaching and non-teaching staff, make adequate provision for learners’ subsidies 
within the public ordinary school programme and redirect resources towards districts that experience 
multiple performance obstacles. 

2. The allocation framework to schools takes into account the full package of minimum education inputs 
when deriving the minimum adequate benchmark funding per learner, in order to address the skewed 
distribution of resources between schools and districts. These inputs must be linked to both the 
process norms and output standards.

3. The allocation framework for education infrastructure conditional grants sets out clear expenditure 
targets for quintile 1 to 3 schools and timelines for addressing priority infrastructure backlogs in each 
quintile, and the School Infrastructure Backlogs Grant make, provision for  transitional asset handover 
process to School Governing Boards and PEDS on newly built schools. This would address alignment 
between funding for non-physical inputs and physical inputs, as well as curb decaying of newly con-
structed infrastructure. 

4. School funding norms and standards explicitly indicate the responsibilities of schools and PEDs for 
maintaining and upgrading school infrastructure, so that the division of expenditure responsibilities is 
clear, in order to avoid prolonged neglect of infrastructure upgrades and to ensure consistent budget 
allocation to maintenance and its monitoring thereof. 

5. School expenditure and performance are monitored at national and provincial level and accompa-
nied by inspectorate visits. The Department of Basic Education and National Treasury must monitor 
provincial learner subsidy allocations and intervene where national targets are not met or allocations 
not transferred to schools timeously. This can be done by means of a portal similar to EMIS where 
individual no-fee schools can report payment delays and other problems.

a.PEDs must, with the assistance of the national department, standardise monitoring of school-level 
expenditure and performance and, where necessary, provide shared services for preparing and 
auditing financial services.  

6. The Department of Basic Education integrates existing outcomes improvements programmes, such 
as the integrated national strategy to improve numeracy and literacy, and targets them to poor per-
forming districts, to improve translation of inputs into outcomes. Schools should be placed under the 



programme for a set period during which necessary infrastructure upgrades are carried out, skilled 
teachers are attracted and existing teachers trained, learner-specific interventions are carried out 
and, more importantly, SGBs are trained. This would ensure interventions are holistic and targeted at 
the schools that experience multiple performance constraints and, more importantly, reduce inter-
provincial variation in performance.

With	respect	to	improving	adequacy	and	efficiency	in	primary	health	care	(PHC)	financing,	the	
Commission	recommends	that:

1. Provincial governments increase their allocation levels to PHC funding, to be in line with the minimum 
norms and standards for the PHC package set by the National Department of Health, in particular on 
clinic services such as integrated management of childhood illnesses, reproductive health and HIV/
AIDS.

2. Inefficiencies (wasteful/irregular expenditure) in the health sector are minimised to be in line with 
international experience: Wasteful expenditure needs to be identified, categorised and addressed:

a. clinical waste, through clinical performance measures that promote efficient use of resources (cost 
effectiveness, research and information dissemination).

b. operational waste, through measures such as standardisation of system processes and procedures

c. behavioural waste, through measures such as preventative services advocacy so as to avoid un-
necessary complications or illnesses.

With respect to improving public expenditure impacts on food security, the Commission  
recommends	that:

1. Department of Agriculture, Food and Forestry (DAFF) strengthens its ability to enforce the conditions in 
the grant framework to ensure better oversight of provinces, so that spending and performance of the 
agricultural conditional grants can be improved. The Commission suggests that norms and standards 
be developed to assess the performance of provinces and five-year evaluations of conditional grants 
be institutionalised.

2. Special focus is put on improving the operations of different food security programmes, especially 
Agriculture, EPWP and the School Nutrition Programme, which accelerate reduction in household food 
security without necessarily increasing programme expenditure. Areas that can yield improved results 
include better joint planning (such as creating a value chain between smallholders receiving grant 
support and the NSNP) and streamlining procurement processes with the assistance of the Chief 
Procurement Office. The ability to use available resources optimally for the food security programmes 
have declined overtime.

3. Government clarifies the legislative mandate and responsibility of municipalities in relation to food 
security. In this regard, DAFF should develop a policy on urban food security with concrete proposals 
on how such a mandate will be funded. Currently, food security is not seen as a competence of mu-
nicipalities and therefore cannot be funded.

4. The terms of reference for the committee to review the agricultural conditional grants are finalized 
without unnecessary delays. The review should be comprehensive in scope and should include 
assessing the value chain of conditional grants and unlocking operational constraints, especially in 
relation to planning, procurement, comprehensive smallholder support, cash-flow and monitoring and 
evaluation. Stakeholders such as the Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR) 
should be invited to be part of the committee, and ways to streamline the funding overlap between 
the Illima/Letsema grant and the recapitalisation and development programme should be examined.



	With	respect	to	improving	the	financing	of	municipal	capital	investments,	the	Commission	
recommends	that:

1. The monitoring and evaluation of municipal capital planning and investment spending are improved. 
National and provincial treasuries should improve this assessment during municipal benchmarking 
exercises by:

a. Ensuring the capital budgets are realistic and financed, based on capacity to deliver and revenue 
assumptions.

b. Placing a greater emphasis on refurbishing and renewing existing infrastructure stock, as deter-
mined by the municipality’s asset register

c. Ensuring that tariffs are appropriately designed, so that the depreciations costs of existing infra-
structure and the funding of new infrastructure are recovered from the tariff. The design of such tariffs 
should explicitly consider the customer affordability and protection of the poor.

2. Municipalities use alternative and innovative methods to fund and deliver infrastructure, if capacity to 
plan and spend remains a concern. These municipalities should explore:

a. Increasing interaction and partnerships with other organs of state (such as Eskom and Water Boards). 

b. Greater use of private-public partnerships (PPPs), including fully or partially outsourcing municipal 
services. 

3. The PPP unit within the National Treasury improves its monitoring and evaluation of municipal PPPs. 
This should include:

a. Maintaining a dataset of existing municipal PPPs.

b. Evaluating the success/failures of existing PPPs.

c. Quantifying the uptake of PPP agreements and assessing the current bottlenecks that discourage 
the use of PPPs.

4. Government explores a new funding and infrastructure delivery model for poorly resourced rural 
municipalities. It is clear that the capacity to service the infrastructure needs in these areas does not 
exist. There is potentially a greater role for State-owned companies and other state agents to deliver 
infrastructure on behalf of these municipalities.

With respect to improving public transport for better mobility, the Commission recommends 
that:

1. All municipal integrated transport plans indicate clearly how the municipalities intend to exercise 
control over network, including the required resources. This should be one of the minimum require-
ments for preparing integrated transport plans and should be gazetted accordingly. 

2. The Department of Transport (the custodians of national transport policy) formulates and implements 
a transport subsidy framework, which explicitly incorporates social welfare, service productivity and 
environmental management, which are the three aspects endorsed by national transport policy. 

3. Given the ever increasing complexity of modern transport networks, municipalities are guided on the 
minimum skillset required to be able to manage modern transport systems. This is one of the critical 
interventions to unlock service delivery constraints and should be carried out jointly by the Depart-
ment of Transport and the South African Local Government Association.

4. A comprehensive review of municipal integrated transport plans is carried out, with a view to identify-
ing gaps that need to be addressed. This should be carried out jointly by the Department of Transport 
and the South African Local Government Association. 



With	respect	to	electricity	pricing,	the	Commission	recommends	that:

1. Government puts in place a plan to manage the risks to municipalities associated with increases in the 
price of bulk electricity purchases. Such a plan should:

a. Consider the implications of increases in the price of bulk electricity purchases on municipal ex-
penditure (to the extent that increases may crowd out expenditure on other items) and revenue (to 
the extent that revenue needed to fund maintenance, asset renewal or cross-subsidisation may be 
eroded). 

b. Be explicit in terms of the impact that increased prices of bulk electricity purchases will have on 
different categories of municipalities. The crafting of this plan is particularly important given develop-
ments aimed at prioritising environmental sustainability such as for example the pending implementa-
tion of the carbon tax and the implication for the cost of bulk electricity purchases.

With respect to housing demand and self-build housing initiatives, the Commission  
recommends	that:

1. Municipalities, especially metros, invest in forward-looking processes and systems that will enable 
them to accurately understand and disaggregate housing demand.

2. Metros focus on planning for rental flats and creating new (or transforming existing) neighbourhoods 
in intermediate suburbs, which have lower densities than the inner city. 

3. Government’s housing subsidy prioritises the most vulnerable groups, which include poor female-
headed households with children below the age of 20 years and households containing adults who 
are permanently out of the labour market.

a. Targets and indicators should be put in place and closely monitored annually.

b. The national Department of Human Settlements should report on households benefitting from gov-
ernment housing programmes based on gender and by age group on a yearly basis.

4. Municipalities prioritise land ownership registration processes where informal settlements are located 
in the developable areas.

5. Government prioritises the provision of infrastructure in areas with the potential for self-build housing. 

With	respect	to	impact	of	demarcations	on	the	financial	performance	and	sustainability	of	
municipalities,	the	Commission	recommends	that:

1. The financial and fiscal implications of boundary re-determinations are prioritised and established 
before any demarcation decision is pronounced. A funding stream for the demarcation process should 
be identified before the process takes effect. In order to avoid the negative effects of demarcations on 
municipalities and their populations, economic considerations (i.e. both fiscal and financial) should be 
at the core of any demarcation decision, both in theory and in practice. The current criteria are clear 
that economic considerations should be part of the criteria, but this does not appear to be the case 
in practice. 

2. For every vertically decided demarcation process, government bears the transitional costs of the re-
structuring. A transitional demarcation grant should be awarded to the amalgamated municipality. 
This grant should be temporary and be awarded over at least three years (at least a year before, the  
year of and the year after demarcation takes place). The purpose of the grant will be to facilitate the 
restructuring process. This includes the following:

a. Planning and preparing an amalgamated municipality’s delivery model, e.g. combining the delivery 
models of individual municipalities.

b. Rationalising and harmonising policy regimes, IDPs and bylaws of different municipalities.



c. Rationalising tariffs.

d. Rationalising employment policies and other human resources systems (grading of workers and job 
evaluation processes).

e. Rationalising and harmonising evaluation rolls and assert registers.

f. Building capacity to deal with change management.

g. Facilitating communication about the demarcation.

3.5 Government Response to the Commission’s Recommendations for the 
2015/2016 Division of Revenue

Section 9 of the Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations Act requires the FFC to make recommendations 
regarding:

a. “An equitable division of revenue raised nationally, among the national, provincial and local spheres 
of government;

b. the determination of each province’s equitable share in the provincial share of that revenue; and

c. Any other allocations to provinces, local government or municipalities from the national govern-
ment’s share of that revenue, and any conditions on which those allocations should be made.”

The act requires that the FFC table these recommendations at least 10 months before the start of each 
financial year. The FFC tabled its Submission for the Division of Revenue 2015/16 to Parliament in May 
2014. These recommendations are divided into 11 chapters, which cover four main areas: macroeconomic 
and fiscal frameworks for inclusive growth; improving investments in education and health; investment in 
infrastructure; and the implications of municipal demarcations.

Section 214 of the Constitution requires that the FFC’s recommendations be considered before tabling the 
division of revenue. Section 10 of the Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations Act requires that the Minister of 
Finance table a Division of Revenue Bill with the annual budget in the National Assembly. The bill must be 
accompanied by an explanatory memorandum setting out how government has taken into account the 
FFC’s recommendations when determining the division of revenue. This part of the explanatory memoran-
dum complies with this requirement.

The FFC’s recommendations can be divided into three categories:

• Recommendations that apply directly to the division of revenue

•  Recommendations that indirectly apply to issues related to the division of revenue

•  Recommendations that do not relate to the division of revenue. 

Government responses to the first and second categories are provided below. The relevant national depart-
ments are considering the recommendations that do not relate to the division of revenue, and they will 
respond directly to the FFC. 



Recommendations that apply directly and indirectly to the division of revenue 

Chapter 2: Public debt challenges and the need for fiscal reforms

Use cost-cutting as an opportunity for reform 
The FFC recommends that, “Government does not resort simply to cutting costs to reduce public debt. The 
need to restrain spending should be an opportunity to reform programmes and service delivery. Simple cost 
cutting may be effective in achieving deficit reduction targets but does not encourage longer-run fiscal stability 
or allow for reforms that will generate more value for money spent.”

Government response
Government agrees with the recommendation. The National Treasury has undertaken a careful review of 
current expenditure trends to identify areas where spending on non-essential items can be reduced. Govern-
ment’s major programmes to reduce poverty and create jobs have been protected. This includes expenditure 
on social grants, public employment programmes and economic incentives. Major cuts have focused on non-
essential goods and services, including catering, entertainment and travel budgets.

Avoid expenditure ceilings as a means of debt control
The FFC recommends that, “Government avoids across-the-board cuts or expenditure ceilings as a means 
of debt control. Such blunt tools treat valuable, efficiently run programmes and outdated, poorly managed 
programmes in the same way. Spending should be aligned with government priorities, to ensure adequate 
funding of high-priority initiatives and elimination or substantial reduction of lower-priority programmes.”

Government response
The expenditure ceiling announced in the 2012 Budget is an important policy tool for ensuring that govern-
ment closes its structural budget deficit over the medium term. Government agrees that maintaining this 
ceiling should not be done using across-the-board cuts. Government has carefully analysed current expendi-
ture trends to ensure that spending in priority areas is maintained, including the large poverty-reduction and 
job-creation programmes. In national departmental budgets, major cuts have been limited to non-essential 
goods and services, and provinces and municipalities have been encouraged to follow the same approach in 
their budgets. In the event of a shortfall in revenue in 2015/16, further fiscal consolidation will focus on poorly 
managed programmes.

Chapter 4: Equitable resourcing of schools for better outcomes

Education infrastructure grants
The FFC recommends that, “The allocation framework for education infrastructure conditional grants sets out 
clear expenditure targets for quintile 1 to 3 schools and timelines for addressing priority infrastructure backlogs 
in each quintile. The school infrastructure backlogs grant must also make provision for the transitional asset 
handover process to school governing boards and provincial education departments on newly built schools. 
This would address alignment between funding for non-physical inputs and physical inputs, as well as curb the 
decay of newly constructed infrastructure.”

Government response
The aim of the school infrastructure backlogs grant is to replace unsafe school structures with appropriately 
built ones. While government appreciates the FFC’s research into the appropriate frameworks for such grants, 
a project list has already been established and projects are at various stages of implementation. As a result, it 
is not feasible to shift schools on this project list on the basis of the quintiles in which they fall without delaying 
the overall backlog reduction. 

Government agrees on the importance of timelines for addressing infrastructure backlogs and ensuring that 
schools have access to water, sanitation and electricity, and are built with appropriate and safe materials. In 
2013, government published minimum norms and standards for school infrastructure, and provinces have 
been given until 2016 for all schools to meet these standards.

Government’s focus on replacing, upgrading or rehabilitating existing schools to meet safety or basic service 
standards, rather than building new schools, means the problem of poorly planned handovers is largely avoided. 
However, government does acknowledge the risk, which is why the provincial education department must be 
notified before a school is transferred onto its asset register. This ensures that there is a current budget (for 
employees, learner materials and maintenance) so that the school is functional before the start of the school year.



Chapter 5: Adequacy and efficiency in primary healthcare financing

Increase primary healthcare allocation levels in line with norms and standards
The FFC recommends that, “Provincial governments increase their allocation levels to primary healthcare 
funding, to be in line with the minimum norms and standards for the primary healthcare package set by the 
national Department of Health, in particular on clinic services such as integrated management of childhood 
illnesses, reproductive health and HIV/AIDS.”

Further engagements with the FFC led to the clarification that this recommendation should be read as: “The 
provincial equitable share or health conditional grants may need to increase or be re-allocated to take account 
of provincial primary healthcare requirements set out by the national Department of Health. An absence of 
such increased funding or revising the allocation method of current funding may result in norms and standards, 
set by the national department, not being met adequately by the provincial departments with service delivery 
suffering as a result.” 

Government response
Government welcomes the suggestion that further work is needed to ensure primary healthcare funding is suf-
ficient and equitably allocated. However, the norms and standards referenced in the study were published in 
2000, so updated norms and standards are needed before increased funding or reallocation can be considered. 
Government has recently taken steps to improve the functioning of primary healthcare clinics through the ideal 
clinic initiative. The conditional health grants – together with departmental budgets – are being aligned with 
this initiative. A reengineering of primary healthcare is also envisaged as part of the national health insurance 
reforms, with emphasis shifting from a curative to a preventative approach. Government continues to commit 
funds in this regard. For example, indirect national health grant (national health insurance component) funds 
will be used to test contracting with health professionals in the 10 national health insurance pilot districts.

Chapter 6: Impact of fiscal expenditure on food security

Better enforcement of agricultural grant conditions
The FFC recommends that, “The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries strengthens its ability to 
enforce the conditions in the grant framework to ensure better oversight of provinces, so that spending and 
performance of the agricultural conditional grants can be improved. The Commission suggests that norms 
and standards be developed to assess the performance of provinces and five-year evaluations of conditional 
grants be institutionalised.”

Government response
Government agrees that norms and standards should be developed to assess provincial performance. Regarding 
the institutionalisation of the evaluation of agricultural conditional grants, government (via the Department of 
Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation) is reviewing the comprehensive agricultural support programme grant’s 
performance. The review report will be used as a basis to institutionalise evaluation processes.

Review agricultural grants
The FFC recommends that, “The terms of reference for the committee to review the agricultural conditional 
grants are finalised without unnecessary delays. The review should be comprehensive in scope and should 
include assessing the value chain of conditional grants and unlocking operational constraints, especially in 
relation to planning, procurement, comprehensive smallholder support, cash-flow and monitoring and evalu-
ation. Stakeholders such as the Department of Rural Development and Land Reform should be invited to be 
part of the committee, and ways to streamline the funding overlap between the Ilima/Letsema projects grant 
and the recapitalisation and development programme should be examined.”

Government response

Government agrees with the recommendation that this work is a priority and that overlaps between grants are 
to be avoided. The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, the National Treasury and the Department 
of Rural Development and Land Reform are discussing ways to streamline existing overlaps in provincial grants.



Chapter 8: Improving public transport for better mobility

Develop a transport subsidy framework
The FFC recommends that, “The Department of Transport (the custodian of national transport policy) formu-
lates and implements a transport subsidy framework, which explicitly incorporates social welfare, service pro-
ductivity and environmental management, which are the three aspects endorsed by national transport policy.”

Further discussions with the FFC led to the clarification that this recommendation should be read as: “The 
development of a transport subsidy framework is crucial to effectively guiding the allocation of transport condi-
tional grants. The FFC study found that the existing public transport grants perpetuate the fragmented transport 
planning processes and are not effective in achieving the goal of integrated public transport. Therefore the 
consolidation of transport funding, allocated via the Division of Revenue Act, is required and should be driven 
by a new transport subsidy framework.” 

Government response
Government agrees that a more integrated approach to funding public transport and a transport subsidy 
framework is required. It has begun taking steps in this regard – in the 2015 division of revenue, two of the 
municipal public transport grants have been consolidated into a single grant and the framework for this new 
public transport network grant includes a commitment for the national Department of Transport to develop 
a draft public transport subsidy framework. The City Support Programme in the National Treasury has under-
taken to assist the Department of Transport in this regard.

Chapter 11: The impact of demarcations on municipal finances

Demarcation grant to affected municipalities
The FFC recommends that, “For every vertically decided demarcation process, government bears the tran-
sitional costs of the restructuring. A transitional demarcation grant should be awarded to the amalgamated 
municipality. This grant should be temporary and be awarded over at least three years (at least a year before, 
the year of and the year after demarcation takes place). The purpose of the grant will be to facilitate the 
restructuring process. This includes the following:

• Planning and preparing an amalgamated municipality’s delivery model, e.g. combining the delivery models 
of individual municipalities.

• Rationalising and harmonising policy regimes, integrated development plans and bylaws of different mu-
nicipalities.

• Rationalising tariffs.

• Rationalising employment policies and other human resources systems (grading of workers and job 
evaluation processes).

• Rationalising and harmonising evaluation rolls and asset registers.

• Building capacity to deal with change management.

• Facilitating communication about the demarcation.”

Government response
Government agrees that major boundary changes can be costly for affected municipalities. The Select 
Committee on Appropriations has also recommended in its report on the 2014 Division of Revenue Bill that 
funding be allocated to provide for these costs. As such, government is proposing a municipal demarca-
tion transition grant for the demarcation changes that will come into effect after the 2016 local government 
elections. Rather than unconditionally funding every cost associated with changed demarcations, government 
proposes that the following principles should be applied:

• Only major re-demarcations should be eligible for funding (for example, amalgamations).

• Only administrative costs directly related to the change in demarcations can be funded (for example, 
upgrading service levels should not qualify).



• A differentiated approach should be applied, so that municipalities with larger own-revenue capacity are 
expected to fund more of the re-demarcation costs themselves.

• Benefits and efficiencies that can be gained as a result of the new demarcations should also be taken into 
account in determining allocations for support.

• Funds should be allocated for a maximum of one year before the boundary change (for planning and 
preparation costs only) and for two years following the change.

Government has consulted relevant stakeholders and used research by the FFC and SALGA to assist in the 
costing of such a grant. Based on this research and the above principles, government has introduced a grant 
worth R139 million over the MTEF period, with R39 million transferred in 2015/16 to 21 municipalities for pre-
paratory costs. In 2016/17 and 2017/18, R50 million per year will be transferred to the 10 new municipalities.

 3.6 Strategy to Enhance Performance

3.6.1 Number of Quarter 4 Briefings on Commission Submission on Appropriations Bill

This matter was beyond the control of the Commission. The Commission was not required to brief Parliament 
on the 2014 Appropriations Bill as the national budget process was still incomplete. The Commission received 
an invitation subsequent to the year end and duly briefed Parliament. 

3.6.2 Number of plain language edited Submissions, Reports and Policy Briefs by year end and 3 
Other Official Language grass-roots versions of 2015/16 Submission for the Division of Revenue in Q1

The translation of Commission proffering into 3 other Official Language grass roots versions could not be 
achieved due to budgetary and human capital constraints. The Commission is currently drafting an official 
languages policy which will be implemented in the year 2015/2016 financial year.

3.6.3 File Plan

The aspect of this matter that was not achieved pertains to Infrastructure and digitization. The reason why 
this was not achieved is because of budgetary constraints. This matter will be addressed as soon as financial 
resources become available. 

3.7 In-year Changes to Planned Targets

During the year the following changes were made to the annual targets as approved in the Annual  
Performance Plan.

 Project/
Activities 

(Input)

Output 
(Deliverable)

Key 
Performance 

Measure/
Indicator 

2014/2015 
Annual Target 

(as approved in 
APP)

2014/2015 
Annual Target 

(in year 
change)

2014/2015 
Annual Actual 

Achieved 

Variance/
Explanation

Measurable Strategic Objective 5.3.1: To ensure the creation , institutionalization and transfer of new knowledge to other role players 
within the IGFR system

Information 
Management, 
Enterprise 
Content Man-
agement, and 
Knowledge 
Management

Advance IGFR 
knowledge Number of 

peer-reviewed 
publications 
in accredited 

journals as per 
Research Policy 

by Q4

10.6 5 10.6

Annual projects 
approved in 

Research work 
cycle reduced 
from 16 to 8 
affecting the 
number of 
reviewed 

publications.

Number of 
recognised book 

chapters or 
working papers 
or Technical Re-
ports published 
as per Research 

Policy by Q4

16 8 13.2

Annual projects 
approved in 

Research work 
cycle reduced 

from 16 to 8 af-
fecting the num-
ber of reviewed 

publications
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4.1 Statement of Responsibility of the Commission for the Financial 
Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2015

The Commission is responsible for preparing financial statements that fairly present the financial 
position, performance and cash flows for the period and for the related information contained in the 
annual report.

The Commission maintained adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls 
and risk management and compiled in all material respects with applicable laws and regulations.

The Commission has  prepared the annual financial statements  presented on  pages 51 to 76 using  
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). Appropriate accounting policies 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have been used consistently.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly 
presented. Their report is presented on page 47 to 48. 

The Commission is financially dependent on a transfer payment from National Treasury. On the basis 
that the transfer payment has been listed on the Estimates of National Expenditure, the Commission 
believes that it will continue to be a going concern in the year ahead. For this reason, the Commission 
prepared the annual financial statements on a going concern-basis. 

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 were approved by the Commission 
and are signed on its behalf by the undersigned.

Mr Bongani Khumalo 
Acting Chairperson of Commission
Date: 31 May 2015



4.2 Statement of Responsibility of the Accounting Officer for the Financial 
Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2015

The Accounting Officer is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act No.1 1999), to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Accounting Officer to 
ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Commission as at the end of the 
financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The Auditor General 
has the responsibility of expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and performance 
information of the Commission and was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of GRAP including any inter-
pretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements 
are based on appropriate accounting policies being consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates.

The Accounting Officer is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the Commission and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To 
enable the Commission to meet these responsibilities, the Accounting Officer sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Commission and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the Commission’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Commission is on identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Commission. While operating risk cannot be fully elimi-
nated, the Commission endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Accounting Officer is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management 
that the system of internal controls provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied 
on for the preparation of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The Accounting Officer has reviewed the Commission’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2015 
and, in the light of this review and the current financial position, is satisfied that the Commission has or has 
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Because the 
Commission is wholly dependent on the Government for continued funding of its operations, the financial 
statements are prepared on the basis that the Commission is a going concern and that the Government has 
neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the Commission.

The Accounting Officer is supported by the Auditor General in ensuring the integrity of the financial affairs 
of the Commission. The Auditor General is responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the 
Commission’s financial statements. The financial statements have been examined by the Auditor General 
and the Auditor General’s report is presented on page 47.

The financial statements set out on pages 51 to 76, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
have been approved by the Accounting Officer on 31 May 2015 and duly signed:

Mr Bongani Khumalo 
Accounting Officer
Date: 31 July 2015



REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING OFFICER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

The Accounting Officer submits his report to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic 
of South Africa.

1. Review of Activities

The first concern for the Commission from a governance perspective during the financial year was the 
finalisation of the Financial and Fiscal Amendment Bill. The key change in the Act is the provision for 
the reconfiguration of the roles of the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer. The separation of the 
roles paves the way for the Commission to improve corporate governance as an entity.

Second was to strengthen internal controls particularly regarding the audit findings that had impacted 
the prior year’s Audit Report. The Commission committed during the year to ensure that all procure-
ment of goods and services adhered to National Treasury regulations, and great traction was achieved 
in this regard.

Third was to ensure that all our predetermined objectives are met, the research strategy is imple-
mented and general Commission submissions are improved in quality and impact. These have been 
substantively addressed.

Fourth was the successful organising of the 20th Anniversary Intergovernmental Fiscal Relation (IGFR) 
International Conference.  The aim was to review the IGFR system of South Africa in light of new growth 
and development policy objectives encapsulated in the National Development Plan; and to share 
knowledge on the lessons acquired in the past twenty years. The Commission has since submitted to 
Parliament a substantive report from the Conference and is in the process of compiling the book as 
per the outcomes of the Conference.

Fifth was to ensure that the long standing accumulated deficit of the previous years was eradicated 
within the scope of a limited resource envelope. This was achieved through cost containment efforts 
which were encouraged and instilled throughout the Commission’s activities.

2. Annual Appropriation

On average the MTEF baseline allocation comprised an increase 2%. The total appropriation for the 
year ending 31 March 2015 was R39, 488,000 with an additional adjustment for R5, 800,000 to assist 
with the preparation and hosting of the 20th Anniversary IGFR conference and replacement of obsolete 
IT equipment.

3. Revenue Received

The Commission received a total of R45, 529,040 in revenue for the reporting period which consisted 
of R45, 288,000 of government grant and R241, 040 of other income.

4. Events after the Reporting Date

Subsequent to the financial year end the Financial and Fiscal Act was successfully amended and 
assented to by the President. The Commission is working closely with the Minister of Finance in ad-
dressing implementation of the amended Act.

5. Major Event Expenditure

The Commission received an adjustment amount of R5, 800,000 from the National Treasury as funding 
for the 20th Anniversary IGFR conference which was held in August 2014. The funds were efficiently 
and effectively managed so as to ensure that objectives of the conference were appropriately met.  
The conference was successfully attended by all relevant stakeholders in the IGFR system and a pro-
ceeding report tabled with Parliament.



6. Services Rendered by Commission

The core business of the Commission is fully set out in Chapter 1 of this Report. The Commission does 
not render services in the public domain on a cost recovery basis.

7. Constraints

In a knowledge intensive domain, the Commission remains critically dependent on its key staff. Not 
only is suitable research expertise difficult to retain, but the specialist technical skills required mean 
there is not a large pool from which to recruit talent. The Commission still struggles to develop a critical 
mass of research experience. The attraction of talent, and its management and retention remains a key 
priority of the Commission.

The cost of compliance with the prescripts of among others the Constitution, the Copyright Act, the 
Electronic Communications and Transactions Act, the Promotion of Access to Information Act, the 
PFMA and the requirements and directives of the National Archives and Records Service of South 
Africa remains prohibitive.

The gains made on the elimination of the accumulated deficit may however be eroded by numerous 
rapid responses and submissions made in response to requests by stakeholders in line with the re-
quirements of the FFC Act and other legislative obligations.

8. Corporate Governance Arrangements

8.1 Internal Audit Function (IAF)

The IAF of the Commission is outsourced and the current service provider is Nkonki Inc. The IAF is an 
integral part of the Financial and Fiscal Commission System of Governance.

The IAF provides objective and independent assurance to management and to the Audit Committee 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and governance processes 
within the Commission. In pursuing this activity, the IAF is guided by a fully functional Audit Committee 
which operates in terms of an approved Audit Charter.

The IAF through comprehensive engagement with internal stakeholders formulated a comprehensive 
three-year rolling plan, incorporating an annual plan that was approved by the Audit Committee. The 
annual internal audit plan was fully executed during the year under review. 

The head of the IAF has complete access and a direct reporting line to the Audit Committee and 
reports at each Audit Committee meeting on control weaknesses and other internal audit activities.

8.2 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee continues to operate within the framework of the Public Finance Management 
Act and its written terms of reference, which are reviewed annually. The Audit Committee met four 
times during the year. In these meetings, the accounting officer and executive management were 
always represented. The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) or the staff of the AGSA is always 
invited to attend, thus ensuring that such meetings are as effective as possible.

8.3 Risk Management

Because of its size, the Commission does not have a separate Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Unit 
under the leadership of a Chief Risk Officer (CRO). The discharge of this responsibility devolves on all 
members of Executive Management.

Management has championed good governance practices by creating awareness and instituting 
approved risk management processes and procedures in alignment with regulations and the Public 
Sector Risk Management Framework. The ongoing risk management activities have culminated in an 
updated Risk Profile for the Commission that is monitored on an ongoing basis by internal governance 
structures, including the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. 



During the course of developing its risk profile, the Commission has identified corruption risks that it 
may face. In line with the Commission’s zero tolerance stance on corruption, activities to mitigate cor-
ruption risks have been incorporated into the reviewed Fraud Prevention Plan for implementation by 
the identified risk owners. The implementation of the Plan will be monitored to ensure that corruption 
risks are managed and a strong ethical culture is maintained throughout the Commission.

8.4 Internal Policy Review

During the course of the year under review, the Executive Committee approved among others the 
following governance policies and prescripts for implementation and final approval by the Accounting 
Officer:

• Human Resources Management Policies

• Financial Policies and Procedures

• Information Technology Policies and Procedures

8.5 Other Governance Matters

In addition to the governance arrangements listed above, the following governance issues were also 
given attention:

• Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery

8.5.1 Discontinued Activities

No activities were discontinued during the course of the reporting period.

8.5.2 New Activities

Except for requests received from stakeholders in terms of Section 3 of the Financial and Fiscal Com-
mission Act, there were no other new activities during the course of the reporting period.

8.5.3 Asset Management

In terms of Sub-section 38(1)(b) of the Public Finance Management Act (1 of 1999) as amended, the 
Accounting Officer of the Commission is responsible for the effective, efficient, economical and trans-
parent use of the resources of the Commission.

In addition to the normal day-to-day administration and management of the Commission’s Asset 
Register, the Finance and Corporate Services Divisions of the Commission undertook several key ac-
tivities to improve on the overall asset management environment of the Commission. These activities 
are as follows:

8.5.4 Acquisition of Assets 

Assets are Commission resources that should be disclosed in the Commission’s annual financial state-
ments. As such the Commission ensured that all its assets are properly tagged, verified and accounted 
for and that any lost or redundant assets are identified and removed from the asset register on a timely 
basis. 

An asset verification process was conducted during the current financial year in order to ensure that 
Commission assets are accounted for and reported accurately in the annual financial statement.



9. Performance Information

Divisional heads have reported to the Accounting Officer on a regular basis on the progress made with 
regard to functional delivery and measurable objectives, as contained in the Commission’s Strategic 
Plan. Quarterly and Annual reporting was made to the National Treasury during the financial year, 
relating to performance information of the Commission.

10. Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA)

There were no SCOPA resolutions in the 2014/2015 financial year relating to the Financial and Fiscal 
Commission

11. Prior Modifications to Audit Reports

None

12. Audit Outcomes

I am satisfied that the Annual Financial Statements and the Report on Performance Against Prede-
termined Objectives of the Commission for the year ending 31 March 2015 are compliant with all 
applicable legislation and fairly present in all material aspects the financial status and performance of 
the Commission. This view is supported by the Commission and the Auditor General. 

All technical misstatements that were observed during the course of the audit were corrected. This was done 
with the assistance and support of the Auditor General. I am indebted to the Auditor-General in this respect.

Management is committed to ensuring that future audit engagements with the Auditor General are 
more efficient and value-adding, time spent on audits is minimised, and audit fees are reduced.

13. Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 51 to 76 have been approved by the Accounting Officer.

Mr Bongani Khumalo
Acting Accounting Officer /Chief Executive
31 July 2015



4.3 Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Financial and Fiscal 
Commission 

Report on the financial statements

Introduction
1. I have audited the financial statements of the Financial and Fiscal Commission set out on pages 51 to 

76, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and statement of comparison 
of budget information with actual information for the year then ended, as well as the notes, compris-
ing a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting	officer’s	responsibility	for	the	financial	statements
2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial state-

ments in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and the 
requirements of Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and 
for such internal control as the accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s	responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 

my audit in accordance with Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the 
general notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion.

Opinion 
6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Financial and Fiscal Commission as at 31 March 2015 and their financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended, in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
7. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice 

issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report, non-
compliance with legislation as well as internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify report-
able findings as described under each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on 
these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives
8. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported per-

formance information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance 
report of the Financial and Fiscal Commission for the year ended 31 March 2015.

• Strategic objective 5.1.1: To profile the Commission with a special focus on the Commission’s 
Mandate, role, approach, achievements, challenges and recommendations on pages 23.



• Strategic objective 5.1.2: To ensure the generation of quality, innovative, pioneering evidence-based 
research that informs key IGFR strategic debates and choices on pages 24.

• Strategic objective 5.1.3: To ensure that Commission research is converted to policy advice and rec-
ommendations written in language that policy makers can understand on pages 24.

• Strategic objective 5.1.4: To ensure that policy advice and recommendations respond timeously and 
proactively to the dynamic needs of stakeholders on pages 25.

• Strategic Objective 5.3.1: To ensure the creation, institutionalization and transfer of new knowledge 
to other role players within the IGFR system on pages 27.

• Strategic objective 5.4.2: To ensure access to alternative sources of funding on pages 28.

9. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

10. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was 
presented in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the 
reported performance was consistent with the planned objectives. I further performed tests to 
determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time 
bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s Framework for managing programme 
performance information (FMPPI).

11. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, 
accurate and complete.

12. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the selected objectives.

Compliance with legislation
13. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the Constitutional Institution had complied with ap-

plicable legislation regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. My 
findings on material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general 
notice issued in terms of the PAA, are as follows: 

Procurement and contract management
14. Sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that the preferential point scoring system 

was stipulated in the original invitation for quotations, as required by Treasury Regulations 16A6.3 (a) 
and Preferential Procurement Regulations.

Internal control
15. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, performance report and 

compliance with legislation. I did not identify any significant internal control deficiencies.

Pretoria
31 July 2015



4.4 Report of the Audit Committee for the Year Ended 31 March 2015

4.4.1 Introduction

We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2015 in 
terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) (No. 1 of 1999), Sections 38(1)a, (4)d and 77, and 
Treasury Regulations 3.1.11.

4.4.2 Membership and Attendance

The Audit Committee consists of members listed below. Four (4) out of the seven (7) Audit Committee 
members are independent, which is in line with good corporate governance practice. During the year 
under review, the Audit Committee held four (4) meetings as per the approved terms of reference.

Name of Member Position Meetings Attendance and Dates

22 May 
2014

23 July 
2014

18 November 
2014

24 March 
2015

Mr Jerry Sithole Independent, Chairperson    

Mr Duncan Ntuli Independent Member    

Mr Mkuseli Bashe Independent Member   

Ms Mmathabo Sukati Independent Member 

Mr Krish Kumar Commissioner, Member  

Mr Sipho Lubisi (appointed to 
Committee on 7 August 2014)

Commissioner, Member  

Mr Kenny Fihla (appointed to 
the Committee on 7 August 
2014)

Commissioner, Member 

4.4.3 Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee confirms that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(1) 
(a) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and Treasury Regulations 3.1.13.

The Audit Committee has regulated its affairs in compliance with its approved charter and has dis-
charged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

4.4.4 Effectiveness of Internal Control

The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Audit Committee is informed 
by the reports submitted by Internal Audit and management, who are responsible for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control system.

The system of control is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
that liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. In line with the PFMA and the King III report 
on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and manage-
ment with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means 
of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested 
enhancements to the controls and processes.



From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements 
together with the management report of the Auditor-General, it was noted that, except for the issues 
reported on by the Auditor-General, no other significant or material non-compliance with prescribed 
policies and procedures have been revealed. Accordingly we can report that the system of internal 
control for the period under review was efficient and effective.

The internal control environment has been continuously improving, as evidenced by the willingness to 
address the control weaknesses identified by the auditors.

4.4.5 Risk Management

The Audit Committee has an oversight responsibility over Commission internal risk management 
processes. In the year under review the Committee monitored the implementation of Risk Manage-
ment and reviewed progress quarterly.

Review and assessments of Commission strategic risk will continue to be done on a quarterly basis by 
the Audit Committee.

4.4.6 Risk Management Monthly and Quarterly Reports Submitted in terms of the PFMA

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared 
and issued by the management of the Commission during the year under review.

4.4.7 Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual 
report, with the Auditor-General and the management;

• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management report and management’s response thereto; and

• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial 
statements, and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read 
together with the report of the Auditor-General.

 

Mr Jerry Sithole 
Chairperson of Audit Committee
Date: 31 July 2015 



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

4.5 Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2015

4.5.1 Statement of Financial Position

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

Assets

Current Assets

Receivables from exchange transac-
tions

3 - 306 544

Cash and cash equivalents 4 3 305 395 2 047 675

3 305 395 2 354 219

Non-Current Assets

Deposits 5 143 862 143 862

Property, plant and equipment 6 689 082 711 101

Intangible assets 7 19 784 24 640

852 728 879 603

4 158 123 3 233 822

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Payables from exchange transactions 8 1 748 646 1 440 146

Provisions 9 1 293 710 961 750

3 042 356 2 401 896

Non-Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability 10 133 642 94 257

Total Liabilities 3 175 998 2 496 153

Net Assets 982 125 737 669

Net Assets

Capital Contribution 11 918 752 918 752

Accumulated surplus/deficit 63 373 (181 083)

Total Net Assets 982 125 737 669



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

4.5.2 Statement of Financial Performance

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

Government grants 12 45 288 000 39 567 000

Other Income

Donor funds 14 28 180 627 472

Sundry income 16 900 12 445

Interest received 192 818 117 920

Gains on disposal of assets 3 142 -

Total Other Income 241 040 757 837

Total Revenue 45 529 040 40 324 837

Operating expenses

Employee costs 15 21 946 754 20 808 995

Depreciation and amortisation 13 83 740 571 495

Loss on sale of plant and equip-
ment

- 5 725

Professional Services 17 6 992 573 5 355 611

Other operating expenditure 18 16 261 516 12 171 089

Total Operating Expenses 45 284 583 38 912 915

Surplus for the year 244 457 1 411 922



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

4.5.3 Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Figures in Rand Capital Con-
tribution

Accumulated Surplus/
(Deficit)

Total net Asset/(liabili-
ties)

Balance at 1 April 2013 918 752 (1 593 004) (674 252)

Changes in net assets

Surplus for year - 1 411 921 1 411 921

Total changes - 1 411 921 1 411 921

Balance at 01 April 2014 918 752 (181 083) 737 669

Changes in net assets

Surplus for year - 244 456 244 456

Total changes - 244 456 244 456

Balance at 31 March 2015 918 752 63 373 982 125



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

4.5.4 Cash Flow Statement

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating 
activities

Receipts

Government Grants 45 288 000 39 567 000

Interest received 192 818 98 106

Donor Funds 28 180                     627 472

Sundry Income 16 900 128 050

45 525 898 40 324 837

Payments

Employee costs (21 614 794) (20 444 637)

Suppliers (22 599 661) (18 847 471)

(44 214 455) (39 292 108)

Net cash flows from operating 
activities 19 1 311 443 1 032 729

Cash flows in investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, equip-
ment and intangible assets

6 (68 344) (243 242)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment

6 14 620 2 101

Purchase of intangible assets 7 - (7 068)

Net cash flows in investing 
activities (53 724) 248 209

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 1 257 719 784 520

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year

4 2 047 675 1 263 155

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 3 305 394 2 047 675



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

4.5.5 Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

Approved 
Budget

Adjustment Final Budget Actual 
Amounts on 
comparable

basis

Difference 
between 

final budget 
and actual

Reference

Receipts

Donor Funds - - - 28 180 28 180

Sundry Income - - - 16 900 16 900

Interest received - - - 192 818 192 818

Government Grants 39 488 000 5 800 000 45 288 000 45 288 000 note 12

Total receipts 39 488 000 5 800 000 45 288 000 45 525 898 237 898

Payments

Employee costs   (21 646 836) - (21 646 836) (21 614 794) 32 042 note 15

Professional Services (7 894 450) - (7 894 450) (6 992 573) 901 877 note 16

Capital Expenditure (423 747) - (423 747) - 423 747

 Other Operating expendi-
ture

(9 522 967) (5 800 000) (15 322 967) (15 610 230) (287 263) note 28

Total expenditure (39 488 000) (5 800 000) (45 288 000) (44 217 597) (1 070 403) 

Gain on disposal of assets - - - 3 142 3 142

Surplus for the year - - - 1 311 443 1 311 443



FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

1. Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recog-
nised Accounting

Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations of such statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This is due to the Com-
mission being entirely dependent on funding from Government, with no indication having been received 
that such funding will cease in the foreseeable future.

1.1 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the 
Commission and these benefits can be measured reliably. Revenue comprises of government grants, other 
income, gains on disposals and interest received.

Government grants are the Commission’s main source of revenue and are treated with reference to the 
guidance provided by GRAP 23: Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions. The Commission has developed 
an appropriate accounting policy on this basis, namely that revenue from non-exchange sources is only 
recognised to the extent that a corresponding asset satisfies the recognition criteria, but limited to the 
amount of any outstanding obligation in the form of conditions attached to the grant.

Donor funds represent funds received from IDRC and are managed by the Commission in order to facilitate 
the relevant requirements of research projects. The funds are recognised as revenue.

Rendering of services

Other income is recognised in the reporting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to the 
stage of completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a 
proportion of the total services to be provided.

The gain arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in revenue 
when the item is derecognised. The gain arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the item.

Interest is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding or invested 
and the effective rate over the period to maturity when it is determined that such income will accrue to the 
Commission.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or 
supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable 
to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 



intended by management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and 
costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of an item of property shall be derecognised:

a) on disposal (including disposal through a transaction) and;

b) When no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use of disposal

Item Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures 25 years

Motor vehicles 10 years

Computer equipment 10 years

Leasehold improvements Amortised over the period of the lease

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a 
change in accounting estimate.

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual basis does not require the entity to amend the previous 
estimate unless expectations differ from the previous estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total 
cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

No depreciation is provided on paintings, which are considered investment assets. Artwork is valued at cost.
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1.3 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the 
asset will flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The Commission assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using 
reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic 
conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there 
is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or 
service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets 
amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is 
an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining 
carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values 
as follows: 

Computer software    10 years

Intangible assets are derecognised:

• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is 
recognised in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.

 1.4 Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements require management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
financial statement. Estimates are based on current conditions and on other assumptions that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Significant items subject to judgment and such estimates 
include estimated useful lives and the recoverability of the carrying value of assets. Change in Estimates are 
disclosed as a noted in Note 27

Contingent Assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Annual financial statements. Contin-
gencies are disclosed as a note in Note 26.

1.5 Leases

Leases under which the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor, are classified 
as operating leases. Obligations incurred under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial 
performance on a straight line basis over the period of the lease, except when an alternative method is more 
representative of the time pattern from which benefits are derived.
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When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made 
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

1.6 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Commission has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are 
recognised at the present value of the future amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date.

1.7 Employee benefits

The  Commission  operates  a  defined  a  contribution  plan,  the  assets  of  which  are  generally  held  in  
separate  trustee- administered funds. This plan is funded by payments from employees and the Commis-
sion.

Defined	contribution	plans

Defined Contribution plans are plans to which the Commission makes contributions on behalf of employees, 
but without any further obligation to fund the plan in the event of a shortfall in benefits. Contributions to a 
defined contribution plan in respect of services in a particular period are recognised as an expense in that 
period.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and bank 
overdrafts.

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets such as property, plant and equipment and intangibles (except for indefinite life intangi-
bles) are tested for impairment when indicators of possible impairment exist. The impairment is determined 
as being the difference between the recoverable amount (or recoverable service amount) and the assets 
current carrying value, and is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit for the period.

1.10 Budget information

The Commission is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authoriza-
tions (or equivalent), which is given effect through authorizing legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the Commission shall provide information on whether resources 
were obtained and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are not on the same basis of accounting therefore a recon-
ciliation between the statement of financial performance and the budget have been included in the annual 
financial statements.

1.11 Related parties

The Commission operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly 
owned by the South African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the 
three spheres of government in South Africa, only entities within the national sphere of government are 
considered to be related parties.

Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length or not in the ordinary course of business are 
disclosed.
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1.12 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and bank balances, re-
ceivables and trade creditors. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual 
policy statements associated with each item.

Recognition

Financial  instruments  are  initially  recognised  at  fair  value  when  the  Commission  becomes  party  to  
the  contractual arrangements of the instrument.

Measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below:

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables

Receivables from exchange transactions are categorised as loans and receivables and consist of prepaid 
expenses and rental deposits.  These  are  initially  measured  at  fair  value,  and  subsequently  measured  
at  amortised  cost,  being  the  initially recognised amount, plus any interest accrued, less any repayments, 
less any impairments.

Impairment	of	financial	assets

At each reporting date the Commission assesses all financial assets to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired. For amounts due to the Com-
mission, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment deficits are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, Impairment losses are 
reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of 
the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the deficit is 
recognised in the statement of financial performance within operating expenses. When such assets are 
written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Financial liabilities

The Commission’s principal financial liabilities are accounts payables, categorised as other financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost. Initial measurement is at fair value, with subsequent measurement being at 
amortised cost, being the amount initially recorded plus any accrued finance charges, less repayments made.

1.13 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including :

a) this Act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.
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National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the 
PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately 
in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception 
of updating the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which con-
donement is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further 
action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the 
amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account 
must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover 
the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting 
authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial 
statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure 
has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against 
the relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and 
updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

Irregular expenditure is recorded in the notes to the financial statements when confirmed. The amount is 
recorded is equal to the total value of the irregularity unless it is impracticable to determine in which case 
reasons therefore is provided in the note. Irregular expenditure is removed from the note when it is either (a) 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority; (b) it is transferred to receivables for recovery. 
or (c) it is not condoned and is irrecoverable. A receivable related to irregular expenditure is measured at 
the amount that is expected to be recovered and must be de-recognised when the receivable is settled or 
subsequently written off as irrecoverable.

1.13 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure (continued)

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been 
avoided had reasonable care been exercised. Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure is accounted for as an 
expense in the Statement of Financial Performance and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for 
as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.14 Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into South African Rand (i.e. functional 
currency) at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and li-
abilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary transactions are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the 
close of the reporting period.

Forex	profit	and	loss
Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and are recognised in 
statement of

FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015



Financial Performance.
At each statement of financial position date:

(a) foreign currency monetary items are reported using the closing rate,
(b) non-monetary items, which are carried in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, 

are reported using the exchange rate at the date of transaction, and
(c) non-monetary items which are carried at fair value denominated in a foreign currency, are reported 

using the exchange rates that existed when the values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting an enterprise ‘s monetary 
items at the rates different from those at which they initially recorded during the period, or reported in 
previous financial statements, are recognized as income or expenses in the period in which they arise.

 4.5.6 Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

2.2 Standards and Interpretations early adopted

The entity has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

2.3 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The following approved Standards of GRAP have been approved and issued by the Accounting Standards 
Board, but only become effective in the future or have not been given an effective date by the Minister of 
Finance. The Commission has not early-adopted  any  new  standards, but  has  in  some  cases  referred  to  
them  for  guidance  in  developing  appropriate accounting policies in accordance with the requirements of 
Directive 5: Determining the GRAP Reporting Framework:

GRAP 18 - Segment Reporting:
Requires additional disclosures on the various segments of the business in a manner that is consistent with 
the information reported internally to management of the entity. The precise impact of this on the financial 
statements of the Commission is still being assessed, but it is expected that this will only result on additional 
disclosures without affecting the underlying accounting. This standard become effective on 01 April 2015

GRAP 20 - Related Parties
This standard is drawn primarily from IPSAS 20:  Related Party Disclosures.  Since IPSAS 20 has been applied 
in developing the current accounting policy and levels of disclosure no significant impact on the financial 
statement of the Commission is expected. This standard does not yet have an effective date.

GRAP 32 - Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
This standard prescribes the accounting for service concession arrangements by the grantor, a public sector 
entity. The arrangement involves the operator providing a mandated function related to the service conces-
sion asset on behalf of the grantor. The operator providing the mandated function can either be a private 
party or another public sector entity. The standard is unlikely to have an impact on the financial statements 
of the Commission in the foreseeable future. This standard does not yet have an effective date.

GRAP 105 - Transfer of Function Between Entities Under common Control
This standard provides the accounting treatment for transfers of functions between entities under common 
control and has already been referred to for guidance where necessary in developing appropriate accounting 
policies for the treatment of the assets transferred to the Commission from the Department. The standard 
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is only expected to have an impact on the Commission in respect of any future transfers of functions. This 
standard become effective on 01 April 2015.

GRAP 106 - Transfer of Function Between Entities Not Under common Control
This standard deals with other transfers of functions (i.e. between entities not under common control) and 
requires the entity to measure transferred assets and liabilities at fair value. It is unlikely that the Commission 
will enter into any such transactions in the foreseeable future. This standard become effective on 01 April 2015.

GRAP 107 - Mergers
This standard deals with requirements for accounting for a merger between two or more entities, and is 
unlikely to have an impact on the financial statements of the Commission in the foreseeable future. This 
standard become effective on 01 April 2015.

GRAP 108 - Statutory Receivables
This standard provides for the treatment of receivables that arise from legislation or from equivalent means. 
The impact of the standard on the financial statements of the Commission is still being assessed, but it is 
unlikely that the Commission will undertake specific legislative transactions in the foreseeable future. This 
standard does not yet have an effective date.

The following interpretations have also been issued and are expected to have an insignificant impact on 
the financial statements, since they generally reflect the interpretations and principles already established 
under SA GRAP. It is unlikely that the Commission will encounter any of these issues in the normal course of 
its business.    IGRAP1 - Applying the Probability Test on Initial Recognition of Exchange Revenue.

Preface to Interpretations of the Standards of GRAP

IGRAP1 - Applying the Probability Test on Initial Recognition of Exchange Revenue. IGRAP2 - Changes in 
Existing Decommissioning Restoration and Similar Liabilities. IGRAP3 - Determining Whether an Arrange-
ment Contains a Lease.

IGRAP4 - Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds.

IGRAP5 - Applying the Restatement Approach under the Standard of GRAP on Financial Reporting in Hyper-
inflationary Economies.

IGRAP6 - Loyalty Programmes.

IGRAP7 -The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.

IGRAP8 - Agreements for the Construction of Assets from Exchange Transactions.

IGRAP9 - Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners. 

IGRAP10 - Assets Received from Customers.

IGRAP11 - Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.

IGRAP12 - Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures.

IGRAP13 - Operating Leases – Incentives.

IGRAP14 - Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease 

IGRAP15 - Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

IGRAP16 -Intangible Assets - Website Costs 
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

3. Receivables from exchange transactions

Prepayments - 306 544

The prepayment relates to venue hire at the Cape Town International Convention Centre for the IGFR 20th Anniversary Con-
ference.

4. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 1 416 3 250

Bank balances 3 303 979 2 044 425

3 305 395 2 047 675

5. Deposits

Rental Deposits 143 862 143 862

Deposits relate to rental deposits on the premises occupied by the Commission.

FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

2015 2014

Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 
and impair-

ment

Carrying Value Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 
and impair-

ment

Carrying 
Value

Furniture and fixtures 2 408 593 (2 127 088) 281 505 2 416 997 (2 120 692) 296 305

Motor vehicles 236 829 (190 466) 46 363 236 829 (181 569) 55 260

Computer equipment 1 020 106 (729 734) 290 372 986 557 (707 240) 279 317

Leasehold improvements 413 211 (381 175) 32 036 413 211 (371 799) 41 412

Artwork 38 806 - 38 806 38 806 - 38 806

Total 4 117 545 (3 428 463) 689 082 4 092 400 (3 381 300) 711 100



Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2015

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 296 305 7 410 (3 855) (18 355) 281 505

Motor vehicles 55 260 - - (8 897) 46 363

Computer equipment 279 317 60 934 (7 623) (42 256) 290 372

Leasehold improvements 41 412 - - (9 376) 32 036

Artwork 38 806 - - - 38 806

711 100 68 344 (11 478) (78 884) 689 082

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2014

Opening 
Balance Additions Disposals Other changes/

movements
Accumulated 
depreciation Total

Furniture and fixtures 487 828 68 946 (1 224) (706) (258 539) 296 305

Motor vehicles 102 626 - - - (47 366) 55 260

Computer equipment 340 297 127 416 (6 814) 42 718 (224 300) 279 317

Leasehold improvements - 46 880 - - (5 468) 41 412

Artwork 38 806 - - - - 38 806

969 557 243 242 (8 038) 42 012 (535 673) 711 100

7. Intangible assets

2015 2014

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 
and accumu-
lated impair-

ment

Carrying Value Cost/Evalua-
tion

Accumulated 
depreciation 
and impair-

ment

Carrying 
Value

Computer 
software

225 422 (205 638) 19 784 225 422 (200 782) 24 640

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015

Opening balance Amortisation Total

Computer 
Software

24 640 (4 856) 19 784

Figures in Rand



In terms of the Financial and Fiscal Commission’s leave policy, employees are entitled to accumulated vested leave pay 
benefits not taken within a leave cycle, provided that any leave pay benefits not taken within a period of one year after the 
end of a leave cycle are forfeited. A provision for R541 172 (2014:R315 967) was recognised for performance bonuses and 
will be paid in the following financial year, in accordance with the Commission’s performance management policy.
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8. Payables from Exchange Transactions

Trade payables 244 354 300 915

Accrued expenses 1 504 292 1 139 233

1 748 646 1 440 148

9. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2015

Opening 
Balance

Additions 
before amorti-

sation

Utilised during 
the year Total

Bonus 315 967 539 306 (315 967) 539 306

Leave benefits 645 783 175 952 (67 331) 754 404

961 750 715 258 (383 298) 1 293 710

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Opening 
Balance Additions Utilised during 

the year Total

Bonus 305 885 315 967 (305 885) 315 967

Leave benefits 597 369 48 414 - 645 783

903 254 364 381 (305 885) 961 750

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Opening balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer 
Software

53 396 7 068 (35 824) 24 640
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

10. Operating lease liability

Accrual in respect of straight line operating lease 133 642 94 257

11. Capital contribution

Value of Assets received from National Treasury 918 752 918 752

12. Government grants

Revenue comprises amounts received from National Treasury 45 288 000 39 567 000

13. Depreciation and Amortisation

Property, plant and equipment 78 884 535 673

Intangible Assets 4 856 35 824

83 740 571 497

14. Donor Funds

International Development Research Centre (IDRC) 28 180 627 472

The Commission received a grant from International Development Research Centre (IDRC) to enable the Commission to 
undertake the research project entitled: Climate Change Household Vulnerability Index.

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Opening balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer 
Software

53 396 7 068 (35 824) 24 640
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15. Employee Costs

Basic 19 764 191 19 307 502

Bonus 702 073 315 944

13th Cheques 74 613 314 143

Leave pay provision charge 108 621 48 414

UIF 50 799 51 195

Long-service awards 249 026 37 402

Other personnel costs 997 431 734 395

Total 21 946 754 20 808 995

16. Related Parties

All National Departments of Government and National State-controlled entities are regarded as related parties in ac-
cordance with IPSAS 20.   The Financial and Fiscal Commission is a constitutional institution reporting to Parliament from 
which it received grants in the current and prior years.  Transactions with related parties that are on the same terms as 
those generally available in the sector and related to transactions in the ordinary course of business are not disclose able 
in terms of IPSAS 20. Payments to Commissioners and Management are reflected below.

Executive Commissioners - B. Khumalo

Annual Salary 1 506 569 1 466 205

Other Contributions 91 467 86 067

Total 1 598 036 1 552 272

Non-Executive Commissioner – T. Ajam

Annual Salary 195 732 297 058

Total 195 732 297 058

Executive Commissioner – N. Shezi

Annual Salary 3 559 23 974

Total 3 559 23 974

Non-Executive Commissioner – S Muthwa

Annual Salary 16 190 -

Total 16 190 -
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Non-Executive Commissioner – L. Abrahams

Annual Salary - 24 848

Total - 24 848

Non-Executive Commissioner – N Steytler

Annual Salary 61 694 41  422

Travel expenses 1 200 -

Total 62 894 41 422

Non-Executive Commissioner – D Plaatjie

Annual Salary 125 657 64 614

Total 125 657 64 614

Non-Executive Commissioner – K Kumar

Annual Salary 24 990 3 758

Total 24 990 3 758

Non-Executive Commissioner – S Lubisi

Annual Salary 57 220 -

Travel expenses 14 030 --

Total 71 250 --

Non-Executive Commissioner – G Mayende

Annual Salary 33 436 -

Travel expenses 4 172 --

Total 37 608 --



31 March 2015 Salary Performance
Bonus Other Total

Ramos Mabugu, Research Director 1 208 995 48 020 7 027 1 264 042

Mavuso Vokwana, CFO 1 031 374 - 3 099 1 034 473

Anton van Niekerk, Corporate Services Manager 842 322 - 36 381 878 703

Ansuyah Maharaj, Commission Secretary 711 976 - 3 524 715 500

Mashumi Mzaidume, Commission Secretary (Resigned) 101 088 32 013 13 084 146 185

3 895 755 80 033 63 115 4 038 903

31 March 2014 Salary Performance
Bonus Other Total

Ramos Mabugu, Research Director 1 065 788 44 464 2 745 1 112 997

Mavuso Vokwana, CFO 962 100 26 759 6 105 994 964

Anton van Niekerk, Corporate Services Manager 782 100 - 1 687 783 787

Mashumi Mzaidume, Commission Secretary (Resigned) 1 065 788 44 464 2 086 1 112 338

3 875 776 115 687 12 623 4 004 086

17. Professional Services

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

External Audit Fees 1 120 436 1 077 341

Risk Management Fees 224 003 52 857

Internal Audit Fees 1 417 966 840 958

Commissioned Research 4 230 168 3 384 454

Total 6 992 573 5 355 610

Figures in Rand



Figures in Rand 2015 2014

18. Other operating expenditure – Material classes of transactions

Software licenses 421 740 577 403

Internet connection 653 088 349 121

IT support 409 160 584 077

Workshops & meetings 5 815 904 734 632

Printing & publications 1 185 244 1 596 887

Communication & cell phones 848 562 764 279

Office rent 513 679 429 189

Travel expenses 3 307 057 2 123 216

13 154 434 7 158 804

19. Cash generated from operations

Surplus 244 456 1 411 920

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 83 740 571 496

Loss (gain) on sale of assets and liabilities (3 142) 5 725

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals 39 385 36 174

Movements in provisions 331 960 58 495

Other non-cash items - (41 801)

Changes in working capital:

Receivables 306 544 (230 811)

Movement in rental deposits - (63 920)

Payables from exchange transactions 308 500 (714 549)

1 311 443 1 032 729



Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of five years and have an 8% escalation clause. No contingent rent is payable.

21. Going concern

Attention is drawn to the Statement of Financial Performance which indicates that the Commission realised a net surplus of 
R244 456 (2014: R1 411 921) in the year ended 31 March 2015, and thus decreasing the Commission’s accumulated deficit 
from R181 083 to a surplus of  R63 373. Furthermore the Commission’s assets exceed its liabilities at the reporting date by 
R982 125 (2014:R737 669). The Commission’s ability to continue as going concern depends largely on the continued support 
of government means of annual appropriation..

22. Reconciliation between Actual amounts and Cash Flow Statement - current year

Reconciliation of budget surplus/deficit with the net cash generated from operating, investing and financing activities:

Operating activities

Actual amount as presented in the budget statement  1 311 443 1 032 729

Investing activities

Actual amount as presented in the budget statement (53 724) (248 209)

Net cash generated from operating, investing and financing activities 1 257 719 784 520

The Commission prepares its budget on a cash basis whilst the Annual Financial Statements are prepared on an accrual 
basis.
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20. Commitments

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

- within one year 589 849 546 156

- in second to fifth year inclusive 1 202 826 1 792 675

1 792 675 2 338 831
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23. Irregular expenditure

Opening balance 1 290 200 490 200

Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year - 800 000

- -

Less: Amounts condoned - -

Less: Amounts not recoverable (not condoned) (1 290 200) -

- 1 290 200

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year - 800 000

Prior years - 490 200

- 1 290 200

Details of irregular expenditure
Goods and services of a transaction value of R1 290 200 were procured without inviting competitive bids. The irregular 
expenditure was reported to the National Treasury in terms of the PFMA section 38(1) (g); and request for condonation of non- 
compliance was sought. Subsequent to year end for March 2014, the Commission received confirmation that the irregular 
expense was not condoned.  Due  processes  to  determine  whether  any  persons  were  liable,  were  undertaken  by  the 
Commission and no employee was found to be liable in law, the Commission did not suffer a loss and value for money was 
derived from the use of services rendered. The expenditure has remained as a debit against the relevant expenditure item 
and disclosed as note 23 in the annual financial statement.

24. Financial Risk Management

Liquidity Risk

Financial liabilities which potentially subject the Commission to concentrations of liquidity risk are trade and other payables. 
Loans and The Commission’s risk to liquidity is a short fall in funds available to pay its payables. The payables are all due 
within the short term The Commission manages its liquidity risk by holding sufficient cash in the bank account.

As at 31 March 2015 Less than 1 year 1-2 years Between 2 and 5 years Over 5 years

Trade and other payables 1 748 649 - - -



Credit risk

Financial assets which potentially subject the Commission to concentrations of credit risk is principally of receivables.  Loans 
and Receivables are of a sundry nature and the credit risk is therefore limited, the credit risk is managed through periodic 
reviews of the level of bad debts. Accordingly the Commission has no significant concentration of credit risk.

Trade Receivables (Financial Asset) 2015 2014

Gross Carrying Amount - 306 544

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Commission has cash and cash equivalents placed with financial institutions and is therefore exposed to interest rate 
fluctuations and such changes in market interest rates affect the fair value of cash. The interest rate risk embodies not only 
the potential for loss but also the potential for gain and is managed through the cash management policy.

Fair values

At 31 March 2015 the carrying amounts of accounts payable and accounts receivable approximated their fair value due to 
the short term maturities of these assets and liabilities. Since the Commission does not undertake any significant investment 
strategy there is no significant sensitivity to fair value fluctuations of financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Commission transacts with foreign persons from time-to-time. The Commission is relatively insensitive to subsequent 
fluctuations in currency since most transactions are settled in advance, resulting in there being few monetary items that 
would again require translation at reporting date. The Commission’s management will continue to assess the frequency and 
nature of these transactions to determine whether further foreign currency risk management strategies are required but at 
this stage the risk is limited.
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25. Retirement Benefit Information

Defined contribution plan

During the year, the Financial and Fiscal Commission contributed to Momentum Provident Fund for all its employees. This 
constituted a defined contribution fund governed by the Pension Fund Act (Act 24 1956, as amended). In terms of the rules 
of the fund, the Commission is committed to contribute 12.5% of pensionable emoluments towards the retirement fund and 
3.5% of pensionable emoluments towards an accident compensation fund. An amount of R2 587 819 (2014: R2 422 431) was 
recognised as an expense during the year for contributions to the retirement fund. FFC has no liability to members beyond 
what is contributed to the fund.

26. Contingent Asset

These are amounts are not recognised in the Annual Financial Statements and are disclosed to enhance the fair presenta-
tion of the Annual Financial Statements.

The Commission has since 2010 incurred rental expenses relating to the Midrand office and has paid rental costs to the 
landlord JHI. Simultaneously the Department of Public Works has made payment relating to the same office space on behalf 
of the Commission to JHI. The Commission has subsequently requested that the landlord return the payments to the Com-
mission.

This matter is currently being investigated by National Treasury and contingent asset has been disclosed as it is possible 
that economic benefits might flow to the entity that arises from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity.

The amount disclosed as a contingent asset was based on historical payments made by the Commission into the landlord’s 
banking account.

Nature of contingent asset

Midrand lease rental 3 054 127 3 054 127

27.   Change in estimate

Property, plant and equipment

At the previous reporting date the Commission assessed the useful life of property, plant and equipment in accordance with 
accounting policy. A prior period adjustment was made in the previous year to correct the balance of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. The restatement accounted for several assets that were already in use by the Commission 
for 20 years for Furniture and fittings, and 8 years for Computer equipment. The original remaining useful life have been 
changed in the beginning of the current year to reflect the actual pattern of service potential derived from the assets. The 
estimates arrived at by management were based on prior experience of the existence of the assets. The useful life of the 
following categories of Property, Plant and equipment was estimated in 2014 and revised by management in the current 
period as follows:
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Item    Original average useful life  Revised average useful life 

Furniture and Fittings  5 years     25 years 

Motor Vehicles   5 years     10 years 

Computer Equipment  3 years     10 years

The effect of this revision has decreased the depreciation charges for the current period by R152,428 and increased future 
periods by the same amount. There is no impact on the cash flow statement.

Intangible assets

The useful life of Computer Software was estimated in 2014 to be 2 years. In the current period management have revised 
their estimate to 10 years. The effect of this revision has decreased the amortisation for the current period by R13, 493 and 
increased for future periods by the same amount.

There is no impact on the cash flow statement

28. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

The excess of actual expenditure over the final budget of 6% in other operating expenditure was due to expenditures above 
the level approved for ad hoc Commission engagements. There were no other material differences between the final budget 
and the actual amounts. 
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5.1 Introduction and Oversight Overview

The Human Resources (HR) division has been implementing the HR strategy during 2014/15 financial 
year. It has also used the current reporting period to address the deficiencies in the implementation of 
aspects of the HR Strategy and provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of HR 
information.

The primary focus of HR function has been on addressing deficiencies in the implementation of HR 
delivery model, which is in line with the Commission Strategy and Policy. 

During the reporting period, the Commission continued to revise its delivery model by focusing on a 
more specialised research and support structure that would benefit the Commission within a limited 
resource envelope. The Commission used its delivery model to optimise the use of human resources 
and to ensure effective delivery on its mandate. This will be achieved by reducing the number of 
non-core staff members (support staff or non-Research and Recommendations Programme) through 
a process of natural attrition, refocusing the way in which research is done by drawing in specialised 
technical expertise rather than employing our own resources and, finally, focusing on training and 
developing research staff to improve their capacity, including the managing of large research contracts 
An Organisational Risk Assessment and Implementation Plan is being developed, in line with the Com-
mission’s strategic objectives, and will include strategies and tactics to mitigate identified risks going 
forward.

In line with the delivery model, the research unit’s capacity was increased by appointing new staff 
members and replacing vacant positions over the reporting period. Three interns were also appointed 
in the Research and Recommendation Programme.

A key equity target identified in the Commission’s Employment Equity Plan is the appointment of 
female staff at the Professional (09 – 12) and Senior Management Services (13 – 16) Levels. The Plan 
targets a male/female employee ratio of 60%/40% for both these occupational categories. During the 
2014/15 reporting period, this target was exceeded for all staff categories with an overall ratio of 40% 
male and 60% female. 

For the Senior Management Services category, the Commission implemented a targeted selection 
strategy for future appointments to meet the gender and people with disabilities ratio. Posts identified 
in the revised organisational structure and future recruitment strategy will provide an opportunity for 
this to be achieved, although this was found to be very difficult in the past.

The Commission reported two resignations and one dismissal during the 2014/15 reporting period. Re-
cruitment for the replacement of the critical vacant positions will continue during the 2015/16 financial 
year.



5.2 Oversight Statistics

5.2.1 Expenditure

Table 1: Personnel costs by salary bands, 2014/15

Salary Bands Personnel Expenditure % of Total Personnel 
Cost

Average Personnel Cost 
Per Employee

Salary levels 1–2 111 951 0.60% 111 951

Salary levels 3–5 647 575 3.60% 323 788

Salary levels 6–8 1250397 6.90% 208 400

Salary levels 9–12 7816750 43.50% 558 339

Salary levels 13–16 8163689 45.40% 907 077

Total 17 990 362 100% 2 109 555

Table 2: Salaries, Overtime and Medical Assistance by salary bands, 2014/15

Salary Bands Salaries Overtime Medical Assistance

Amount 
(R’000)

% of  
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

% of  
personnel 

cost

Amount 
(R’000)

% of  
personnel 

cost

Salary levels 1–2 111 951 0.60% 0 0% 39 159 34.98%

Salary levels 3–5 647 575 3.60% 0 0% 119 790 18.50%

Salary levels 6–8 1250397 6.90% 0 0% 66 570 5.32%

Salary levels 9–12 7816750 43.50% 0 0% 733 619 9.39%

Salary levels 13–16 8163689 45.40% 0 0% 473 298 5.80%

Total 17 990 362 100% 0 0% 1 432 436 74%

Table 3: Employment and Vacancies by Salary Bands, 31 March 2015

Salary Band Number of Posts Number of Posts 
Filled Vacancy Rate % Additional to the 

establishment

Salary levels 1–2 1 1 0 0

Salary levels 3–5 2 2 0 0

Salary levels 6–8 5 5 0 0

Salary levels 9–12 14 12 20% 2

Senior management 
(13–16) 9 7 11% 2

Programme total 31 27 31% 4

5.2.2 Employment and Vacancies



5.2.3 Job Evaluation

No job evaluation was conducted at the Commission for the reporting period 2014/2015.

Table 4: Employee Salary Level Exceeding the Grade Determined by Job Evaluation, 01 April 2014 to 
31 March 2015

Occupation Number of 
Employees Job Level Remuneration Level Reason for deviation

Programme Manager 1 13 Between 13 – 14 Retention Strategy

Research Specialist 1 12 Between 12 - 13 Retention Strategy

Senior Researcher 2 12 Between 12 - 13 Retention Strategy

Researcher 1 11 Between 11 - 12 Retention Strategy

Facilities Manager 1 11 12
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Procurement Officer 1 9 10
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Financial Accountant 1 9 10
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Personal Assistant 1 9 10
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Reference Librarian 1 8 10
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Driver/Office Assistant 1 5 8
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Receptionist/Travel 
Desk 1 4 8

Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Housekeeper 1 1 2
Post previously benchmarked 
against Private Sector rates

Table 5: Profile of Employees: Salary Levels Exceeding the Grade Determined by 
Job Evaluation, 01 April 2013 to 31 March 2015

Beneficiaries African Indian Coloured White Total

Female 4 0 2 2 8

Male 4 1 0 0 5

Total 8 1 2 2 13



5.2.4 Employment Changes

Table 6: Annual Turnover Rates by Salary Bands for the Period 01 April 2014 to 
31 March 2015

Salary Bands
Number of Employ-
ees per Level as at 

01 April 2015

Appointments and 
Transfers In

Terminations and 
Transfers Out Turnover Rate

Salary levels 1–2 1 0 0 0

Salary levels 3–5 2 0 0 0

Salary levels 6–8 5 1 1 0

Salary levels 9–12 14 2 1 1

Senior management 
13–16

9 1 3 -2

Total 31 4 5 -1

Table 7 Reasons Why Staff Are Leaving the Commission

Termination Type Number % of Total Turnover

Death 0 0

Resignation 3 100%

Expiry of Contract 0 0

Dismissal – organisational changes 0 0

Dismissal – misconduct 1 0

Dismissal – inefficiency 0 0

Discharge due to ill-health 0 0

Retirement 0 0

Other 0 0

Total 4 100%

Table 8 Promotions by Salary Band 

Salary Band Employees 
1-Apr-14

Promotions to 
another  

salary level

Salary Band promotions  
as a % of employees  

by salary level

Salary levels 1 – 2 1 0 0

Salary levels 3 – 5 2 0 0

Salary levels 6 – 8 5 0 0

Salary levels 9 – 12 14 0 0

Senior management (13 – 16) 9 2 22%

Total 31 2 22%



5.2.5 Employment Equity

Table 9: Total Number of Employees (Commission Secretariat Staff) in Each of the Following Occupa-
tional Categories as at 31 March 2015

Occupational 
Categories

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Legislators, 
senior officials 
and managers

6 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 9

Professionals 3 0 1 0 5 2 1 2 14

Technicians 
and associate 
professionals

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clerks 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 4

Service and 
sales workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agri-
cultural and 
fishery workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and 
related trades 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Plant and ma-
chine operators 
and assemblers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elementary oc-
cupations

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Total perma-
nent 10 1 1 1 9 3 1 2 28

Non-permanent 
employees10 

0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2

Total 10 1 1 1 11 3 1 2 30

Persons with 
disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

<<
10 Non-permanent 
employees include 
interns and fixed-term 
contracts



Table 10: Total Number of Employees (Commission Secretariat Staff) per Occupational Level as at 31 
March 2015

Occupational 
Bands

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Top manage-
ment

3 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 5

Senior manage-
ment

3 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 6

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-manage-
ment

3 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 7

Skilled technical 
and academi-
cally qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

0 0 0 0 3 0 0 2 5

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making

1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 4

Unskilled and 
defined deci-
sion making

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Total perma-
nent 10 1 1 1 9 3 1 2 28

Non-permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3

Total 10 1 1 1 12 3 1 2 31

Persons with 
disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0



Table 11: Recruitment for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Occupational 
Bands

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Top manage-
ment

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior manage-
ment

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-manage-
ment

1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2

Skilled technical 
and academi-
cally qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superinten-
dents

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 
and discretion-
ary decision 
making

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Unskilled and 
defined deci-
sion making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total perma-
nent 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 4

Non-permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 4



Table 12: Promotions for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Occupational 
Bands

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Top manage-
ment

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior manage-
ment

1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-manage-
ment

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled technical 
and academi-
cally qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled and 
defined deci-
sion making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total perma-
nent 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

Non-permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2



Table 13: Terminations for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Occupational 
Bands

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Top manage-
ment

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Senior manage-
ment

1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-manage-
ment

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled technical 
and academi-
cally qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superinten-
dents

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 
and discretion-
ary decision 
making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled and 
defined deci-
sion making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total perma-
nent 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

Non-permanent 
employees

0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2

Total 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 5

Table 14: Disciplinary Action for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Disciplinary 
action

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1



Table 15: Skills Development for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 

Occupational 
Categories

Male Female

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White TOTAL

Legislators, 
senior officials 
and managers

6 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 8

Professionals 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 4

Technicians 
and associate 
professionals

0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 4

Clerks 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Service and 
sales workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agricul-
tural and fishery 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and 
related trades 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Plant and ma-
chine operators 
and assemblers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elementary oc-
cupations

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total perma-
nent 8 2 0 1 3 1 0 2 17

Non-permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Total 8 2 0 1 4 1 0 2 18

Persons with 
disabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0



5.2.6 Performance Rewards

Table 16: Performance Rewards, by Race, and Disability, 01 April 2014 to 31 
March 2015

Number of  
Beneficiaries

Total Number  
of Employees  

in Group

% of Total  
within Group

Cost
(R’000)

Average per 
Employee

African

Male 7 10 70.00% 218 872 31 267

Female 8 11 72.70% 123 896 15 487

Indian

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Female 0 0 0 0 0

Coloured

Male 2 2 100% 51 792 25 896

Female 2 3 66.70% 50 612 25 306

White

Male 0 2 0% 0 0

Female 2 2 100% 33 562 16 781

TOTAL 21 30 70.00% 478 734 22 797

Employees 
with disability 0 0 0 0 0

Table 17: Performance Reward by Salary Band for Personnel below Senior Management Service, 01 
April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Salary Band Number of 
Beneficiaries

Number of 
Employees

% of Total 
within Group Cost Average Cost 

per Employee

Total Cost as %  
of Total Personnel  

Cost

Salary levels 1–2 1 1 100% 3 427 3 923 0.80%

Salary levels 3–5 2 2 100% 31 068 12 968 5.40%

Salary levels 6–8 2 2 40% 34 977 12 738 5.30%

Salary levels 9–12 13 13 84.60% 299 560 20 724 47.60%

Total 18 18 76.20% 283 298 17 706 59.20%

Table 18: Performance-related Rewards by Salary band, for Senior Management Service, 01 April 
2014 to 31 March 2015

Salary Band Number of 
Beneficiaries

Number of 
Employees

% of Total 
within Group Cost Average Cost 

per Employee

Total Cost as %  
of Total Personnel  

Cost

Salary levels 13–16 5 9 55.60% 172 308 34 461 40.80%

Total 5 9 55.60% 195 437 39 874 40.80%



5.2.7 Leave Utilisation

Table 19: Sick Leave 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Table 21: Annual Leave, 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Salary Band Total Days %  
Certification

# of Employ-
ees Using  
Sick Leave

% of Total Em-
ployees Using 

Sick Leave

Average Per 
Employee

Estimated 
Cost

Total Days 
with Medical 
Certification

Salary levels 1–2 1.5 100% 1 100% 1.5 596 1.5

Salary levels 3–5 19 100% 1 50% 9.5 21 841 19

Salary levels 6–8 23.5 60% 3 50% 3.9 27 215 14

Salary levels 9–12 61.5 67% 12 92.30% 4.7 131 195 41

Salary levels 13–16 54.5 75% 9 100% 6.1 185 540 41

Total 160 72.80% 26 83.90% 5.2 366 387 116.5

Salary Bands Total Days Taken Number of Employees in 
Grade Average per Employee

Salary levels 1–2 10 1 0.1

Salary levels 3–5 21 2 0.1

Salary levels 6–8 22 6 0.27

Salary levels 9–12 120 13 0.11

Salary levels 13–16 77 9 0.12

Total 277 31 0.7

Table 20: Disability Leave (Temporary and Permanent), 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Disability leave None

Table 22 Leave Payouts for the Period 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Reason Total Amount
(R’000) Number of Employees Average Payment Per Em-

ployee (R’000)

Leave payout for 2013/14 
due to non-utilisation

- - -

Current leave payout on 
termination of service

R 47 299 5 R 9 460

Total R 47 299 5 R 9 460



5.2.8 HIV/AIDS and Health Programme

The Financial and Fiscal Commission has an HIV/ Aids Policy that was introduced in 2002. This Policy 
is consistently reviewed.

The Financial and Fiscal Commission has a zero tolerance approach on the issue discrimination against 
any of its employees that are HIV positive.

5.2.9 Labour Relations

Table 23: Collective Agreements, 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Table 24: Misconduct and Disciplinary Hearings Finalised, 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Total collective agreements None

Outcomes of Disciplinary  
Hearings Number % of Total

Correctional counselling 0 0

Verbal warning 0 0

Written warning 0 0

Final written warning 0 0

Suspended without pay 0 0

Fine 0 0

Demotion 0 0

Dismissal 1 100%

Case withdrawn 0 0

Total 1 100%



5.2.10 Skills Development

5.2.11 Injury on Duty

Table 25: Number of Employees as at 31 March 2014

Occupational 
Categories Gender

No. of Employees 
as at 

1-Apr-13
Learnerships

Skills pro-
grammes and 
other Short 

Courses

Other forms of 
Training Total

Legislators, senior 
officials and 
managers

Female 1 0 0 0 0

Male 8 0 9 12 21

Professionals
Female 9 0 4 5 9

Male 5 0 2 2 4

Clerks
Female 6 2 3 0 5

Male 1 1 1 0 2

Elementary  
occupations

Female 1 0 0 0 0

Male 0 0 0 0 0

Total 31 3 19 19 41

Table 26: Injury on Duty, 01 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 

Nature of Injury Number % of total

Required basic medical attention 
only

0 0

Temporary total disablement 0 0

Permanent disablement 0 0

Fatal 0 0

Total 0 0



Appendix A: Acronyms

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa

AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

ANC African National Congress

BAU Business As Usual

BCP Business Continuity Plan

CBO Community-Based Organisation

CE Chief Executive

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CIB Corporate and Investment Bank

Cosatu Congress of South African Trade Unions

CPI Consumer Price Index

CPO Chief Procurement Officer

CRO Chief Risk Officer

CWP Community Work Programme

DAFF Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

DCoG  Department of Cooperative Governance

DPME Department of Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

DoL Department of Labour

DoR Division of Revenue

DRDLR Department of Rural Development and Land Reform

DWAS  Department Of Water Affairs and Sanitation

ECD  Early Childhood Development

EPWP Expanded Public Works Programme

ERM Enterprise Risk Management

FAWU Food and Allied Workers’ Union

FET Further Education and Training

FMPPI Framework for Management Programme Performance Information 

FFC Financial and Fiscal Commission

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

GTAC Government Technical Advisory Centre

HDA Housing Development Agency

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HR Human Resources

HSDG Human Settlements Development Grant

HSRC Human Sciences Research Council

IAF Internal Audit Function

ICDG Integrated City Development Grant

ICT Information, Communication and Technology

IDP  Integrated Development Plan 

IGFR Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations

IMFO Institute of Municipal Finance Offices

INEP Integrated National Electrification Programme

LES Local Equitable Share



LGFF Local Government Fiscal Framework

MOUMDG Millennium Development Goals

MEC Member of Executive Committee

MFMA  Municipal Finance Management Act (Act 56 of 2003) 

MIG Municipal Infrastructure Grant

MTBPS Medium Term Budget Policy Statement

MTEF     Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NDP National Development Plan

NGO Non-government Organisation

NGP New Growth Path

NHI National Health Insurance

NHLS National Health Laboratory Services

NPC National Planning Commission

NSNP National School Nutrition Programme 

OCPO Office of the Chief Procurement Officer

OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

OSD Occupation Specific Dispensation

PAA Public Audit Act

PES Provincial Equitable Share

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PHC Primary Health Care

PICC Presidential Infrastructure Coordinating Commission

PPP Public-Private Partnership

PRRC Presidential Remuneration Review Committee

PSC Public Service Commission

PTIG Public Transport Infrastructure Grant

RAF Road Accident Fund

RHIG Rural Households Infrastructure Grant

SAA South African Airways

SABC South African Broadcasting Corporation

SACP South African Communist Party

SALGA South African Local Government Association

SANRAL South African National Roads Agency Limited

SARB South African Reserve Bank

SCM Supply Chain Management

SCOPA Standing Committee on Public Accounts

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority

SIP Strategic Integrated Project

SMME Small, Medium and Micro Enterprises

SOC State Owned Company

SONA State of the National Address

Stats SA Statistics South Africa

USDG Urban Settlements Development Grant

VAT Value-added Tax



Name BBBEE Status Value

Beetle Breeze Trading (Pty) Ltd 3         445 320 

BMI Tech Knowledge 2        196 650 

Caswell Mthombeni 4      205 363 

Council for Scientific and Industrial Research N/A       345 859 

Ismael Fofana N/A       548 000 

Health Systems Trust 6        455 235 

Human Science Research Council N/A        47 202.84 

Auditor General N/A       1 120 436

Nkonki Incorporated 2        1 170 187 

Kayamandi Development Services 3         334 476 

Helene Maisonnave N/A         675 000 

Makhubela Attorneys 1         52 440 

MTHA Project Management 3         411 540 

Rain Chartered Accounts 1         79 331 

In Touch Africa Consulting (Izani Media) 3         4 314 902

Write to the Point 3         244 363 

Phangwana Consulting and Training Services 3         8 977 

Tosca Media 1         96 706

Price Water House Coopers 2         190 112 

University of the Western Cape N/A         218 460 

Appendix B: Utilisation of Consultants 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015



Appendix C: Commission Submission on 2014 Medium Term Budget Policy 
Statement (MTBPS)

1. Background

1.1 This Submission on the 2014 Medium Term Budget Policy Statement (MTBPS) is made in terms of 
Section 4 (4c) of the Money Bills Amendment Procedure and Related Matters Act (2009), which requires 
Committees of Parliament to consider recommendations by the Financial and Fiscal Commission (FFC 
or the Commission)when dealing with money bills and related matters. The Submission is also made in 
terms of Part 1(3){1} of the Financial and Fiscal Commission Act (2003) as amended, which provides for 
the Commission to act as a consultative body for, and to make recommendations to, organs of state in 
the national, provincial and local spheres of government on any financial and fiscal matters.

1.2 Overall the Commission welcomes the main themes in the 2014 MTBPS and they resonate very 
well the Commission Submission for the Division of Revenue 2015/16 that was tabled in Parliament 
in May 2014. In that Submission, the Commission argues that at a time of uncertainty for the world 
economy and financial system, South Africa is facing economic and fiscal challenges that are more 
severe than many people realise. In particular: 

a. Potential public debt unsustainability, which is more long-term. To prevent this will require 
fiscal discipline that does not jeopardise short-term economic growth but enhances longer-term 
economic growth and employment prospects.

b. High levels of poverty and inequality. This is a pressing economic problem and will require bold 
policies, new partnerships and a continuing commitment to social programmes that help the 
country’s most vulnerable citizens.

1.3 Government has set a clear course of comprehensive economic and social reforms, with the 
National Development Plan (NDP) being a key element. To finance these socio-economic programmes, 
government needs to have steady and dependable revenue growth. This means having an economy 
that is growing fast enough to provide revenue necessary for these programmes. Ensuring that public 
spending has a greater impact, through efficient and effective delivery of public services, will also 
stimulate growth. Nevertheless, trade-offs will have to be made, to strike a balance between fiscal 
sustainability and protecting (if not extending) existing socio-economic gains. Under the theme of 
Balancing Fiscal Sustainability with Socio-economic Impact, the Submission looks at ways of achieving 
this balance and the need for excellent and affordable public services.

1.4  Given the prevailing economic climate, a combination of enhanced fiscal consolidation and invest-
ment is warranted for future economic growth. The poor and vulnerable must be cushioned through 
maintaining effective and efficient use of social expenditure. This can contribute directly to growth and 
jobs especially when taken in tandem with interventions devoted to job-friendly growth. The Commis-
sion also fully endorses Government’s intention to intensify initiatives to combat waste, inefficiency 
and corruption. 

1.5 While the enhanced fiscal consolidation approach, supplemented by cost containment measures, 
will have an influence on improved resource management, on their own these measures are not 
enough to yield efficiencies within the work of the state and public goods and services delivery. More 
effort regarding inputs required to build a capable state is required. In this regard focus should be 
placed on economic and social capabilities for citizens and infrastructure and how these will be 
managed within the context of current consolidation measures. In this regard, the ongoing Com-
mission work for the 2016 Division of Revenue places emphasis on (1) urbanization and accelerated 
economic growth and (2) the pressures of infrastructure expansion relative to maintenance within the 
fiscal consolidation space. Thus, for South Africa to aspire to an economic growth rate that is likely to 
make a more meaningful dent in unemployment and uplift the poor communities, much more needs 
to be done to implement the tenets of the NDP and MTSF in this regard.



2. Economic Outlook and Public Finances Overview

2.1 The Minister of Finance’s announcement of a downward revision of the economic growth figure − 
from 2.7% when the 2014 Budget was presented in February to just 1.4% − presents a major challenge 
to achieving the targets set out in the NDP document, most notably a target of 11 million new jobs by 
2030, with 5 million being created by 2020, which implies reducing unemployment to around 14% by 
2020 and 6% by 2030.To achieve this target, the NDP cites an average economic growth rate of 5.4%, 
which increases with each year that the country records sluggish economic growth rates. Therefore, 
the future economic growth trajectory necessitates considerable back-loading (which may be unreal-
istic).

2.2 Figure 1 shows the trend in actual and projected growth of real GDP between 2010 and 2017.

Figure 1. Actual and projected growth in GDP

<<
11 In the context of this sub-
mission, business as usual, in 
macroeconomic terms, is the 
natural trend of the economy 
and economic policy.
12 The moderate scenario is 
consistent with the view that 
growth begins to pick up, 
albeit moderately, from the 
end of 2009 onwards.
13 A severe scenario reflects 
a protracted slow global 
growth era and implies tight 
public budgets for some time 
to come.

2.3 Economic growth forecast for 2015 has been cut to 2.5% from 3.2% (2014 February Budget) while 
for 2016 it has been revised downwards to 2.8% from 3.6% previously. A forecast for 2017 has now 
been added, at 3.0%. The new forecasts would appear to be realistic and are not far removed from 
the Commission’s 2011 GDP simulations made under three scenarios: business as usual (BAU)11, 
moderate12 and severe13. The Commission noted then that GDP will not recover to the BAU levels 
without positive shocks and deliberate interventions to counteract the negative impacts of the world 
economic crisis. South Africa appears to be tracking the then pessimistic scenario, which is further 
exacerbated by external and domestic factors, with domestic factors becoming more important in 
recent downgrades of economic growth. In terms of external factors, exports are under pressure from 
sluggish global demand and declining commodity prices stemming from the slowdown in China’s 
economic growth. Domestically, factors including labour unrest in mining and manufacturing sectors, 
electricity supply constraints have combined to depress consumer spending and private fixed invest-
ments, further exacerbating negative structural factors such as poor educational and health outcomes.

2.4 The downward GDP forecast reductions for the next three years imply reductions in forecast 
growth of government revenue and concomitant increases in the budget deficit. However, to its credit 
Government has not deviated much from planned deficit reduction announced in the 2014 Budget in 
the 2014 MTBPS despite the worsened economic environment it confronted when setting the MTBPS 
(see Table 1). For 2014/15, the budget deficit is at 4.1% of GDP, with government planning to reduce it 
to 2.5% of GDP by 2017/18. 

Source: National Treasury 
– National Budget Review 
(2014) and Medium Term 
Budget Policy Statement 
(2014). Commission’s calcula-
tions.



(a) Government’s plan at the time of the 2013 MTBPS was to reduce progressively the budget 
deficit from 4.2% of GDP in 2013/14, to 4.1% of GDP in 2014/15, 3.8% of GDP in 2015/16 and 3.0% of 
GDP in 2016/17. It is on the basis of this deficit reduction programme that the leading credit rating 
agencies then gave Government the benefit of doubt in announcing that they had refrained from 
downgrading the credit rating on government bonds in December 2013. 

(b) Budget 2014 deficit reduction forecasts particularly over the two outer years of the 2014 MTEF 
reflect a much more aggressive approach relative to what was projected at the time of the 2013 
MTBPS. A similar trend is evident with respect to 2014 MTBPS, where maximum reduction is left to 
the outer two years of the medium term expenditure framework (MTEF) period.

(c) During 2014 Budget, Government promised a budget deficit of 4.0% and the 2014 MTBPS mar-
ginally raises this to 4.1% of GDP. The budget deficit to GDP ratio is restricted to 3.6% for 2015/16 
and 2.6% of GDP in 2016/17 (compared to 2.8% of GDP as budgeted for in February) before falling 
to 2.5 for 2017/18 (new additional year).

(d) If these deficit reduction plans are realised, this should be enough to stave off any downgrades 
to the sovereign credit rating.

Table 1: Budget deficit as % of GDP, 2013-2017

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Budget 2013 -4.6% -3.9% -3.1%  

MTBPS 2013 -4.2%  -4.1%  -3.8%  -3.0%  

Budget 2014 -4.0% -4.0% -3.6% -2.8% 

MTBPS 2014 -3.9% -4.1% -3.6% -2.6% -2.5%

2.5 A useful comparison macroeconomists often use is that between growth in the budget deficit and 
size of the economy (GDP growth). This comparison gives clues about the direction public debt will 
likely take. The forecast economic growth for the MTEF period is smaller than that of the budget deficit. 
This implies that projected public debt will rise faster than had previously been anticipated. Indeed 
public debt to GDP ratio is now projected to reach 45.4% of GDP by 2016/17 compared to 44.3% of 
GDP announced in the 2014 Budget. The new and slightly higher debt to GDP level still implies that debt 
servicing costs will grow at 9.3% per year over the next three years, which is significantly faster than 
the 7.6% per year increase proposed for government expenditure as a whole as shown in Figure 3. 

Source: Budget Review (2013, 
2014); MTBPS (2013, 2014). 
Commission’s calculations

Figure 2: Share of Current Account, Trade Balance and Debt Service Costs in 
GDP – 2008–2014

Source: MTBPS, 2014. Com-
mission’s calculations.



2.6 In the interest of budgetary stability, the Commission believes that South Africa should embark on 
aggressive fiscal consolidation as discussed earlier. Renewed decelerating global economic growth 
and relentless negative domestic factors present substantial uncertainties and downside risks to the 
economy. This further indicates the need to rebuild fiscal buffers, which helped to moderate the effects 
of the 2008/09 recession and provided Government with the necessary fiscal space to act in a counter-
cyclical manner. As noted in the Commission’s past recommendations, a successful fiscal consolida-
tion requires deciding which components of the budget need to be consolidated and the pace at which 
to achieve fiscal consolidation. In this regard, the Commission welcomes the proposed expenditure re-
prioritisation that cushions the poor from adjustment and also supports Government efforts to impose 
hard budget constraints aimed at obtaining maximum impact and quality of expenditure.

(a) A credible commitment to fiscal consolidation (within the framework of fiscal guidelines) is also 
necessary to ease the frequency of sovereign debt downgrades as Government demonstrates its 
ability to control spending pressures.
(b) The Commission welcomes Government’s strong intent re-emphasised in the 2014 MTBPS to 
combat waste, inefficiency and corruption and notes special provisions to deal with issues related 
to waste, inefficiency and corruption. These provisions should be enforced where applicable. The 
Commission also supports efforts to moderate the public sector wage bill.

3. Fiscal Frameworks and Revenue Proposals

FISCAL FRAMEWORK
3.1 As discussed above, the medium terms estimates are presented under a depressed macroeco-
nomic outlook with projected weaker revenue and higher debt services costs. This situation imposes 
constraints on the broader fiscal framework as shown in Table 2, which outlines the proposed fiscal 
framework for the 2015 MTEF period. In total, Government is expected to spend over the three years 
R3.947 trillion relative to a revenue envelope of R3.497 trillion. Over the 2015 MTEF period, real annual 
average growth in expenditure is projected at 4.7%. A relatively stronger 6.8% growth is projected in 
respect of revenue. The bulk of resources are allocated in respect of non-interest allocations in the 
form of equitable share and conditional grant funding. The key components of the fiscal framework are 
discussed in greater detail below14 

Table 2: Consolidated fiscal framework, 2011/12 - 2017/18

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17  2017/18 

Outcome  Budget  Revised    Medium-term estimates  

Main budget         

Revenue 745.3 799.2 886.1 962.8 956.6 1 055.1 1 169.4 1 272.9

Expenditure 889.9 965.5 1 047.8 1 142.6 1 136.3 1 222.3 1 308.4 1 416.7

of which:

Non-interest 
allocations

813.5 877.4 946.6 1 024.7 1 021.9 1 090.8 1 153.9 1 222.0

Debt-service 
costs

76.5 88.1 101.2 114.9 114.5 126.5 139.4 149.7

Unallocated 
reserves

– – – 3.0 – 5.0 15.0 5.0

Main budget 
balance

-144.6 -166.3 -161.7 -179.8 -179.7 -167.2 -139.0 -143.8

 -4.9% -5.2% -4.7% -4.7% -4.8% -4.1% -3.2% -3.0%

Cash balances 
of social 
security 

funds, public 
entities and 
provinces

33.8 30.1 27.0 26.7 26.5 22.7 25.0 25.0

Consolidated 
budget

balance -110.8 -136.2 -134.7 -153.1 -153.2 -144.5 -114.1 -118.7

-3.7% -4.3% -3.9% -4.0% -4.1% -3.6% -2.6% -2.5%

<<
14 The components of debt 
service and consolidated 
budget deficit have already 
been discussed above as 
part of the economic outlook 
and that discussion is not 
repeated here.



NON-INTEREST ALLOCATIONS: DIVISION OF REVENUE 
3.2 Table 3 summarises the division of non-interest allocations amongst the three spheres of Gov-
ernment. After accounting for national debt, there are estimated receipts of R1, 02 trillion to share 
amongst the three spheres in 2014/15 financial year. The budget available for sharing is projected to 
increase to R1.09 trillion in the 2015/16 financial year and R1.2 trillion in the outer year. The revised 
estimate for the 2014 division of revenue has been revised upwards by R1.4 billion. 

3.3 Over the 2015 MTEF period, the division of revenue amongst the three spheres will generally 
be characterised by moderate growth increases with a real annual average growth of 2.9% being 
projected. As a result of the constrained fiscal environment that persists, Government has proposed 
to lower the expenditure ceilings for the first two years of the 2015 MTEF by R10 billion and R15 
billion respectively. With respect to the national sphere, staying within the confines of the expenditure 
ceilings will be achieved through the freezing of posts, withdrawing posts where vacancies have been 
persistent and reducing the growth in transfers to entities. Whereas the bulk of provincial funding 
comprises the discretionary equitable share allocation which implies that provinces have the right to 
determine how it is allocated, it is anticipated that this sphere will follow suit, reign in non-critical costs 
and improve efficiencies.

3.4 Over the 2015 MTEF period, national government allocations amount to 47.9% of the total al-
location. For the 2014/15 financial year, the share of national government revenue increased slightly 
owing to the shifting of the further education and training (FET) colleges and the ports health functions 
from provinces to national government. Because expenditure ceilings are in force, the baseline alloca-
tions for both provinces and local government will be revised downwards in the 2015/16 and 2016/17 
financial years to accommodate this function shift. The baseline allocations for provinces is revised 
downwards by R11 billion, while local government is reduced by R2.4 billion within the two years. 
Government’s position on fiscal consolidation is in line with the Commission’s submission for the 
2014/15 Division of Revenue which emphasised the need for South African to continue on a path of 
fiscal consolidation. In its recommendations for the 2015 Division of Revenue, the Commission advises 
that Government avoids across-the-board cuts when implementing expenditure ceilings as a means 
of debt control. Such blunt tools treat valuable, efficiently run programmes and outdated and poorly 
managed programmes in the same way. Spending should be aligned with government priorities, to 
ensure adequately funding of high-priority initiatives and elimination or substantial reduction of lower-
priority programmes. The expenditure review studies being implemented and published under the 
auspices of the newly established Department of Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation should form the 
basis when sharing the burden of implementing such ceilings.

Table 3: Medium term expenditure framework division of revenue (R’billion)

Division of Revenue

2014 
Budget

2014 
MTBPS 2014 MTBPS Real 

Annual 
Average 
Growth 

Rate 
(2015/16-
2017/18)

2014 
M/term 

Estimate

2014/15 
Revised 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

National allocations 489.4 494.7 523.1 553.2 585.0 2.8%

Provincial allocations 444.4 440.2 468.5 496.8 527.0 3.1%

Equitable share 362.5 360.2 383.0 405.6 429.3 2.9%

Conditional grants 82.0 80.0 85.4 91.2 97.7 4.0%

Local government 
allocations

90.8 91.1 99.2 103.9 110.0 2.4%

Total allocations 1024.6 1 026.0 1 090.8 1 153.9 1 222.0 2.9%

Source: 2014 Budget 
Review, 2014 MTBPS. 
Commission’s calcula-
tions.



3.5 Provinces are allocated R1.4 trillion over the 2015 MTEF period. With a real annual average growth 
of 3.1%, allocations to provinces are projected to show the largest growth over the 2015 MTEF period. 
The provincial equitable share (PES), which represents the provinces’ vertical share of nationally raised 
revenue, forms an important cornerstone of unconditional finance. As shown in Figure 3, provinces 
have limited own revenue capacity where the share of own revenue has declined from 6% in 1995/6 
to 3% in 2013/14. The largest share of provincial funding is in the form of intergovernmental transfers 
(PES and conditional grants). PES as a proportion of total provincial revenue has declined gradually 
from 89% in 1995/96 to 78% in 2013/14 while conditional grants increased from 5% in 1995/96 to 19% 
in 2013/14. For the 2015/16 financial year, the PES baseline is revised downwards by R2.6 billion and 
another R4 billion in 2016/17 as a result of ongoing expenditure ceilings. Notwithstanding the reduc-
tions in the baseline, the PES still maintains a healthy real annual average growth of 2.9% over the 
MTEF.

Figure 3: Provincial Revenue by Source, 1995/96 – 2016/17

3.6 With a view to gauge the long term viability of the provincial fiscal framework, Figure 4 plots 
average annual growth rates for each revenue source for the pre global financial crisis period (2002/03 
– 2007/08) and global financial crisis period (2008/09 – 2013/14). The growth in provincial own revenue 
was most significantly affected by the impact of the global financial crisis where the average annual 
growth in provincial own revenue was 0% compared to 8% for the period 2002/03 – 2007/08. Remark-
ably, there was no noticeable impact on conditional grants growth (10% throughout) and very minimal 
impact on provincial equitable share.  

Source: Adapted from 
Financial and Fiscal Com-
mission’s computations 
based on National Treasury 
data.

Figure 4: Average Annual Growth of Provincial Revenue Sources

Source: Adapted from 
Financial and Fiscal Com-
mission’s computations 
based on National Treasury 
data.



3.7 Due to insufficient revenue-raising powers and concerns over debt services’ cost, provinces are 
unable to source private funding to finance their infrastructure projects. However, legislations such as 
the Public Finance Management Act of 1999 and Section 2 (b) of the Borrowing Powers of Provincial 
Governments Act (No.48 of 1996) make provision for intergovernmental lending, where the National 
Treasury, through the loan coordinating committee, borrows on behalf of provinces15. The inability of 
provinces to maximise own revenue collection has created a heavy reliance on intergovernmental 
transfers and a mismatch between provincial own revenues and expenditure needs which widens the 
vertical fiscal imbalance. Figure 4 shows conditional grants have consistently grown faster than other 
revenue sources over the eighteen year period. The increase in conditional grants is in response to a 
perception harboured by national government that provinces are not or are incapable of prioritizing 
national policy objectives and speed up infrastructure service delivery. By controlling funds from the 
centre, there is a belief that provincial performance will improve in response to imposing conditions 
that will hold provinces to account. It is the Commission’s view that following the recent review of the 
Local Government Fiscal Framework (on-going) it is now time to review the provincial fiscal framework 
so that provinces’ role in economic development can be better appreciated. The current practice has 
had the unintended consequence of characterising provinces as implementation agents for govern-
ment’s social programs, namely education, health and social development. Indeed, resources for other 
provincial functions become a residual resulting in inherited disparities being perpetuated. 

3.8 The Commission notes the growth in allocations to the Local Government sphere. Local Government 
receives R91.1 billion in 2014/15 and this increases to R110 billion in 2017/18. The Local Equitable Share 
(LES) and conditional grants grow by 8% and 5% on average annually between 2014/15 to 2017/18. 

3.9 The LES is expected to increase from R44.5 billion in 2014/15 to R55.5 billion in 2017/18 despite the 
tight fiscal situation and prospects of lower economic growth. What is even more remarkable is that 
as shown in Figure 5, LES in the 2014 MTBPS has risen faster (14%) than in the 2014 budget (11.8%), 
indicating that more resources have been channelled to the local government sector since February 
2014. In real terms the LES has grown quite slowly. In outer years the rate of growth of the LES alloca-
tions would progressively decline.

>>
15 The Gauteng Loan Agreement 
is a case in point. Similarly the 
Municipal Finance Manage-
ment Act of 2003 provides 
the legislative framework for 
municipal borrowing.

Figure 5: Growth in the LES

3.10 The Commission notes the greater distribution of funds via the LES to poorly resourced munici-
palities (Figure 6) thereby contributing to making the distribution more equitable at the margin. It is the 
Commission’s view that the spending ability and absorptive capacity of municipalities should constant-
ly be monitored so that the beneficiaries are not disadvantaged in terms of service delivery by lack 
of capacity. Municipalities are also implored to use available resources efficiently and effectively and 
indigent registers should be regularly updated so that basic services are extended to those deserving. 

Source: MTBPS, 2013, 2014. 
Commission’s calculations



3.11 It is worth noting that in contrast to provincial governments, Section 229 of the constitution 
confers on municipalities substantial tax powers including property rates, user charges and other 
taxes, levies and duties, if authorised by national legislation. Some categories of municipalities receive 
a share of the national fuel levy as a replacement for a local tax source (Regional Service Council 
(RSC) levy) that has since been abolished on the grounds of violating basic tax principles and exposing 
municipalities to potential litigation16. Overall own revenue constitutes approximately 69% of total local 
government revenue while the remainder is made up of transfers. In practice, however, there is wide 
variation in the ability of municipalities to generate own revenues. Own revenue as a proportion of 
total revenue ranges from an aggregate of 76% for Category A (metropolitan) municipalities to an 
average of 30% and 15% for category B (local)  and C (district) municipalities respectively (FFC, 2013). 
These huge variances in own revenue capacity across municipalities are conditioned by highly skewed 
and concentrated geographic location of economic activity, mainly in urban areas. Of concern for 
local government fiscal frameworks is not only that fiscal capacity varies substantially across various 
municipalities, but also that fiscal capacity appears to have declined over time. In 2004/5, aggregate 
municipal own revenues amounted to 90% of aggregate expenditure. In 2014, this has declined to 
about 75% of aggregate municipal expenditure. Contrary to popular belief, the global financial crisis 
did not have a perceptible effect on these trends but merely reinforced them. One of the main drivers 
behind the decline in the municipalities’ own revenue capacity and the concomitant increase in grant 
dependence was the abolition of the RSC levy. To date, an appropriate own revenue instrument to 
replace the RSC levy has not yet been found for district municipalities. One of the reasons is that in 
2005 the Department of Cooperative Governance (then known as the Department of Provincial and 
Local Government) announced that the roles and responsibilities of municipalities and provincial gov-
ernments would be reviewed. This process has yet to be concluded and the roles and responsibilities 
of district municipalities have to be finalised before the identification of a suitable revenue instrument.

3.12 Finally, local government is faced with huge challenges as it moves into the future. Respond-
ing to recent calls around the need for a differentiated approach and adequate funding to increase 
basic service provision, the Local Government Fiscal Framework and related matters such as ad-
dressing service backlogs are becoming significant issues for local government. The flow-on impact 
of the global financial crisis requires a governance response at a local level. Other challenges that 
need to be met at a local level include coping with an ageing infrastructure and delivering affordable 
housing. In light of these inefficiencies on the part of local government, there is the general percep-
tion that the local government financing system is inadequately funding municipalities. It is important 
that municipalities are appropriately funded and spend efficiently and effectively in order to deliver 
quality services and extend access to basic services to poor households. Furthermore, key devel-
opments over the 2014 Medium Term Expenditure Framework, relevant for the Local Government 
Fiscal Framework, include assignment of the housing function (currently a provincial mandate) to six 
metros and a greater distribution of resources to rural municipalities following introduction of the 

<<
16 The base of the RSC levy 
was gross sales and total 
payroll of companies and 
the Constitution explicitly 
prohibits subnational govern-
ment from levying this taxes

Figure 6: LES allocations per poor household



new local government equitable share formula. It is important to critically assess these key develop-
ments in local government financing. In 2011, the Commission initiated a comprehensive review of 
the Local Government Fiscal Framework. The Commission’s conclusions and recommendations from 
this process were officially tabled in Parliament in April 2013. The Commission raised concerns on 
the performance of infrastructure grants (e.g., on recurrent under-spending, proliferation, perverse 
incentives, and whether they reflect priorities of the NDP or government policy in general17). To this 
end, the Commission welcomes the ongoing review of infrastructure grants by Government that the 
Commission is a member of, whose key objective is to make evidence-based recommendations on 
how the current system of funding municipal infrastructure can be enhanced. The Commission also 
welcomes the timely implementation of two recommendations emanating from the review process 
alluded to above, namely (a) the rationalisation of four grants administered by Department of Water 
Services (the municipal water infrastructure grant, water services operating subsidy grant, rural house-
holds infrastructure grant and the regional bulk infrastructure grant) and (b) the merging of the public 
transport infrastructure grant and the public transport network operations grant into a single grant18. 
The rationalisation of grants and merging of two transport grants has potential to minimise inefficien-
cies associated with overlap of grant mandates, and also helps improve grants management. However, 
rationalisation and merging of grants should not be seen as substitute to efforts at uncovering the root 
cause of underperformance and decisively dealing with them.

REVENUE AND TAX PROPOSALS

3.13 At the time when Budget 2014 was tabled, government was able to accommodate personal tax 
relief to compensate for the effects of bracket creep arising in an inflationary environment. An amount 
of R9.25 billion was allocated for such purposes. This reduced the burden of personal income tax 
within overall tax revenue. The economic environment within which the 2014 MTBPS has been tabled 
in, does not allow for a continuation of this trend. As a result of the downward revision to GDP growth 
and overall constrained fiscal environment, revenue projections have followed suit with downward 
revisions amounting to R10 billion, R7 billion and R16.8 billion in 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 respec-
tively. 

3.14 When tabling its submission on the 2014 fiscal frameworks and revenue proposals in February 
2014, the Commission welcomed the improved performance of direct taxes, notably corporate tax 
relative to 2013 and cautioned against a slowdown in value added tax (VAT) as a result of lower con-
sumption in the economy. As shown by Table 4, predictions in respect of VAT have been realised but 
the improved performance in corporate tax has not been sustained. Underperformance with respect 
to corporate income tax, customs duties and VAT were the largest contributors to the R10 billion 
shortfall. MTBPS 2014 indicates that these same taxes have underperformed during the first half of the 
current fiscal year. 

Table 4: Revenue source revisions and estimates for 2015/16

>>
17 FFC ( 2012), Local Govern-
ment Fiscal Framework
18 MTBPs (2013)

2014/15 2015/16

R billion  Budget   Revised   Deviations   Estimates  

Persons and individuals 335.9 341.5 5.6 377.2

Companies 198.9 192.3 -6.7 211.7

Value-added tax 267.2 262.7 -4.5 288.5

Dividend withholding tax 19.3 19.8 0.6 21.3

Specific excise duties 31.1 32.5 1.5 33.4

Fuel levy 47.5 46.0 -1.5 47.2

Customs duties 50.3 45.0 -5.3 49.3

Other 43.5 43.8 0.4 47.3

Tax policy and administration 
reforms

– – – 12.0

Gross tax revenue 993.7 983.6 -10.0 1 088.1

Source: MTBPS 2014.



3.15 The Commission awaits the report of the Davis Tax Committee on review of the country’s tax 
system. The Committee’s recommendations will be discussed by the Commission in formulating 
proposals for future recommendations to Government. 

3.16 In his 2014 MTBPS speech, the Minister of Finance indicated that in order to avoid real cuts in ex-
penditure, additional revenue of R15 billion per annum will need to be raised. As part of its submission 
on the 2013 MTBPS, the Commission raised concerns around declining tax buoyancy19 in relation to the 
strained fiscal environment. A decline in this ratio implies that revenue generation is less sensitive to 
economic growth. This is a concern in that increased economic growth will not lead to a concomitant 
increase in government revenues. As a result, a proposal to increases taxes as part of debt stabilisation 
could be viewed as a small price to pay in order to avoid a debt trap down the line that in itself would 
fuel significantly weaker growth and exacerbate poverty and inequality.

3.17 Finally, with regard to non-tax revenue sources its noticeable that the other three components 
of saving, household, corporate and government saving, show the same trend decline as tax collec-
tion. This has resulted in widening current account deficits and reliance on foreign inflows to facilitate 
development. Efforts at raising domestic saving to finance national development should be stepped up. 
There are also instances in which private sector financing can be drawn into initiatives which the state 
undertakes. Road infrastructure would be one such example, where forms of private sector invest-
ment may be achievable, despite recent resistance to the e-toll arrangement applicable to Gauteng 
freeways. Another example that is clearly within government policy parameters is the Independent 
Power Producer initiative being pursued by Eskom, in which private sector proposals are invited for 
certain forms of power generation. Under these, the private sector parties are to provide the entire 
financing, and a supply contract entered into whereby Eskom or a sister central network operator 
purchases the power at a contracted rate. Fuel pipeline projects can be undertaken by private sector 
parities in somewhat similar vein, and such a project was considered by the state before reverting to 
have Transnet undertake the project a few years ago. Rail concessions, in which a certain rail line is 
operated by a private sector firm under contract to a state entity such as Transnet, have previously 
been contemplated, and could once again be a possibility. This would shift the requirement to finance 
rolling stock for the concession rail route to the private sector firm. At present, Transnet is undertaking 
a massive acquisition of rolling stock on its own balance sheet, which is material enough to affect the 
public debt situation of the country. The investment being undertaken by Transnet in rolling stock is 
of the order of R135billion.  The investment by Eskom in Medupi and Kusile power stations is around 
R280billion. A nuclear programme would add massively to this. Even if a portion of these investments, 
say 30%, could be met by private sector parties, the reduction in debt financing required by govern-
ment and its public corporations could be reduced by figures of R100billion or more. 

UNALLOCATED RESOURCES AND EXPENDITURE PRIORITISATION

3.18 In its submission on the 2014 fiscal framework and revenue proposals, the Commission noted that 
allocations in respect of the contingency reserve/unallocated resources20 were markedly lower than 
Budget 2013. MTBPS 2014 continues with this trend, at least in the first two years of the 2015 MTEF 
period. However by 2017/18, the amount set aside grows to R45 billion (see Table 5). Government 
has noted that these funds are to serve as a fiscal buffer in the years ahead. The Commission had at 
the time Budget 2014 was tabled, raised concern around the danger of excessive drawdowns on this 
resource and in so doing creating a risk of having too low reserves should an emergency situation arise. 
The maintenance of this fiscal buffer is therefore welcomed, particularly in the unstable economic 
environment.

<<
19 Tax buoyancy is a measure 
of how rapidly the actual 
revenue from a tax rises as 
the tax base rises.
20 The contingency reserve 
refers to an amount set aside 
but not allocated in advance 
to accommodate changes to 
the economic environment 
and to meet unforeseeable 
spending pressures (Budget 
Review, 2014).



Table 5: Adjustments to the unallocated reserves, 2013/14-2017/18

R billion  Budget   Revised   Deviations   Estimates  

Budget 2013 4.0 6.5 10.0  

MTBPS  2013  3.0 6.0 18.0

Budget 2014  3.0 6.0 18.0

MTBPS 2014 5.0 15.0 45.0

3.19 Projected growth in government expenditure has been revised downwards. In particular, growth 
in real, non-interest expenditure, which at the time of Budget 2014, was projected to average out at 2% 
per annum over the next three years, has been revised, as per the 2014 MTBPS, to below 1.5%.

3.20 Table 6 reports real growth of expenditure components from 2013/14 up until the end of the 2015 
MTEF period, 2017/18. Over the period, real annual average growth has been highest in the local gov-
ernment and social infrastructure, social protection and post-school education and training sectors. 
This is in line with government’s priorities around expanding access to basic services, job creation and 
maintaining the social wage.

3.21 Growth in the allocation to health slows to 3% and 2.9% in 2015/16 and 2016/17 respectively 
before strengthening to 4.1% by the end of the 2015 MTEF period. A reduction of 7.9% to the economic 
infrastructure and network regulations allocation in 2015/16 is cause for concern given that invest-
ment in economic infrastructure is vital to promote economic growth and development. However, this 
reduction is in all likelihood due to the stance taken by government that all economic infrastructure 
investments are to be financed from the balance sheets of state-owned companies. Real growth in 
the rural development and land reform component for 2015 is marginal at 0.2%. Given the re-opening 
of the land reform process and the additional resources that may be required to settle newly lodged 
claims, this level of growth is low. However government may be budgeting to settle any newly lodged 
claims during the two outer years of the 2015 MTEF period, as relatively strong real growth of 4.6% and 
3.2% is projected for 2016/17 and 2017/18 respectively. 

Source: Budget Review (2013; 
2014); MTBPS (2013, 2014).



Table 6: Real growth of expenditure components by functional classification

 
2013/14-
2014/15

2014/15-
2015/16

2015/16-
2016/17

2016/17-
2017/18

Real Annual 
Average 
Growth 
2015/16 
-2017/18

Basic education 2.7% 3.8% 2.6% 3.4% 3.0%

Health 4.7% 3.0% 2.9% 4.1% 3.5%

Defence, public order and 
safety

2.8% 1.4% 2.9% 3.4% 3.1%

Defence and state security 2.8% 1.2% 2.8% 3.0% 2.9%

Police services 2.2% 1.8% 2.6% 4.0% 3.3%

Law courts and prisons 4.4% 0.9% 3.6% 2.9% 3.2%

Post-school education and 
training

0.5% 8.2% 5.6% 2.3% 4.0%

Economic affairs 6.8% 0.6% 4.4% 1.6% 3.0%

Industrial development, trade 
and Innovation

2.7% 3.8% 3.6% -0.3% 1.6%

Employment, labour affairs and 
social security funds

14.9% 7.9% 4.4% 2.8% 3.6%

Economic infrastructure and 
network regulation

4.5% -7.9% 5.3% 2.3% 3.7%

Local development and social 
infrastructure

7.1% 9.7% 1.6% 3.2% 2.4%

Housing development and 
social infrastructure

7.2% 10.9% 1.2% 3.2% 2.2%

Rural development and land 
reform

-0.4% 0.2% 4.6% 3.2% 3.9%

Arts, sport, recreation and 
culture

14.5% -0.7% 6.7% 3.7% 5.2%

General public services 2.2% -1.2% -3.6% 2.4% -0.6%

Social protection 5.6% 4.6% 3.7% 3.8% 3.7%

Consolidated expenditure 5.0% 4.4% 3.9% 5.2% 4.5%

Source: MTBPS 2014. Commission’s calculations.



3.22 With respect to growth of functional categories over the 2015 MTEF period, the following is noted:

(a) The top functional categories driving growth in consolidated expenditure over the 2015 MTEF 
period, in order of highest real annual average growth, are: post-school education and training 
(4.0% per annum), rural development and land reform (3.9% per annum), social protection (3.7% 
per annum), economic infrastructure and network regulation (3.7% per annum), employment, 
labour affairs and social security funds (3.6% per annum) and health (3.5% per annum). The areas 
illustrating the strongest real growth rates are aligned to the economic and social development 
objectives contained in the MTSF and NDP.

(b) Expenditure categories illustrating relatively slower real growth over the 2015 MTEF are general 
public services, which is projected to decline by a real annual average of 0.6% over the next three 
years. Given the potential that investment in research and development can play in facilitating 
greater innovation, productivity and economic growth, government should take care to ensure that 
real growth in respect of industrial development, trade and innovation expenditure category is not 
weakened over the medium term. 

3.23 Table 7 provides details on the economic classification of consolidated government expenditure. 
Over the period reviewed (2013/14 to 2017/18), payments for capital assets records the highest real 
annual average growth rate (at 5.1%). Disaggregating this average growth to real year on year growth 
the following trends are notable:

(a) Real growth of compensation of employees is projected to slow from 4.4% in 2014/15 to 3.5% 
in 2015/16 – this level of growth is to be maintained over the 2015 MTEF period. Maintaining 
moderate growth of the wage bill is a key pillar with respect to government’s plans to ensure fiscal 
stability. Measures that will be effected are: freezing of all national department posts and a review 
of funding for vacant posts. Despite all the measures to curtail the growth of the wage bill, the fact 
that the wage bill of government is still showing a real growth over the medium term suggests 
government is still struggling to bring the wage bill under control. The challenge in restraining 
growth in this component was clearly illustrated during the previous three year period, where 
compensation of employees rose significantly by 27.4% - achieving the proposed lower growth 
of 21.1% over the coming three years will require massive restraint. The Commission has noted 
previously that wage increases should be linked to productivity. There is also a need to standardize 
wage scales across government to achieve fairness in the public officials ‘earnings. For example, 
Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) from some public entities are earning more than others while the 
earnings of Municipal Managers also differ across municipalities. This does not detract from the 
consideration that entities and municipalities vary in terms of size and skills and qualifications 
required to occupy senior positions.

(b) In line with the push to contain spending on goods and services, growth of this component 
slows down markedly over the 2015 and 2016 financial years. Whereas growth in this component 
reached 3% in real terms in 2014, growth is not projected to reach 1% in both 2015 and 2016.

(c) Allocations in respect of transfers and subsidies will grow from 4.8% in 2014 to a strong 6.1% in 
2015, before slowing significantly to 2.3% towards the end of the 2015 MTEF period. Growth in this 
item is largely in respect of transfers to households and subnational government.

3.24 Allocations in respect of capital show the strongest real average growth over the period par-
ticularly when compared to growth in current expenditure21. Over the 2015 MTEF period, growth in 
capital-related allocations range from 4.9% in 2015, down to 2.9% in 2016 before recovering to 4% by 
2017.Given government’s adoption of infrastructure-led growth, these trends are welcomed.

>>
21 Current expenditure is 
comprised of compensation 
of employees, goods and 
services and interest and 
rent on land.



Table 7: Real growth of consolidated government expenditure by economic classification

<<
22 The term post-school is 
used to refer to all education 
for people who have left 
school as well as for those 
adults who have never 
been to school but require 
education opportunities 
(Green Paper for post-school 
education and training)

R’ billion
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Real Annual 
Average 

Growth Rate

Compensation of employees 407.6 440.7 470.6 501.8 533.5 3.6%

Goods and services 177.8 189.5 193.8 200.2 213.0 3.7%

Transfers and subsidies 370.3 402.0 440.2 470.8 495.1 4.3%

Payments for capital assets 80.3 90.2 97.7 103.6 110.6 5.1%

Real Year on Year Growth (%) 2013/14-
2014/15

2014/15-
2015/16

2015/16-
2016/17

2016/17-
2017/18

Compensation of employees 4.4% 3.5% 3.6% 3.5%

Goods and services 2.9% -0.9% 0.4% 3.5%

Transfers and subsidies 4.8% 6.1% 3.9% 2.3%

Payments for capital assets 8.5% 4.9% 2.9% 4.0%

Source: MTBPS, 2014. Com-
mission’s calculations.

3.25 Housing Development and Social Infrastructure

(a) The Commission welcomes the strong priority attached to funding for housing and accompa-
nying basic infrastructure such as electricity, water, sanitation – this is proof of a more focused 
approach to attaining more sustainable human settlements. Over the 2015 MTEF period, R564.9 
billion is allocated in respect of housing development and social infrastructure. Between 2014 and 
2015, allocations in respect of this functional area are set to grow by a real rate of 10.9%.Strength-
ening resource allocations in respect of housing and basic services whilst welcomed is one part of 
the challenge. The other dimension relates to effective spending of increased resources. Roll-out of 
infrastructure, particularly at the local level, has been a challenge. Likewise, adequately maintaining 
and repairing infrastructure once established has been a concern at the local government level. 
The Commission is of the view that allocating money in the absence of technical support to mu-
nicipalities to assist either with roll-out of new infrastructure or care of existing assets, may result 
in potential benefits of infrastructure investment being foregone. As part of its Annual Submission 
for the 2014/15 Division of Revenue, the Commission made recommendations on how asset care 
at the local level can be improved – the suggested starting point is the need for legislation, similar 
to the 2008 Government Immovable Asset Management Act which regulates the management of 
immovable assets of national and provincial governments - however no corresponding legislation 
applies in local government.

3.26 Education

(a) Generally education is a priority over the 2015 MTEF period with post-school education22 and 
training in particular emphasised. Post-school education and training relates to funding for univer-
sities, colleges, sector education and training authorities and the National Skills Fund. 

(b) Post-school education and training is set to receive around R300 billion over the 2015 MTEF 
period – R59.5 billion in 2015/16, 64.7 billion in 2016/17 and R68.1 billion in 2017/18. Just over 
half of this allocation is in respect of subsidies to universities and contributions to the National 
Students Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS). The Commission welcomes the emphasis being placed 
on improving quality of education in the MTBPS. While the Commission agrees with the MTBPS 
that teacher training is critical, measures should also be taken against teachers who are absent 
from class without a valid explanation. Often teachers are engaged in work outside of school (e.g., 



appointed as mayor while still holding onto teaching jobs) which negatively impacts outcomes in 
the education sector.

(c) The Commission notes that from 2015/16, Further Education and Training (FET) and adult 
education and training functions will be transferred from provincial to national government. The 
Commission also notes funding from the provincial equitable share and FET colleges grant will 
shift with the function. In its submission on the FET function shift in 2013, the Commission stated 
that once the function is shifted to national government, the baseline funding model should not 
perpetuate past underfunding in some of the provinces. The Commission advised that additional 
funding should be used to ensure a more equitable distribution of resources across provinces. The 
Commission also advised Government further during the migration process of the function.

3.27 Health

(a) Just under 13% of the budget (excluding debt service costs) will be allocated in respect of health 
in 2015/16. Relative to 2014, real growth in the allocation to health will slow from 4.7% in 2014 to 
3% in 2015 and 2.9% in 2016. 

(b) Priority spending in health is related to expanding the provision of antiretroviral drugs – as a 
result the conditional grant through which this funding is channelled, is set to increase. At provin-
cial level, spending is largely driven by employee costs that has seen compensation of employees 
growing by 10% per annum for the last three years. Given government’s broader plans around 
curtailing the growth in employee costs, this is a situation that will need to be turned around.

(c) The prioritisation of antiretroviral treatments proposed in this year’s MTBPS is in line with the 
recommendations and findings of the Commission from 2011 in the context of Millennium Devel-
opment Goals (MDGs), as is Government’s continued emphasis on the need to achieve greater 
efficiencies and cost savings. While the Commission acknowledges these efforts, the significant 
resources in the health sector can also be put to more effective use by improving the overall 
efficiency in the system. In its 2015/16 Division of Revenue Submission, the Commission recom-
mended that wasteful expenditure should be identified, categorised (e.g. clinical waste, operational 
waste and behavioural waste) and addressed.  

(d) The Commission notes the high level working group being established by the Minister of Health 
to look into the impact of the National Health Insurance (NHI) on the IGFR. While the NHI may lead 
to a significant reconfiguration of health functions in the system, it will be important for the working 
group to consult broadly with all relevant stakeholders so that the ramifications of any recommen-
dations are fully understood. 

3.28 Job Creation and Social Protection

(a) Similar to the 2013 MTBPS, job creation initiatives remain a priority for government. Govern-
ment’s strategy to create jobs is multi-pronged and revolves around:

• Public Employment Programmes (Expanded Public Works Programmes (EPWP), Community 
Works Programme (CWP))

• Employment tax incentive

• Jobs Fund

(b) The Government Technical Advisory Centre (GTAC) has taken over the responsibility of managing 
the Jobs Fund from the Development Bank of South Africa. The Jobs Fund was launched in 2011 
and aimed at providing once-off grant funding in the areas of enterprise development, infrastruc-
ture, support for work seekers and institutional capacity building. Matching grants are awarded 
based on competitive process. The Commission welcomes the new strategy, which intends to seek 
partnerships with larger intermediaries in order to scale up activities. 



(c) The 2015 MTEF period sees efforts to protect and strengthen efforts to enhance job creation 
and maintain the social protection package growing the fastest and receiving proportionately more 
relative to other functional areas – employment, labour and social security projected to grow by a 
real annual average of 7.7% whilst social protection will grow by 4.4%. 

(d) While the economy is creating jobs, a large share of these jobs are temporary in nature. For real 
disposable income of households to improve, the economy will need to create sustainable jobs at 
a pace that can absorb new entrants into the labour market. Existing structural impediments that 
have led to a decline in the labour intensity of production is partly a reflection of labour market 
challenges that government must address.   

(e) The Commission welcomes the positive uptake on the employment tax incentive since the 
beginning of the financial year. The Commission would like to emphasize that the tax incentive 
grant should be aimed at creating ‘new jobs’ instead of jobs that would have been created ir-
respective of whether the incentive grant was available or not. 

4. Review of Actual Spending by National Departments and Provincial Govern-
ment – 1 April to 30 September 2014/15

4.1 Expenditure smoothing implies government spending that is evenly distributed through the four 
quarters of the financial year. If such smoothing were to occur, it would be expected that total expendi-
ture up to September would be at 50% of the main budget. This would of course differ depending on 
whether a government program that the department is dealing with is recurrent or capital-expenditure 
driven.  Expenditure smoothing would most likely lead to improved quality of spending and reduced 
level of unauthorised spending.

4.2 Table 8 shows aggregate spending and percentage spent six months into the 2014/15 financial year. 

(a) Total government spending is slightly below the assumed norm of 50%. Spending by all votes is 
about 3% under the norm (R302.3 billion of the main budget). With respect to the PES, 50% of the 
total amount has been transferred to provinces.

(b) Using selected national departments that are key in driving government priorities (education, 
health) and key built environment programmes for example, transport, energy and water and 
sanitation, government has spent in accordance with the norm (50.2%). Notwithstanding overall 
positive performance, an assessment of individual departmental performance shows somewhat 
uneven spending patterns. On the one hand certain departments far exceed the norm (Higher 
Education and Training spent 74.3% of its budget) whereas others such as the Human Settlements 
and Water and Sanitation departments have recorded spending rates of below 40%.Excessive devi-
ations below or above the norm is undesirable from an expenditure smoothing perspective. Unless 
a department’s annual performance or strategic plan explicitly identifies under or over spending as 
a chosen spending profile, departments should attempt to remain within the confines of spending 
performance guidelines.



Table 8: Aggregate spending and deviation from the norm 
(April-September 2014)

 
2014/15

R million Main  Revised   Deviations  

Total 1 142 562 551 703 48.3%

Total appropriation by vote 635 349 302 381 47.6%

Total direct charges against the National 
Revenue Fund

504 213 249 322 49.4%

General fuel levy 10 190 3 397 33.3%

Debt-service costs 114 901 56 563 49.2%

Provincial equitable share (National Treasury) 362 468 181 234 50.0%

Selected Key Budget Votes 306 007 153 638 50.2%

7 Public Works 6 121 3 014 49.2%

15 Basic Education 19 680 10 768 54.7%

16 Health 33 955 16 212 47.7%

17 Higher Education and Training 36 867 27 374 74.3%

21 Correctional Services 19 721 9 291 47.1%

25 Police 72 507 34 320 47.3%

26 Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 6 692 3 441 51.4%

28 Economic Development 697 318 45.7%

29 Energy 7 416 3 514 47.4%

31 Human Settlements 30 521 11 423 37.4%

33 Rural Development and Land Reform 9 455 4 459 47.2%

37 Transport 48 727 25 938 53.2%

42 Water and Sanitation 13 647 3 566 26.1%

Provincial Level 454 511 220 195 48.4%

Education 186 147 92 720 49.8%

Health 140 684 69 254 49.2%

Social Development 15 505 7 161 46.2%

Other 112 175 51 060 45.5%

Source: MTBPS 2014, Com-
mission’s calculations.

4.3 With respect to the key provincial competencies of education and health, provinces have spent in 
line with the norm. At the time of the 2013 MTBPS, social development spent 4.6% below the norm. This 
year spending performance is 3.8% below the 50% norm. 

4.4 Education and health are functions that are labour intensive in nature, hence recurrent expenditure 
forms the bulk of the education and health budgets. Of critical importance in terms of spending per-
formance is to ensure the wage agreements that are taking place are kept within agreed limits so that 
fiscal targets are achieved. The Commission welcomes the decision taken by government to review 
personnel budgets in the education sector to ensure they reflect medium term spending estimates. At 
the time of the 2013 MTBPS, spending by education and health in the provinces were 50.5% and 50% 
respectively. Both departments have therefore managed to marginally reduce spending compared to 
the 2013 MTBPS. 



5. Adjustment Estimates 2014/15

5.1 Annually government makes adjustments to the main, approved budget passed in February. These 
are expenditures that cannot be planned for in the beginning of the financial year. These adjustments 
are meant to cater for unforeseen and unavoidable expenditure. Generally expenditure requirements 
may be the result of an in-year rise in inflation, reimbursements to sub-national governments for the 
shortfalls in the agreed to salary adjustments for public servants or for refunding sub-nationals that ex-
perienced nationally declared natural disasters. Adjustments made for 2014/15 amount to R1.3 billion. 
The adjustments are funded through the R3 billion unallocated reserves set aside in 2014.

5.2 The largest category of adjustments (R789.6 million) are with respect to unforeseeable and una-
voidable expenditure. The following is noted: 

(a) R350 million incurred by International Relations and Cooperation due to the impact of deprecia-
tion of the Rand on foreign currency denominated expenditure,

(b) R156.9 million incurred by Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs due to repair of in-
frastructure damaged by disasters. The Commission welcomes the R156 million made available 
for post-disaster reconstruction and the rehabilitation of infrastructure in Eastern Cape, Gauteng, 
KwaZulu-Natal Limpopo, Mpumalanga and the Western Cape. Government should be commended 
for its agile responsiveness in making funding available for immediate cost of disaster incurred 
by provinces and municipalities through a special conditional grant. The Commission remains 
convinced that the long term solution should be development of an integrated approach to disaster 
risks management. In particular government needs to encourage and incentivise where appropri-
ate the use of innovative market based financing for disaster relief and recovery (for example, risk 
pooling, reinsurance, derivatives, and micro-insurance and catastrophe bonds).

(c) R63.1 million incurred by Public Enterprises due to government indemnity provided to Denel 
Aerostructures for the ninth claim submitted for damages/losses in respect of the A400M military 
aircraft contracts,

(d) R57.7 million incurred due to the reorganisation of national departments as announced in May 
2014 (R33.7 million for establishment of the Department of Small Business Development, R12 
million for the establishment of the Environmental Affairs ministry and deputy ministry and R12 
million in respect of the establishment of the Communications ministry and deputy ministry).As 
advised in its submission on the 2014 Appropriation Bill, the Commission welcomes the approach 
of waiting for the Adjustments Bill to effect changes required as a result of the reorganisation of 
national departments. 

(e) R34.6 million incurred by Water and Sanitation due to emergency national government interven-
tions in respect of Lekwa-Teamane local municipality as a result of maintenance and operations of 
the waste water treatment and bulk water treatment plants. 

5.3 Declared unspent funds amounted to R1 billion of which the bulk refers to underspending on pro-
grammes aimed at job creation (R561 million unspent on Employment Creation Facility) and economic 
development (R79 million underspent on tourism incentive grant). While it makes sense to reallocate 
funds where it is not spent, resources taken away from programmes aimed at stimulating economic 
growth undermines government’s efforts to kick start the economy. There is also a R250 million 
decrease in respect of social grant payment estimates. The decrease is as a result of lower uptake on 
the old age grant due to new means test adjustment. Government has also projected a R3.65 billion 
underspending by national government.  

5.4 The adjustments budget makes provision amounting to R157.7 million for roll-overs. The Com-
mission welcomes the continued reduction in roll-overs that began with the 2013 MTBPS where the 
amount of roll-overs was reduced from R1.5 billion (2012) to R894 million. The sustained reduction in 
roll-overs suggests that government is exercising stricter controls with respect to monitoring expendi-
ture and roll-over requests. 



5.5 Whilst declining significantly compared to the 2013 MTBPS, two departments continue to dominate 
requests for roll-overs, namely Water and Sanitation (formerly Water Affairs) and Cooperative Govern-
ance. 

5.6 Between 2010 and 2012, Rural Development and Land Reform, Health and Human Settlements 
recorded high roll-overs. However these departments have since reduced their roll-overs to zero. 

Table 9: Roll-overs of selected national votes, 2010/11 - 2014/15

R'million 2010 
MTBPS

2011 
MTBPS

2012 
MTBPS

2013 
MTBPS

2014 
MTBPS

Total

Total 3737 1789 1506 894 157.7 8083.7

Selected Budget Votes

Cooperative Governance 430.8 5.6 139.5 72 80.2 728.1

Public Works 120 0 87.1 0 0 207.1

Basic Education 1 29.9 104.7 14.7 9.7 160

Health 49.8 231.3 87.2 22.2 0 390.5

Social Development 0 0 0 0 10.5 10.5

Agriculture, Forestry and 
Fisheries

15.6 37.5 68.2 0 0 121.3

Communication 19.8 112.2 0 0 0 132

Energy 61 88.2 25.8 28.1 18.9 222

Human Settlements 82.7 64.6 13.5 120.5 0 281.3

Rural Development and Land 
Reform

495.7 0 96 0 0 591.7

Water Affairs/Water and 
Sanitation

79 145.8 416.6 188 28.7 858.1

Source: Adjusted Estimates 
of National Expenditure, 
2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014. 
Commission’s calculations.



6. Conclusion

6.1 In May 2014, the Commission tabled at Parliament its Annual Submission for the 2015/16 Division of 
Revenue. Under the theme of “balancing fiscal sustainability with socio-economic impact”, the Submis-
sion agrees in most aspects with the 2014 MTBPS that has been crafted in a constrained environment 
characterised by downward economic growth forecasts. Bearing this in mind, Government has done a 
good job that promises a deficit reduction programme for the next three years and thereby prevents 
public debt from spiralling out of control. 

6.2 Overall, the 2014 MTBPS re-affirms and reflects the major thrust and spirit of the recommendations 
that the Commission has been making since the onset of the global economic crisis: that growth and 
employment in South Africa can only be achieved by combining fiscal consolidation and investment 
into future growth given the prevailing economic climate. 

6.2.1 The Commission welcomes the position in the MTBPS of emphasising the need to get value 
for money from Government programmes.

6.2.2 Given the current negative economic outlook, the Commission also welcomes government’s 
position on fiscal consolidation and tightening measures to maintain expenditure sustainability.

6.2.3 To enhance growth and employment, Government should continue re-directing government 
spending towards activities that directly or indirectly create jobs through enhancing productivity 
performance. The emphasis on education as the number one priority is commendable in this effort 
towards productivity improvements. The Commission also welcomes the strong growth in alloca-
tions to capital compared to current expenditures.

6.2.4 Given the tight fiscal framework, the Commission commends efforts by Government to 
protect conditional grants, which are fundamental in maintaining and improving service delivery 
to communities. The Commission supports the proposed review of conditional grants, addressing 
identified weaknesses it has raised in the past and will continue engaging with government and 
other stakeholders in the exercise. 

6.3 The Commission is in agreement with the proposed adjustments estimates and alerts Parliament 
to some of the issues that are raised in this submission

6.4 Government should review the Provincial Government Fiscal Framework with a view to ensuring 
its long term viability.

6.5 Finally, what is very clear is that the economy remains far below the economic growth rates required 
to make the dent on unemployment and inequality. Rebuilding state capabilities should continue to be 
prioritised with efforts aimed at both economic and social capabilities for citizens and infrastructure 
and how these will be managed within the context of current consolidation measures. In this regard, 
much more needs to be done still to implement the National Development Plan and the Medium Term 
Strategic Framework. 



Appendix D: Submission on the 2015 Division of Revenue Bill

1. Background

1.1. This Submission on the 2015 Division of Revenue (DoR) Bill is made in terms of Section 214 (1) of 
the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (1996) and Section 35 of the Intergovernmental Fiscal 
Relations (IGFR) Act (1998). 

1.2. Section 9 of the IGFR Act require the Financial and Fiscal Commission (FFC) to make recommenda-
tions on (a) an equitable division of revenue raised nationally, among the national, provincial and local 
spheres of government, (b) the determination of each province’s equitable share in the provincial 
share of that revenue and (c) any other allocations to provinces or municipalities from the national 
government’s share of that revenue, and any conditions on which those allocations should be made. 
The FFC recommendations were tabled in May 2014.

1.3. Submissions on the fiscal framework, revenue proposals and policy stance will be tabled sepa-
rately to the Chairpersons of the Finance Committees under the Money Bills Amendment Procedure 
and Related Matters Act, Act No 9 of 2009.

1.4. The Commission is in agreement with the general thrust of the 2015 DoR Bill as it resonates with 
the spirit of its submission. The tight macroeconomic and fiscal environment requires bold decisions to 
bring the trajectory of public spending trends in line with available revenue. In its 2015/16 submission 
the Commission reiterated the need for government to maintain fiscal consolidation as a means to 
achieve sustainability and most importantly to ensure productive spending and social spending that 
benefits poor people is not cut. Coupled with tax changes to generate more revenues, Government has 
proposed spending reductions on non-essential items while major poverty reduction and job creation 
programmes have been protected. Expenditure ceilings continue to be an important policy tool for 
ensuring that government closes its structural budget deficit over the medium term and Government 
has agreed with the Commission recommendation that maintaining this ceiling should not be done 
using across-the-board cuts but focus should be on poorly managed programmes. 

1.5. As done last year, Government in consultation with the FFC has classified FFC’s recommendations 
into: recommendations that apply directly or indirectly to the division of revenue and recommenda-
tions that do not relate to the division of revenue. Responses in the explanatory memorandum accom-
panying the DoR Bill are provided for those directly and indirectly related to the division of revenue. 
Recommendations that do not apply to the division of revenue are being considered and responded to 
by the appropriate national departments. Parliament is invited to follow through on the responses and 
commitments made by the departments to implement the recommendations. 

2. General and Specific Comments on the 2014 Division of Revenue Bill

A. OVERVIEW AND GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF THE 2015 DIVISION OF REVENUE BILL

2.1. Local government infrastructure conditional grants reform: A new clause 14 has been included 
in the 2015 DoR Bill to institutionalise the Built Environment Performance Plan (BEPP) as a tool for 
changing the spatial development patterns of cities. Metros are required to submit council-approved 
BEPPs that give a strategic summary of how the grants will be used to develop a more integrated and 
efficient city. Municipalities that are able to meet these requirements are rewarded with an incentive 
through the Integrated City Development Grant. BEPPs are a welcome development because they give 
direct expression to other important intentions of the DoR Bill such as furthering all municipalities’ 
financial capacity, certainty and accountability and altering the efficiency of spatial form. This is over 
and above the usual intent of greater revenue equity. On the capital subsidy side the introduction 
of the Integrated City Development Grant (ICDG) is thus been really important. The requirements for 
submitting BEPPs should be extended to cover national and provincial spheres with concurrent local 
function so that they align their spending plans with that of municipalities to foster better integration. 
Furthermore, small municipalities must also be assisted where necessary to maximise the benefit of 
integrated planning and efficient land use.



2.2. Consistency in function shifting and/assignment: The Commission is concerned with the general 
issue of shifting of sub functions and the issue of National Port Health function is a case in point. 
Government’s argument rests on the understanding that national ports health is a sub-function of gov-
ernment and only a complete function would require the Commission to assess its impact. While this 
assertion has merit, nevertheless, the definition of a sub-function is often not implemented consist-
ently and this can circumvent more stringent oversight requirements that has direct fiscal implication 
for intergovernmental fiscal system. Government, in consultation with the Commission, should clarify 
the distinction between a sub-function and a complete function shift and circumstances when an 
assessment by the Commission is required. 

2.3. Even in the case of a sub-functions, funds are shifted and often there are disagreements between 
parties over the appropriate amount of funds to be shifted and how such funds should be reallocated. 
The Further Education and Training (FET) function shift in particular experienced delays in the target 
implementation date of the function shift because of such budget disputes. Postponing the implemen-
tation date by one year provided opportunity for the necessary consultation processes to take place 
between Government and the Commission. Overall the Commission welcomes the FET function shift 
and in particular the process followed by Government to take its recommendations into account. 

2.4. The National Health Laboratory Services (NHLS): This function is expected to shift from 
provinces to national government at the beginning of the 2015/16 financial year.  The shifting of the 
function was triggered by an inflated tariff structure imposed on provinces to cross subsidise the 
research functions of the NHLS. The shift represents a funding shift. Aspects related to NHLS are a 
national competence located within tertiary hospitals across the 9 provinces. Hence its activities, 
guidelines and operations are coordinated by the Department of Health. However, a unique aspect of 
the arrangement is that, included in transfers to provinces, is an amount to cater for payments for lab-
oratory-related services done by NHLS for provincial patients. Together with the tariff structure in place, 
this funding arrangement itself has elements of cross subsidization. To ensure tariff reflects costs, 
the proposal in shifting the funding requires a reduction in the provincial equitable share allocated 
to provinces to cater for volume of tests done within their specific jurisdictions, where such reduc-
tions is balanced out by a commensurate decrease in tariffs23. Reforms to cross subsidisation, if done 
comprehensively and with a view at raising efficiencies, could potentially be beneficial in the medium 
term through for example change in purchasing arrangements and other reforms that could improve 
efficiencies  in the medium-term.

2.5. While the need to address cross-subsidization is welcomed and should ideally be done as a whole 
of Government exercise rather than piecemeal, the shift being proposed here represents a trend with 
potential risks to the intergovernmental fiscal relations (IGFR) system. Recent trends of national gov-
ernment to gradually takeover different elements of provincial functional packages especially within 
health have been witnessed. Examples include forensic pathology services, ports health and now 
NHLS. Such shifting of functions and its impact on the fiscal framework in the short-term is cause for 
concern in that with every takeover, the provincial equitable share baseline is permanently eroded.

2.6. Improving the performance of infrastructure conditional grants: In its 2014 submission 
on the DoR Bill, the Commission welcomed progress made with respect to the implementation of the 
performance based allocation framework for provincial infrastructure conditional grants. The Com-
mission further recommended that the same performance allocation regime be extended to national 
infrastructure conditional grants such as the School Infrastructure Backlogs Grant given the high levels 
of under-spending. Government has responded favourably to the recommendation as roads infra-
structure grants will be subjected to the new allocation framework in the 2015/16 financial year. The 
Commission is however concerned about the inability of certain provinces (Limpopo and Mpumalanga) 
to meet the minimum threshold for receiving the incentive and the possibility of having parts of the 
incentive remain unallocated. The National Treasury in conjunction with the relevant departments must 
identify the reasons for underperformance in these provinces and address them. In the interim the un-
allocated part of the incentive should be reallocated to other pressing spending areas. Keeping budget 
unallocated is against the general principle of the Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) and 
runs the risk of opening the budget unnecessarily to sporadic drawdowns especially in instances 
where funds are not committed. 

<<
23 The proposal is to reduce 
the provincial equitable 
share baseline by R600 
million and transfer this to 
national government on 
condition that NHLS drops 
their tariffs by 10 percent.



2.7. Local government conditional grant review: The Commission continues to support the review of the 
Local Government Infrastructure Grants that is currently underway and led by the National Treasury, in 
partnership with Department of Cooperative Governance  (DCoG), Department of Planning, Monitoring 
and Evaluation, and South African Local Government Association (SALGA). The Commission commits 
itself to supporting and actively participating in this process, as it deems the review to be critical given 
the funding constraints faced by the local government sphere in the rollout of infrastructure projects. 

B. SPECIFIC COMMENTS ON THE 2015 DIVISION OF REVENUE BILL

2.8. Part 2 clause 9 (1) (b) is a new clause that places emphasis on performance monitoring of grants. 
Through this clause, the DoR Bill places emphasis on the need for national departments to closely 
monitor the impact and progress made by Urban Settlements Development Grant (USDG) and ICDG 
grants. Clause 14 (1) further stipulates the need for receiving officers, specifically that they must submit 
built environment performance plans on infrastructure projects which are funded through ICDG, USDG, 
Public Transport Infrastructure Grant (PTIG), Neighbourhood Development Partnership Grant or Inte-
grated National Electrification Programme Grant (INEP). This clause is welcomed by the Commission 
because it provides a way of ensuring that appropriated funds result in accelerated growth and devel-
opment through legislated performance monitoring which is essential for ensuring value for money. 
Issues pertaining to monitoring and evaluation as well as expenditure planning are a part of day to 
day fiscal management and operations and should ideally be highlighted in relevant processes and 
operational manuals rather than be made a part of the DoR Bill. 

2.9. The Commission welcomes the clarification with respect to the duties of the transferring officers 
wherein a clause has been added ensuring that they do not withhold or stop allocations without 
providing reasons for such stoppages. This development is an important milestone which should be 
extended to include a need to report on what steps and improvements are made by the national de-
partment after the act of withholding and stopping allocations. This is important to ensure that national 
intervention brings about positive change in the administration of transfers.

3. National Fiscal Framework

3.1. Table 10 outlines the fiscal framework for the 2015 MTEF period. Over the next three years, Gov-
ernment is expected to spend R3.95 trillion relative to a revenue envelope of R3.48 trillion. Over the 
2015 MTEF period, real annual average growth in expenditure is projected at 4.8 percent. A relatively 
stronger 6.8 percent growth is projected in respect of revenue. Reducing growth in expenditure is to 
be driven by a combination of cost containment measures and efforts to improve the efficiency of 
spending. Stronger growth in revenue will be achieved through adjustments to tax policy. 

3.2. The table also details the division of nationally raised revenue amongst the three spheres of gov-
ernment. In 2015/16 financial year, baseline reductions have been effected across all three spheres 
of government, resulting in slower real growth (3.6 percent) relative to 2014/15 financial year. As 
discussed earlier, commencing in 2015 there will be two functions (FET Colleges and Adult Basic 
Education and Port Health) shifted from the provincial to national sphere of government. This shift 
will reduce the share of revenue allocated to provinces from 43.1 percent in 2014/15 to 42.9 percent 
in 2015/16, equivalent to R2.3 billion being shifted to the national sphere. In terms of the division of 
revenue and in absolute terms, national departments are allocated the largest portion of non-interest 
allocations amounting to R522 billion in 2015/16. Relative to the provincial and national spheres the 
allocation to local government shows the strongest real growth of 8.5 percent in 2015/16. Real growth 
in total non-interest allocations are projected to slow to 2.8 percent in 2016/17, with allocations to 
local government in particular projected to show marginal growth of just over 1 percent. In terms of 
real annual average growth over the 2015 MTEF period, local government allocations are set to grow 
the least at 2.1 percent per annum whilst allocations to provinces project the strongest growth at 3.1 
percent per annum.



Table 1: Division of Nationally Raised Revenue, 2012/13-2017/18 

Outcome Revised 
Estimate Medium Term Estimates

R'million 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

National Departments 420 015 453 171 491 368 522 992 553 778 586 087

Provinces 380 929 410 572 439 661 468 159 496 259 526 382

Local Government 76 430 82 836 89 076 99 753 103 936 110 017

Non-interest Allocations 877 374 946 579 1 020 
105

1 090 
904

1 153 
973

1 222 
486

Real Year on Year Growth

National Departments 4.4% 4.7% 3.1% 2.9% 3.0%

Provinces 4.3% 3.4% 3.2% 3.0% 3.2%

Local Government 4.8% 3.9% 8.5% 1.2% 3.0%

Non-interest Allocations 4.4% 4.1% 3.6% 2.8% 3.1%

3.3. Table 11 summarises the division of revenue allocations at the national sphere specifically high-
lighting the extent of indirect transfers to provinces and local government. Direct and indirect condi-
tional grants affect the entire IGFR system. Indirect transfers to subnational governments show strong 
real growth over the period reviewed, particularly in the case of local government. The Commission 
reiterates its previous concern around grant proliferation and re-emphasises the need for adequate 
planning and monitoring of grant performance. These aspects are all the more important in the case of 
indirect grants where spending is by a national department on behalf of subnational government but 
where the asset created ultimately becomes the responsibility of a province or municipality.

Table 2: Overview of Revenue Allocations within National Departments, 
2012/13-2017/18

Source: Commission com-
pilations based on Budget 
Review 2014 and 2015

R'million 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Real Annual 
Average 
Growth 
2012/13-
2017/18

National Departments 
of which:

420 015 453 171 491 368 522 992 553 778 586 087 3.60%

Indirect transfers to 
provinces

2 315 2 693 4 116 3 458 3 596 3 967 8.0%

Indirect transfers to 
local government

4 548 5 523 8 536 10 395 10 634 10 916 15.5%

Source: Commission com-
pilations based on Budget 
Review 2014 and 2015.

SECTOR SPECIFIC ALLOCATIONS

3.4. Over the 2015 MTEF period, interventions related to social services namely, education, health and 
social protection continue to be prioritised by Government. In 2015/16, education, health and social 
protection are allocated 19.7 percent, 11.6 percent and 11.5 percent of consolidated expenditure re-
spectively. Allocations in respect of social protection are projected to show the highest real annual 
average growth of 3.7 percent relative to Education (2.9 percent) and Health (3.3 percent). Notable 
policy developments in these three sectors include:



3.5. Social Protection: Social Development: The spending focus over the MTEF is on payment of social 
assistance grants to the vulnerable and strengthening Government’s response to substance abuse. 
In 2014/15, a new grant was established to set up substance abuse centres in the Northern Cape, 
Eastern Cape, North-West and Free State provinces. The Commission welcomes the priority attached 
to strengthening the system of social assistance grants. This is aligned with the recommendation made 
by the Commission for the 2014/15 and 2015/16 DoR. Research carried out by the Commission showed 
that spending on social grants, particularly the Child Support Grant, enhances intergenerational equity 
and promotes productive efficiency and human capital development24. The Commission would like to 
express its concern regarding the huge disparities in the funding of child welfare services, an issue 
that was raised in its recent report on “The Provision and Funding of Child Welfare Services in South 
Africa”25. Government also needs to improve its monitoring systems so that funds disbursed to non-
profit organisations (NPOs) are properly accounted for and efficiently spent. With backlogs in the social 
sector substantial, the Commission calls on Government to put in place a proper funding model that 
prioritizes welfare services in an equitable manner, in line with its recommendations.

3.6. Education: Post-school education26 and training relates to funding for universities, colleges, sector 
education and training authorities and the National Skills Fund. This education component is key in 
building a skilled and capable work force. A key development that takes effect from 2015/16 is the 
shift of the FET and adult education and training function from provincial to national government. 
In line with the FFC Act, the Commission was consulted and supported the shifting of the function 
from provinces to the Department of Higher Education and Training. According to the 2015 State of 
the Nation Address, priority will be afforded to infrastructure supporting post-school education and 
training with construction of twelve new technical and vocational education and training colleges to 
be initiated. 

3.7. Health: Expanding the provision of antiretroviral drugs is a priority spending area for Government. 
A state-owned pharmaceutical company (Ketlaphela) has been established to assist in supplying anti-
retrovirals to the Department of Health. This is an innovative development which resonates well with 
a previous Commission recommendation made in 2011 calling on Government to prioritise attainment 
of education and HIV-related Millennium Development Goals (MDG). Their attainment, in turn, was 
shown to have positive impacts in the achievement of other MDGs27. Government should ensure that 
this agency is managed well.

4. Provincial Fiscal Framework and Medium Term Priorities

PROVINCIAL EQUITABLE SHARE

4.1. Table 12 shows the 2015/16 provincial fiscal framework inclusive of conditional grants. Within the 
constraints of reduced overall economic growth compared with earlier forecasts and an associated 
reduction in budgeted revenue growth, the total allocations to provinces are revised downwards by 
R9.5 billion when compared to the 2014 DoR Bill. Much of this downward revision is a result of across 
the board reductions in baseline budgets, function shifts and adjustment to funding arrangements 
as previously discussed. The Commission notes that much of these changes and the subsequent 
downward revision of the provincial fiscal framework was factored into the 2014 Medium Term Budget 
Policy Statement (MTBPS) thereby allowing sufficient time for spending programmes to be updated 
and creating much needed stability in planning for the 2015/16 financial year. Since publication of the 
revised provincial fiscal framework in the 2014 MBTPS, a further R1.4 billion reduction was made to 
the 2015/16 provincial baseline budget as a result of the worsening fiscal outlook and reprioritization 
within government. The reductions to the budget baseline is taken from underspending programmes 
and cuts on non-core spending areas. The Commission welcomes the balanced approach adopted 
with respect to reductions whereby key service delivery areas are protected while expenditure cuts 
are carried out on inefficient programmes.

>>
24 Further information 
regarding the Commission’s 
research and recommenda-
tions on this issue can 
be found in the 2014/15 
Submission for the Division 
of Revenue (see Chapter 
Two: Economic and Social 
Value of Social Grants). The 
document can be accessed 
at: www.ffc.co.za
25 This report is available 
at http://www.ffc.co.za/
index.php/media-a-events-
interactive/public-hearings/
child-welfare-services
26 According to the Green 
Paper for Post-School 
Education and Training, the 
term ‘post-school education’ 
refers to education for 
people who have left school 
as well as for those adults 
who have never been to 
school but require education 
opportunities.
27 This recommendation 
is contained in the FFC’s 
Submission for the Division 
of Revenue 2012/13. For 
more information see 
Chapter Two: Inclusive 
Growth, Development and 
Fiscal Policy. The document 
can be accessed at: www.
ffc.co.za.



Table 3: Changes to Provincial Fiscal Framework 

R'million 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Changes from 2013 DoRB to 2014 MTBPS -4223 -9239 -11454

Changes from 2014 DoRB to 2015 MTBPS -9481 -11995

Changes from 2015 DoRB to 2016 MTBPS -242 -541 -617
Source: Commission 
compilations based on 
DoR Bills (2014, 2015) and 
MTBPS (2014)

4.2. A key fiscal risk to the provincial framework identified at the time of the 2014 MTBPS is the pos-
sibility of the wage bargaining agreements significantly outpacing inflation. The Commission support 
efforts to moderate the growth in the wage bill. The Commission has previously noted that wage 
increases should be linked to productivity. There is also a need to standardize wage scales across 
government to achieve fairness in the earnings of public officials without necessarily detracting from 
the consideration that entities and municipalities vary in terms of size, skills and qualifications required 
to occupy senior positions. For example, the salaries of Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) from public 
entities vary considerably while the earnings of Municipal Managers also differ across municipalities. 

4.3. Both the provincial equitable share (PES) and conditional grants are expected to grow at slightly 
above inflation over the MTEF period, although conditional grants are projected to grow at a marginally 
faster pace. This trend is consistent with historical patterns that have seen conditional grants grow 
consistently faster than any other provincial revenue source since 1996. On this basis, one would 
expect service delivery would not be any worse off than in previous years but should instead be 
expected to improve given that real growth of PES and conditional grants is positive. The Commission 
would like to emphasize the need for provinces to prioritize appropriately so that key service delivery 
areas continue to expand while non-core areas are deprioritized. National Departments should fulfil 
their responsibilities of providing support, monitoring and oversight to provinces as well as prescribing 
funded and enforceable norms and standards. This will ensure long term sustainability of the intergov-
ernmental system while also allowing subnational government to carry out the functions they have 
been assigned in the Constitution. 

Table 4: MTEF Growth Rates of Provincial Grant Transfers 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

PES 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%

Conditional Grants 1.3% 0.9% 1.7%

Source: Commission 
compilations based on 
DoR Bill (2015) and Budget 
Review (2015)

4.4. The PES formula was updated with new data from the 2014 October midyear estimates, 2014 data on 
school enrolment, 2013 data from October Household Survey for medical aid coverage and health sector 
data for indicators comprising the health component of the formula. The Commission continues to be in 
support of efforts to update the PES formula with the latest data. This enhances the credibility and reli-
ability of the PES mechanism. The phasing-in of changes to provincial allocations as a result of the census 
2011 data was expected to come to an end in 2015/16. The Commission however, supports the decision 
to extend the phasing-in period for another year to buffer provinces that were at risk of experiencing a 
real decline in their budgets. Stability in the IGFR system is critical and decisions taken should not com-
promise equity and service delivery considerations as provinces transition to their new allocations. The 
Commission however, would like to reiterate the need for National Government to provide provinces with 
the necessary support as they absorb the adjustments and transition to their new allocations. 

PROVINCIAL CONDITIONAL GRANTS ADJUSTMENTS 

Human	Settlements	

4.5. Over the 2015 MTEF, there is no new major development in the sector. However, a total of R3.3 
billion over the 2015 MTEF has been ring-fenced within the HSDG for the upgrading of human set-
tlements in mining town in six provinces. The Commission, in its 2014 Submission on the DoR Bill 
indicated that the government should not make an assumption that all people in informal settlements 
around mining areas prefer housing ownership. The Commission therefore recommended that govern-



ment also considers rental option or a balanced mix. In 2014/15, a once-off amount of R180 million was 
allocated to accelerate upgrading of informal settlements in mining towns. This implies that the project 
was anticipated to be completed within one financial year. In this regard, the Commission recommends 
that in future the life span of conditional grants should be adhered to. 

4.6. With respect to the downward revisions to the HSDG, two downward adjustments will be imple-
mented. Firstly a reduction of R411.4 million in 2015/16 and secondly a further R240 million reduction 
over the 2015 MTEF which has been reprioritised to the Housing Development Agency (HDA) as some 
of the planning and project development work previously carried out by provinces now shifts to 
HDA. The HSDG will be reduced despite its good performance over the years in terms of spending. 
Downward adjustment is likely to negatively affect the delivery of housing in terms of housing units 
delivered per annum. The National Department of Human Settlements therefore needs to put in place 
some mechanisms to mitigate the effect of this downward adjustment from derailing existing human 
settlements projects. This is more important given that the scale and funding of housing delivery falls 
short of existing housing demand. Reprioritisation of funding to HDA is in line with the principle of 
funding following a function. The Commission recommends that proper costing be conducted before 
deciding on the amount to be shifted to ensure that HDA is not disadvantaged with respect to funding 
and the provinces are not disadvantage as this will affect housing delivery. Following the shifting of 
sanitation function from the Department of Human Settlements to the Department of Water Affairs 
and Sanitation (DWAS) in 2014, sanitation related grants have been shifted to DWAS. The Commission 
supports this shifting of sanitation related grants following the function shift but recommends that the 
processes and procedure to be followed when shifting a function still be followed. 

4.7. With respect to the Municipal Human Settlements Capacity Grant, a downward adjustment of R200 
million will be effected in 2015/16. This grant was introduced in 2014/15 to fund the six metropolitan 
municipalities that were due to be assigned the housing function. A number of challenges were expe-
rienced in 2014 that led to the decision by the Human Settlements MinMec to review the accredita-
tion process and the assignment of housing function to six metropolitan municipalities. In a MinMec 
meeting of 4 July 2015, a decision was taken to withhold transfers to the six metropolitan municipali-
ties. The Commission supports the baseline reduction since this grant is still new and had challenges 
in 2014. Furthermore, funding from the grant for 2015/16 is extended to include all eight metropolitan 
municipalities. In this regard, the Commission reiterates earlier recommendations that appropriate 
processes and procedures be followed when contemplating a function shift. The Commission further 
recommends that an assignment of housing function which includes a readiness assessment should 
be undertaken on individual municipalities. 

Health	Grants	

4.8. The Commission notes baseline reductions in the health conditional grants in 2015/16.  The 
National Tertiary Services Grant is revised downwards by R237.9 million. The Health Facility Revitalisa-
tion grant is reduced by R122.8 million while the Health Professions Training and Development Grant, 
the National Health Insurance Grant and the National Health Grant are revised downwards by R539.9 
million, R1.9 million and R352.7 million respectively over the MTEF. Reasons for the reductions in the 
baselines include among other things reprioritisations and underspending. The extent of the reprior-
itisation within the health sector conditional grants is extremely high. The Commission would like to 
recommend that baseline reductions of this magnitude be preceded by a thorough expenditure review 
to determine the extent to which the objectives of the grant are affected. In particular the Commission 
is concerned about infrastructure component of the National Health Grant being reprioritised out of 
this grant (i.e. a total of R352.7 million ) to offset the reductions in the baseline of the Comprehensive 
HIV and Aids Treatment Grant. The infrastructure component of this grant plays a critical role towards 
National Health Insurance (NHI) reforms in terms of funding for new and existing health infrastructure 
and therefore its reduction is a concern. 

4.9. The Commission would like to further re-iterate its previous stance regarding the need for stream-
lining of grants with same purpose. The National Health Grant has same objectives as the Health Facility 
Revitalisation Grant with regards to infrastructure related projects while it also has same objectives 
with regards to the NHI Grant. Further, the Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) component of this grant will be 
allocated for two years (2014/15 and 2015/16) and thereafter (2016/17) it will be phased into the PES. 
Before such a phase in take place government should assess whether the original intended objective 
of the grant have been met or not.  



Education Grants

4.10. The Commission welcomes the merger of the Dinaledi Schools Grant and the Technical Secondary 
Schools Recapitalisation Grant into a new grant called the Maths, Science and Technology Grant. This 
is in line with previous Commission recommendations on streamlining grants with the same purpose. 
The grant is allocated R18 billion over the MTEF. 

4.11. The Occupational Specific Dispensation (OSD) for education sector therapists introduced in 
2014/15 will be phased into the PES in the 2016/17 financial year.  While the Commission supports 
gradual phase in of conditional grant into the PES, it is important that such transfers are not accom-
panied by transfer of financial risks by national government to provinces. Therefore, the Commission 
would like to re-iterate that once this grant is phased into the PES, there would be a need to ensure 
that provinces spend the funds efficiently and that allocated budgets are not overspent on personnel 
at the expense of other sector priorities. 

4.12. Reductions on the baseline of the School Infrastructure Backlog Grant are a source of great 
concern to the Commission. The School Infrastructure Backlog Grant plays a critical role in building 
and upgrading schools in poor areas and is one of the key inputs to improving education outcomes28. 

5. Local Government Fiscal Framework and Adjustments to Conditional Grants
5.1. Over the 2015 MTEF, the local government sphere will receive about 9 percent of total nationally 
raised revenues. This amounts to R 313.7 billion in both conditional and non-conditional grants. In 
line with the tight fiscal space, the local government, like any other sphere, will experience reduced 
expenditure ceilings, save for the local equitable share (LES) and infrastructure grants allocations. 

5.2. Allocations to the local government sphere continue to grow in real terms for the 2015 financial 
year, with significant growth in water, sanitation and electricity grants. This is in alignment with the 
‘Back to Basics’ plan announced by Government. The Commission welcomes this growth and ap-
preciates the alignment between the LES and the ‘Back to Basics’ strategy as well as the National 
Development Plan (NDP). The sharp increase in the integrated national electrification programme and 
municipal water infrastructure grants over the MTEF begins to give effect to this alignment. 

Local Government Equitable Share

5.3. Following an extensive review of the formula in 2012/13, there are no major changes to the formula 
in the 2015/2016 financial year. The new formula continues to benefit rural municipalities. As the main 
funding instrument for free basic services, the LES allocations continues to experience positive real 
growth (5.6 percent) into the MTEF. 

5.4. The Commission continues to view the revised LES as relevant to the current South African realities, 
and recognises that the proportion of revenue coming from national transfers and own revenues 
varies dramatically across municipalities; with rural municipalities receiving most of their revenue from 
transfers, while metros and urban municipalities raise the majority of their own revenues. The Commis-
sion will continue to investigate further own-revenue alternatives for municipalities and contribute to 
on-going efforts to refine the LES formula.  

Local Government Conditional Grants

5.5. All conditional grants to the local government sphere will experience baseline reductions in al-
locations except infrastructure grants. The baseline reductions are mainly on slow spending grants. 
Provided municipalities improve on their efficiency, these reductions of between 0.9 and 6 percent in 
2015/16 should not pose any challenges to service delivery. 

5.6. The conditional grants for infrastructure will amount to R 145 billion in the 2015 MTEF and R7.8 
billion for the capacity building grants. Figure 1 shows trends in infrastructure and capacity building 
grants from 2011/12 and into the 2015 MTEF. Although there is a slowdown in infrastructure grants in 
2015/16 financial year, the Commission is encouraged by the upward movement in the allocations in 
the outer years as this resonates well with government’s NDP which puts infrastructure development 

<<
28  See FFC submission on 
the norms and standards for 
school infrastructure 2008



at the core of economic development agenda. The Commission continues to be concerned with the 
underspending on infrastructure grants. Municipalities spent 90.6 percent of their infrastructure grants 
in 2014/15. Although this was an improvement over the previous year, more efforts are still required to 
improve capacities of municipalities to spend. 

Figure 1: Local Government Capacity and Infrastructure Grants 

5.7.The Commission welcomes the introduction of the Municipal Demarcations Transition Grant that will 
come into effect in the 2015/16 financial year. The grant, with a three year lifespan, will be administered 
by DCOG. The total allocation under this grant will be R139 million, split as R39 million in 2015/16, R50 
million in 2016/17 and R50 million in 2017/18. In line with the Commission’s recommendations made in 
the 2015/16 Submission for the DoR, this grant will cushion municipalities that are undergoing restructur-
ing. The Commission also welcomes the differentiated approach envisaged in the allocations due from 
this grant. 

5.8.With respect to the Municipal Infrastructure Grant (MIG), which is the largest infrastructure transfer, 
DCoG is responsible in the administration of this grant. In 2014 the department ran a policy review of 
this grant as part of the Infrastructure Grants Reviews. The Commission welcomes the introduction of a 
new condition within this grant that allows the grant to be used for the refurbishment of projects and the 
upgrading of informal settlements. 

6. Government Responses to Commission Recommendations

6.1. The Commission tabled its Submission for the DoR 2014/15 to Parliament in May 2014. As required by 
the IGFR Act, Government published its response to the recommendations made by the Commission for 
the 2016/16 Division of Revenue when the Minister of Finance tabled the DoR Bill with the annual budget 
in the National Assembly. 

6.2. The Commission and Minister of Finance have agreed that government will respond to the recommen-
dations that are deemed directly or indirectly related to the division of revenue. Other recommendations 
of the Commission addresses issues pertaining to Appropriations Act and the Money Bills Amendment 
Procedures and related Matters Act. Discussion between the Commission and government at a technical 
level (Technical Committee on Finance) and Executive level (Budget Council) have resolved that rec-
ommendations that are unrelated to the Division of Revenue would be dealt with thorough a separate 
process that involves the relevant respondents. The 2014/15 submission comprises of 11 chapters with 
a total of 32 recommendations.  Government has responded to recommendations in 6 of the chapters 

Source: National Treasury



within the submission. In addition the National Department of Basic Education, SALGA, Free State and 
the Eastern Cape provincial governments have responded directly to the Commission’s recommenda-
tions that impact directly on their respective sectors.  Overall the Commission welcomes the  extensive 
consultative process and the manner in which Government has  responded to the recommendation and 
further invite parliament to exercise oversight over recommendation that have been accepted and those 
that has been responded to outside the division of revenue process.    

6.3. Government agrees with most of the recommendations of the Commission, and further indicates 
that processes are already underway or being developed to deal with most of the recommendations. 
In particular the Commission welcomes the swift manner in which government has responded to its 
recommendations on the provision of a transient grant to address municipal demarcation processes. A 
new grant to the tune of R139 million is introduced in the 2016 financial year to address institutional and 
administrative costs arising from municipal mergers. In its response to the Commission’s recommenda-
tions, SALGA also welcomed the introduction of the transitional grant but lamented the small amount of 
the proposed allocation. Government further proposed that such a transitional funding should only be 
available for major boundary reconfigurations (re-demarcations). From the Commission’s perspective this 
will be highly subjective process that will undermine the very objectives of the grant and therefore should 
be reconsidered. 

6.4. Whereas the Commission welcomes the response to the recommendation on the need to align 
health care funding with primary health care norms and standards, it remains a concerns that norms 
and standards introduced in 2000 are deemed inappropriate to link with funding when an assessment of 
whether they are still relevant or not has not yet been done.    

7. Government Responses to Standing Committee on Appropriations  
Recommendations
7.1. Various Committees of the National Assembly produce reports on the budget review, the fiscal 
framework and division of revenue with recommendation that are addressed to Government. Section 7 of 
the Money Bills Amendment Procedures and Related Matters Act requires the Minister of Finance to table 
the budget with details as to how such recommendations have been taken into account. The 2015/16 
budget review lists 29 such recommendations that Government has responded to. The recommendations 
cover a wide array of issues including alignment between the NDP and Medium Term Strategic Framework 
(MTSF), setting efficiency targets, reviewing expenditure programs and cost cutting measures. This section 
responds to the request from the Standing Committee on Appropriations (hereinafter the Committee) to 
assess the Appropriations Committees recommendations and Government responses. 

7.2. The recommendation made to align budget functional groups to the MTSF is an important one. In its 
submission for the 2014/15 division of revenue the Commission recommended that both National Treasury 
and the then Department of Performance Monitoring and Evaluation (DPME) introduce necessary reforms 
to ensure reconciliation of the outcomes oriented delivery approach with the budget process. Govern-
ment agreed with these recommendations and indicated that departments are continuously requested to 
link their priorities with the NDP, MTSF and the 12 delivery outcomes. The Commission’s view here is that 
further improvements in the budgeting process should include a requirement for departments respon-
sible for the same outcome to plan and budget collectively. Various existing intergovernmental fora exist 
that can be reoriented and strengthened in order to serve this purpose directly. 

7.3. The Committee recommended that both National Treasury and DPME consider incorporating effi-
ciency targets in the respective strategic and annual performance plans of departments. Again, this is a 
good and useful recommendation. Efficiency targets should incorporate both performance and spending 
targets and be informed by a comprehensive performance and budget reviews. In this regard, the Com-
mission’s view is that the newly established Chief Procurement Office (CPO) should play an active role in 
determining guideline spending efficiency targets for the various sectors. The CPO should start developing 
spending efficiency indicators against which spending agencies can be measured. Moreover the CPO 
should lead the professionalization of public sector Supply Chain Management (SCM) practitioners. 

7.4. With respect to the Early Childhood Development (ECD) program, the Committee recommended that 
the Department of Basic Education and DCOG should streamline the funding framework for ECD from 
within current and existing allocation. In its response Government indicates that a national task team has 
been set up to investigate alternative funding models for ECD, as per the National Integrated Program of 



Action for ECD. The Commission agrees with the Appropriations Committee and will be tabling further 
recommendations on the financing of ECD infrastructure in its submission for the 2016/17 division of 
revenue in May 2015. Preliminary assessment indicates that the current ECD delivery landscape is fraught 
with multiple policy and institutional ambiguities which causes fragmentation in funding. Government 
should therefore be advised not to superimpose new funding models on inappropriate institutional and 
policy frameworks.

7.5. On municipal infrastructure maintenance and capacity building, the Committee recommends that Gov-
ernment encourages municipalities to allocate funding for maintenance and coordinate various capacity 
building support provided to municipalities provided by various government departments and agencies. 
The Committees views resonate with previous Commission recommendations agreed to by Government. 
Unlike more politically visible expenditure items like public sector wages, maintenance can be deferred 
initially without obvious signs of deterioration, but should this continue indefinitely, the structural integrity 
of the asset declines precipitously. The grant system has also created an incentive for asset creation but 
none for maintenance. Recent work by the Commission argues that maintenance and efficient use of 
existing infrastructure might be more important than building new infrastructure but often is assigned less 
priority. Although the three spheres of government are rushing to identify new infrastructure investment 
projects, the existing public capital stock is degrading more rapidly. Therefore, closing the ‘infrastructure 
gap’ entails more than simply increasing new public investment, but also requires addressing the problem 
of deficient operations and maintenance (O&M) expenditures, or the ‘recurrent cost’ problem. The failure 
to address the problem has powerful macroeconomic consequences, especially for the sustainability of 
growth and jobs. In 2013, the Commission recommended that Government develops a local government 
specific infrastructure asset management legislation to facilitate decision making on infrastructure main-
tenance and compilation of asset registers among other things. Municipalities continue to undermine 
the guideline for allocating 8 percent of their budget to maintenance. Necessary legislative interventions 
should be made to reject approval of municipal budgets if the necessary maintenance allocation have 
not been made. The Commission further recommends developing sustainable funding arrangements for 
public infrastructure that take an asset life-cycle perspective. They have to look beyond the initial capital 
expenditure and cover the anticipated additional ongoing operational and maintenance costs as well. 

7.6. The Committee further recommends that capacity to spend should be the determining factor for 
designing and introducing new conditional grants. While the Commission agrees and acknowledges the 
importance of spending capacity, the key principle that should precede introduction of a conditional grant 
should be the need to address national priorities or spill-over problems.  Furthermore, conditional grants 
are not appropriate instruments to address delivery capacity problems within provinces and municipali-
ties. A significant proportion of conditional grants have been introduced simply because municipalities 
and provinces are not able to fund certain priorities from their discretionary allocation that are deemed 
important by various national departments. As a result conditional grants remain unspent because the 
underlying causes of poor capacity are not addressed.  

8. Other Issues, Economic Infrastructure Funding and Accelerating Economic Growth

A. OPTIONS TO ENSURE APPROPRIATED FUNDS RESULT IN ACCELERATED GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

8.1. Government is projected to spend just over R1.2 trillion in the 2015 financial year.  The composition 
of this spending has an important bearing on the ultimate growth and development outcomes. Over the 
past few years the structure of the allocations and trends have been largely consistent, with the national 
sphere receiving the largest share of resources and the local government allocation illustrating the fastest 
growth. The key question for South Africa is whether the existing structure of the fiscal framework and 
the underlying distribution of revenue and expenditure competencies, facilitates economic growth. In 
its submission for the 2012/13 division of revenue, the Commission found that the current system of 
intergovernmental transfers, in particular in health and education sectors are strongly redistributive and 
equity enhancing. However, the quantitative magnitude in terms of accelerating GDP growth was small 
leading the Commission to conclude that the transfer system is not the most effective instrument to 
support government’s growth objectives, and this aspect should continue to be strengthened so that it 
plays a supportive role in this respect. Follow up Commission research conducted in 2012 that informed 
recommendations for the 2013/14 division of revenue29 found that existing revenue and expenditure as-
signments at the provincial level had a negative effect on economic growth while at the municipal level, 



revenue decentralisation had a positive effect on economic growth with expenditure decentralisation 
negatively affecting economic growth. 

8.2. Government spending has a positive growth and development effect when directed at critical growth 
inducing services such as infrastructure, education and health.  South Africa’s economic growth perfor-
mance since 2009 has been below optimal even when Government spending was growing faster than 
inflation. The relatively low growth partly reflects the ineffectiveness of public spending to stimulate the 
economy and fast-track development. The Commission is of the view that structural problems within the 
delivery programs constrain growth and development since expenditure composition complies with a 
priori expectations. Options to increase the growth and development effect of spending should therefore 
focus on improving the outcomes of delivery particularly in education and health. 

8.3. In the same breadth, Government needs to address the issue of skills constraints particularly in engi-
neering – our engineers are getting old and the education and training system is not producing them. Grants 
and associated interventions should not just give money, but make sure that from a human resources 
perspective that the engineering skills are there to spend it. This would entail enforcing Municipal Systems 
Amendment Act competence requirements for roads and water engineers but also centralised recruit-
ment by national sector departments. Even when grants give more money to attract qualified skills, the HR 
departments in the provinces tend to want to promote their current under-qualified staff by claiming that 
nobody is applying for the position. The Commission recommends that the Occupation Specific Dispensa-
tion for engineers should be evaluated to assess whether it’s yielded the desired impact. 

8.4. Finally, efforts to improve the impact of appropriated funds and reduce the burgeoning fiscal con-
straints should ultimately be premised on re-igniting growth. The current economic growth estimates 
falls short of the required growth rate to fulfil NDP expectations and compares unfavourably with the 
rest of developing economies. South Africa needs to focus its strategy for reigniting growth on improving 
education expenditure outcomes, increasing the skills bases, maintaining strong growth on social safety-
net spending and redirecting infrastructure spending towards underserved areas. On the micro front, 
South Africa needs to diversify its export away from raw mining commodities and de-concentrate the 
vertical market structure of its economy. 

B. INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC INFRASTRUCTURE

8.5. Government is making significant strides in its support for industrial development and economic in-
frastructure through the allocations and guarantees provided to various state agencies and tax incentives 
to the private sector. Over the 2015/16 MTEF, R3.5 billion has been allocated to Special Economic Zones 
(SEZs) to facilitate infrastructure provision for industrial development. Further, the Industrial Development 
Corporation (IDC) has been granted guarantees of over R8 billion between 2004 and 2010 to finance 
industrial development. Government has identified 10 potential SEZs in addition to the existing 5 which 
have attracted significant private capital injection. The Commission supports these industrial develop-
ment initiatives provided that they are accompanied by improvements in the general investment climate. 

8.6. Economic infrastructure is receiving attention through the Presidential Infrastructure Coordinating 
Committee (PICC). A significant proportion of economic infrastructure is undertaken by State Owned En-
terprises such as ESKOM and Transnet. Over the 2015 MTEF state agencies are projected to spend R362 
billion or 44% of total infrastructure spend.  Efforts should be made to make economic infrastructure more 
spatial distributive to support regional growth. Equally important is the need to coordinate SOEs infra-
structure plans with Municipal Integrated development plans. The Commission’s view is that infrastructure 
planning needs a rethink as there is no explicit link between spatial, land use and economic development 
planning, despite the SPLUMB. As the Commission will recommend in its forthcoming submission, there is 
need to force the public entities to engage with the IGFR planning or budgeting system. In this regard, the 
Intergovernmental Relations Act or the SPLUMB could be changed to say that any infrastructure project 
done by a public entity must feature in an Integrated Development Plan (IDP) somewhere in order to force 
consultation that currently is non-existent. 

8.7. As the Commission will argue in its May 2015 submission, the PICC and related efforts should not 
be in the interest of recentralization and increase the general influence of the centre but to ensure that 
subnational units are viable and able to provide services to the people.  This approach will be in line with 
our constitution as outlined in Section 156(4). This assumes in turn that the central government, i.e. the 

<<
29 For further details on 
this research, consult the 
Submission for the Division 
of Revenue 2013/14. This 
document can be accessed 
at: www.ffc.co.za



>>
30 Obviously there is an aspect 
of risk transfer involved here. 
This is the real essence of what 
Government wants to achieve 
in a PPP.

“principal,” is not only well intentioned (i.e. follows legal/constitutional provisions) but also has the 
capacity to impose its (altruistic) will on the subnational governments, which is an unlikely feat in 
many cases. This could be done by tangibly empowering provinces and municipalities to be central 
players rather than observers in PICC with respect to spatial planning and land use management 
functions in particular. Detailed delegations for concurrent functions need to be developed specifying 
such aspects as performance targets, the norms and standards around the delegation and requisite 
financial arrangements pertaining to each aspect of infrastructure service provision. The challenges 
from an institutional based perspective confronting infrastructure delivery then are to (a) ensure PICC 
improves its capacity and capability to ensure the linkage between the municipal, provincial and 
national infrastructure delivery budgetary processes so as to ensure that subnational governments are 
appropriately represented in the national budget process, and (b) improve capacities of government 
so as to fully exploit the forward looking budgeting system and allocations made for infrastructure. 

8.8. A related aspect to improve fiscal frameworks relates to the scope that does exist for all spheres of 
government and their entities to expand their own financing of capital expenditures and economic de-
velopment. Options previously discussed by the Commission include improvements in expenditure ef-
ficiencies informed by ongoing expenditure reviews, debt collections efficiencies and so forth. Private 
funding will need to be sourced for some of the required infrastructure investments, although this 
needs to be better managed to avoid the negative experiences of Gauteng e-Toll roads and electricity 
generation30. The long term problem to address is that the system of revenue-raising is highly central-
ized, especially with respect to the provincial level. This is a consequence of the top-down nature of 
the system. Part of the natural evolution of the IGFR system is the gradual decentralization of revenue-
raising responsibilities to the provinces. It is natural that spending be decentralized prior to revenue-
raising.  However, it is now opportune to begin the process of revenue-raising decentralization. This 
can be done in a way that does not threaten the integrity of the tax system by allowing the provinces 
some say in setting their own tax rates on the same tax base used by the national government, using 
user charges like e-tolls as well, because user charges can be used at any sphere of government. 
Finally, the Commission agrees with Government that some scope does exist for municipalities to 
expand debt financing of capital expenditures. This will likely result in accelerated economic growth. 

8.9. Finally, continuous ambiguities over the use of user pay principle to underpin financing model for 
economic infrastructure as illustrated by the Gauteng Freeway Improvement program and infrastruc-
ture in general impacts negatively on South African National Roads Agency Limited (SANRAL’s) ability 
to service its debt and the overall credit rating of the country. Further delays in the finalisation of the 
funding model will result in additional burden on fiscal framework. In this regard, the Commission calls 
on efforts aimed at ensuring funding mechanisms such as user charges work in tandem with other 
elements of the developmental strategies to raise efficiency. Examples include user charges which 
encourage people to reduce congestion or factoring social and environmental “externalities” into 
prices, especially where use of the facility or service is currently unpriced. Putting in place measures 
to improve acceptability of the user charge principle for higher levels of infrastructure services and dif-
ferentiated high value products, compared with the standard offering that is paid by and is affordable 
to the tax base. Examples of such measures include differentiation within the user charge principle 
and/or ensuring costs are aligned with willingness to pay. The incremental costs of improving service 
levels of infrastructure should be kept to within the amount that users and other beneficiaries and 
stakeholders indicate they are willing to pay. This should be based on evidence about people’s willing-
ness to pay, obtained through a transparent and robust examination. 



9. Concluding Remarks

9.1. In May 2014, the Commission tabled at Parliament its Annual Submission for the 2015/16 DoR. 
Under the theme of “balancing fiscal sustainability with socio-economic impact”, the Submission 
agrees in most aspects with the 2015 Budget that has been crafted in a constrained environment 
characterised by downward economic growth forecasts. Bearing this in mind, Government has done a 
good job that promises a deficit reduction programme for the next three years and thereby prevents 
public debt from spiralling out of control. 

9.2. The Commission welcomes in particular the manner in which Government has handled and 
responded to its recommendations on the 2015/16 division of revenue. Overall, the 2015 Budget and 
DoR Bill re-affirms and reflects the major thrust and spirit of the recommendations that the Commis-
sion has been making since the onset of the global economic crisis: that growth and employment in 
South Africa can only be achieved by combining fiscal consolidation and investment into future growth 
given the prevailing economic climate. 

9.3. Given the tight fiscal framework, the Commission commends efforts by Government to protect 
conditional grants, which are fundamental in maintaining and improving service delivery to communi-
ties. The Commission supports the proposed review of conditional grants, addressing identified weak-
nesses it has raised in the past and will continue engaging with government and other stakeholders 
in the exercise. The Commission reiterates its previous concerns about conditional grants relating to 
inadequate planning and monitoring, proliferation etc. 

9.4. Government should continue reviewing and improving the Fiscal Framework with a view to 
ensuring its long term viability. In framing a long term fiscal framework, there is continued need for 
a differentiated approach responsive to both context and performance i.e. the huge variation in the 
distribution of economic activity and socio political profiles of municipalities and provinces, and which 
rewards good performance and sanctions underperformance. 

9.5. Finally, what is very clear is that the economy remains far below the economic growth rates 
required to make the dent on unemployment and inequality. Rebuilding state capabilities should 
continue to be prioritised with efforts aimed at both economic and social capabilities for citizens and 
infrastructure and how these will be managed within the context of current consolidation measures. 



Appendix E: Submission on the 2015 Fiscal Frameworks and Revenue 
Proposals

1. Background

1.1 This submission is made in terms of Section 4 (4c) of the Money Bills Amendment Procedure and 
Related Matters Act (Act 9 of 2009) which requires Parliamentary Committees to consider any recom-
mendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission (hereafter FFC or the Commission) when considering 
Money Bills. It is also made in terms of the FFC Act (1997) as amended which requires the Commission 
to respond to any requests for recommendations by any organ of state on any financial and fiscal matter.  

1.2 The submission consists of six sections. The second section gives a brief review of the 2015 fiscal 
framework. The third section provides an overview of the economy and public finances, with a particu-
lar focus on long-term fiscal risks confronting South Africa. Section 4 discusses the key components of 
the fiscal framework and revenue proposals for 2015. Section 6 gives options for improving the fiscal 
framework and the final section presents concluding remarks. 

2. Brief Review of the 2015 Fiscal Framework

2.1 Table 1 outlines the fiscal framework for the 2015 medium term expenditure framework (MTEF) period. 
Over the next three years, Government is expected to spend R3.95 trillion relative to a revenue envelope 
of R3.48 trillion. Over the 2015 MTEF period, real annual average growth in expenditure is projected at 4.8 
percent. A relatively stronger 6.8 percent growth is projected in respect of revenue. Reducing growth in 
expenditure is to be driven by a combination of cost containment measures and efforts to improve the 
efficiency of spending. Stronger growth in revenue will be achieved through adjustments to tax policy 
discussed below. 

2.2 The bulk of resources are allocated in respect of non-interest allocations in the form of equitable share 
and conditional grant funding (Table 1). 

2.3 In rebalancing and aligning policy decisions with sustainable fiscal policy, Government is emphasising 
the principle of cost recovery. The practical application of this principle has implications for tariffs charged 
in respect of basic infrastructure services, notably electricity and roads. 

2.3.1 Budget 2015 has highlighted Government’s commitment to provision of free basic services to 
indigent households alongside cost reflective tariffs for all other households. The downside of not aligning 
tariffs closely to costs is well illustrated in by the current electricity crisis. Due to highly subsidised tariffs, 
particularly over the period 1980-2007, Eskom has been trying, since its 2008 government bailout, to shift 
towards more cost reflective tariffs. In the face of the current energy crisis and accompanying power 
outages, higher tariffs may face strong resistance and unwillingness to pay, yet increases are essential to 
fund maintenance and expansion of generation capacity. 

2.3.2 Unwillingness to pay has posed a similarly serious challenge in the case of the Gauteng Freeway 
Improvement Project with resistance to payment of tolling tariffs. Given Government’s stated stance in 
applying a user pay principle, what is required now is putting in place measures to improve acceptabil-
ity of the user charge principle for higher levels of infrastructure services and differentiated high value 
products, compared with the standard offering that is paid by and is affordable to the tax base. 

2.4 Public investment in infrastructure will total R813 billion over the next three years. State owned 
companies (SOCs) are responsible for 45 percent of this spending over the 2015 MTEF period. Continuous 
cash injections to assist ailing SOCs not only places undue stress on the fiscal framework and redirects 
funding away from core service delivery areas, but it also brings into question the ability of SOCs to ef-
fectively drive South Africa’s infrastructure-led growth. 

2.5 Intentions to reform both health-care and social protection pose significant areas of uncertainty in 
relation to potential impacts of these reforms on the fiscal framework. The provision of universal health-
care through the proposed National Health Insurance (NHI) is a significant pending development. The 
implementation of the NHI will impact the fiscal framework. The Commission awaits the tabling of the NHI 
White Paper to evaluate the specific financial and fiscal implications of the reform. Pending social security 



Table 1: Consolidated Fiscal Framework, 2012/13-2017/18

 R billion/percentage 
of GDP

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Outcome Revised 
estimate  Medium-term estimates  

Revenue 

Gross tax revenue after  
Proposals 813.8 900.0 979.0 1 081.3 1 179.2 1 289.7

Non-tax revenue 16.2 18.9 18.1 17.0 17.9 18.6

SACU -42.2 -43.4 -51.7 -51.0 -36.5 -45.4

National Revenue Fund 

Receipts 12.3 11.7 8.9 2.0 5.4 2.5

Main budget revenue 800.1 887.3 954.3 1 049.3 1 166.0 1 265.4

Expenditure

National departments 420.0 453.2 491.4 523.0 553.8 586.1

Provinces 380.9 410.6 439.7 468.2 496.3 526.4

Local government 76.4 82.8 89.1 99.8 103.9 110.0

Non-interest alloca-
tions 877.4 946.6 1 020.1 1 090.9 1 154.0 1 222.5

Debt-service costs 88.1 101.2 115.0 126.4 141.0 153.4

Unallocated reserves – – – 5.0 15.0 45.0

Main budget expendi-
ture 965.5 1 047.8 1 135.1 1 222.3 1 309.9 1 420.9

Main budget balance -165.4 -160.5 -180.9 -173.1 -144.0 -155.5

-5.0% -4.4% -4.7% -4.1% -3.2% -3.2%

Primary balance -2.3% -1.6% -1.7% -1.1% -0.1% 0.0%

Source: Medium Term 
Budget Policy Statement 
(MTBPS) (2014) and 
Budget Review (2015).



reform as alluded to by the Minister of Finance in the 2015 Budget Speech and will similarly, have an 
impact on the fiscal framework. Again the extent of the impact can only be assessed once specific 
proposals around the reform are known. 

2.6 The usual concern around the eventual outcome of salary negotiations, which still have to be 
concluded, exists. Indications from Government are that should the outcome of these negotiations be 
higher than expected, unallocated reserve funding will be utilised. The ability of labour and Govern-
ment to reach a mutually beneficial agreement that closely aligns wage demands with inflation so as 
to guard against having to reallocate resources away from essential spending areas, will be critical. 

2.7 The main underlying message from the Commission’s analysis is that Government has tabled 
a budget that generally maintains stability and ably balances contending priority areas. There are 
however various aspects and areas of uncertainty that can unsettle this delicate balancing act – these 
are elaborated on below. 

3. Macroeconomic Outlook and Long-Term Fiscal Risks Confronting 
South Africa

ECONOMIC GROWTH

3.1 South Africa’s economy remains vulnerable to slow global recovery but increasingly more to 
domestic factors such as the recent labour unrest. Consistent with similar downward revisions in 
growth projections from 2012 to 2014, the lacklustre forecast for 2015 is related to considerable risks 
posed by disruptions to production stemming from more labour unrest, electricity supply constraints31 
, the slow recovery in the Euro Area and the gradual deceleration of growth in China. Compared with 
forecasts for 2015 and 2016 made at the tabling of the 2014 Medium Term Budget Policy Statement 
(MTBPS) of 2.5 percent and 2.8 percent respectively, the 2015 Budget incorporates growth forecasts 
for these years is just 2.0 percent and 2.4 percent. The downward revision of the economic growth 
figure is an indication of a further obstacle to the achievement of the targets set out in the National 
Development Plan (NDP), most notably a decrease in the unemployment rate by 14 percent by 2030 
that require a 5.4 percent annual growth.  

3.2 Looking at the contributions of each industry to the annualised percentage change in seasonally 
adjusted real gross domestic product (GDP), most volatile contributions to real GDP growth have come 
from the (i) mining and quarrying, and (iii) manufacturing sectors.  Historically, these have been the 
sectors most affected by strikes and the recent strikes in the mining industry have had a negative 
impact in the mining sector’s contribution to GDP growth although they rebounded in the fourth 
quarter of 2014. It should be noted that mining and quarrying as well as manufacturing sectors have 
been shrinking continuously and given that they constitute important contributions to South Africa’s 
export sector, developments in these sectors should be closely monitored by South African govern-
ment particularly over the medium term. 

3.3 Figure 1 indicates that compared to the rest of sub-Saharan Africa, South Africa is expected to 
record only a marginal acceleration in economic growth of between 2.75–3 percent between 2016 and 
2017. This projected moderate growth is premised on sustained public investment in infrastructure 
and a marginally better global outlook. 

>>
31 There are three different types 
of electricity supply constraints: 
• The installed capacity is 

insufficient to meet peak 
demands as a result of 
the gap between the 
installed generating 
capacity and peak 
demand.

• The consumption of electric-
ity exceeds the capacity 
of the system to supply 
because of the gap 
between consumption 
levels and the ability to 
supply power. 

• The margin between 
capacity and demand 
due to demand rising 
faster than operational 
capacity. 



CURRENT ACCOUNT DEFICIT

3.4 The slow rate of recovery in the global economy has adversely impacted South Africa’s export 
markets. Figure 2 shows that the country has experienced weaker terms of trade that have contributed 
to a wider trade deficit, an outcome that has increased the current account deficit.

Figure 1: GDP Growth for South Africa and Sub-Sahara Africa, 2012-2017

Source: National Treasury 
and the World Bank
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT

3.5 Despite ongoing fiscal consolidation, Government remains committed to completing large infra-
structure projects in line with objectives stated in the NDP. Figure 3 shows that investment in in-
frastructure by public sector institutions continues to increase. According to Statistics South Africa, 
public sector institutions investment in infrastructure has increased by 4.8 percent (or R9.7 billion), 
from R202.8 billion in 2012 to R212.5 billion in 2013. A disaggregation of capital expenditure by type 
reveals increases in plant, machinery and equipment (up R10 billion from 2012), ‘other’ fixed assets 



(R2 billion) and transport equipment (R1 billion). There were capital expenditure decreases on new 
construction works (R3 billion), leased assets and investment property (R0.7 billion) and on land and 
existing buildings (R0.1 billion). The percentage of gross fixed capital formation allocated to economic 
infrastructure has been substantially larger than that of social infrastructure between 2010 and 2013. 
The percentage of gross fixed capital formation by economic infrastructure generally increased from 
68 percent in 2010 to 73 percent in 2013 while that of social infrastructure declined from 32 percent in 
2010 to 27 percent in 2013.  

Figure 3: Gross Fixed Capital Formation by Type of Infrastructure, 1994-2013

Source: National Treasury 
and World Bank

GLOBAL AND DOMESTIC RISKS

3.6 Multiple risks stemming from external and domestic factors are likely to define the economic 
outlook for South Africa. 

3.6.1 Three key issues underpin the likely effect of external factors on the domestic economy. 
Firstly, the likely commencement of monetary policy rate hikes in the United States, and the im-
plementation of accommodative policies in the Euro Area and Japan, could result in modestly 
tighter global financing conditions in the medium term. The impact of tighter financial conditions 
could negatively affect highly indebted households’ banks through credit channels, and aggregate 
demand via private consumption. Secondly, falling of commodity prices due to increased supply, 
modest growth in main export markets of China and the Euro zone and anxieties about global 
growth, are expected to persist. Lower commodity prices could negatively impact export earnings 
and contribute to the widening of South Africa’s trade deficit. Thirdly, the weak recovery in the Euro 
Area and the possible Greece default and/or exit from the European Union implies relatively slow 
growth of markets for South Africa’s exports and depressed investor confidence. 

3.6.2 Outside of the external factors discussed above, another key exogenous issue that could 
likely affect the growth outlook is uncertainty over the price of oil. Oil prices fell sharply in the 
second half of 2014, ending a four-year period of stability around $105 per barrel. The World Bank 
projections for oil prices show that they will remain low in 2015 with a marginal increase only in 
2016. Realization of these forecasts will have a positive impact on the South African economy. 
Given that oil is an important feedstock for many sectors in South Africa, a reduction in oil prices 
directly impacts a wide range of processed or semi-processed inputs. Therefore lower oil prices 
benefit a wide range of sectors encompassing transportation, petrochemicals, and agricultural 
sectors, and some manufacturing industries. A reduction in oil prices has had a significant and 
favourable impact on the medium-term inflation expectations. This could allow the South African 



Reserve Bank to sustain its accommodative stance on monetary policy. The combination of lower 
inflation and lower oil prices is likely to support an increase in domestic consumption and enhance 
the country’s growth prospects. 

3.6.3 On the domestic front, structural constraints remain an impediment to growth. South Africa’s 
potential growth32 has declined to between 2–2.5 percent, reflecting a negative output gap33 of 
around 0.5–1.25 percent in 2014. This suggests that the cyclical factors previously perceived to be 
growth-constraining are increasingly becoming structural34. An exceptionally high unemployment 
rate that is widening differences in labour income and wealth is turning South Africa into one of the 
most unequal societies in the world. The poverty rate is also relatively high when compared with 
other emerging market economies35. South Africa’s employment rate is very low by international 
standards. It is estimated at 40 percent of the working-age population against an Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) average of 65 percent and comparable rates 
amongst other middle-income non-OECD economies36. Figure 11 shows that trend in that the 
number of employed people in South Africa has remained relatively flat since the global financial 
crisis, with a post-crisis peak of 314 000 additional people employed in the third quarter of 2013. 
The low number of people employed can be explained by various factors. On the labour supply-
side, inadequacies in education and training, have contributed to skill mismatches. On the demand 
side, sluggish economic growth has meant growth that is inadequate to absorb the growing labour 
supply. 

<<
33 Potential growth refers to 
the long-term potential growth 
rate given the productive 
capacity, technology, as 
well as factor inputs of the 
economy.
34 Potential output is the 
maximum amount of goods 
and services an economy 
can produce when it is most 
efficient. 
  See IMF 2014 Article IV 
Consultation Staff Report-
South Africa
35 The percentage of the popu-
lation that is poor in South 
Africa is 45,5% translating to 
23 million people living below 
the upper-bound poverty line 
36 See OECD Economic 
Surveys: South Africa 2013
37 Most industries are highly 
concentrated and there is 
lack of competition in network 
industries that produce 
intermediate goods such as 
iron and steel, paper and 
chemicals, telecommunica-
tions and energy sectors (see 
OECD (2007), OECD Reviews 
of Innovation Policy: South 
Africa 2007, OECD Publishing, 
Paris). The collective wage 
bargaining system which 
essentially results in sector-
wide agreements extended to 
non-parties provide protection 
from potential entrants in the 
labour market. The collective 
wage bargaining system and 
lack of skilled labour protects 
the labour market form com-
petition by pushing up entry 
level wages thus contributing 
to high unemployment (See 
Faulkner and Loewald, (2008), 
Policy Change and Economic 
Growth: A Case Study of South 
Africa, Policy Paper Number 
14). 
38 Unemployment rate is 25.5%
39 Gini coefficient for South 
Africa is 65.0
40 See OECD Economic 
Surveys: South Africa 2013

Figure 4: Quarter-to-Quarter Change in Employment, Quarter 1: 2009 to Quarter 4: 2014

3.6.4 The weakness of competition in factor and product markets in the economy potentially con-
tributes to lower innovation. Moreover, the collective bargaining system results in bargains including 
the setting of sectoral minimum wages extended to the whole sector, translating to barriers to entry 
in product markets. This further exacerbates the country’s unemployment problem37. The education 
system is also not producing the skills needed in the labour market resulting in skill mismatches. These 
factors combined with limited opportunities for entrepreneurship are also contributing to the high 
unemployment rate38 and are hindering the attainment of required growth rates needed to address the 
significant levels of poverty and inequality39, 40.

3.6.5 Constrained electricity supply is increasingly becoming a key factor slowing down growth and 
employment creation. South Africa started experiencing electricity shortages in 2007 as a result of 
a combination of underinvestment in new generating capacity and temporary supply disruptions. 
The electricity system appears to be constrained because the margin between peak demand and 
available electricity supply has been precariously narrow for the past few years. Emergencies in elec-
tricity supply shortages were initially declared in 2008 and once again in early 2014. The most recent 
electricity shock highlights the need for funding to maintain existing infrastructure to keep the lights 
on and investment in new generation capacity. In the absence of this new capacity, the expansion 
of investment, particularly in energy-intensive activities such as mining and manufacturing will be 
severely compromised. The effects of this renewed electricity supply shock will be felt on export 
revenues. Since the electricity intensive sectors, mining and manufacturing, account for 85 percent of 

Source: Statistics 
South Africa



total exports, the export volume could decrease substantially. The electricity supply has coincided with 
low commodity prices, implying an acute impact on the export sector.  

FISCAL CONSOLIDATION

3.7 Figure 5 shows that despite South Africa’s weak growth, plans to put the country’s public finances 
on a consolidation path is still maintained.  

Figure 5: Consolidated Fiscal Deficit as a % of GDP, 2004/05-2016/17

Source: National 
Treasury database

3.7.1 As outlined during the Minister of Finance’s MTBPS in October 2014, efforts to achieve fiscal 
consolidation will require (a) generating additional revenues via broadening the tax base, increased 
tax compliance and possibly higher tax rates on consumption and income, especially of high income 
earners; (b) the reduction in planned growth in government expenditure; (c) more effective budgeting 
and efficient allocation as well as utilization of resources, and (d) a deficit-neutral approach to financing 
state-owned enterprises through the sale of non-strategic state assets. Multiple risks could adversely 
impact ongoing efforts to stabilize South Africa’s public finances. These include

a. Substantial wage demands in the public sector. In the MTBPS, the Minister of Finance highlighted 
the need for consumer price index (CPI)-linked cost of living adjustments to the public sector 
wages. By aligning wage demands with CPI, Government aims to mitigate against the reallocation 
of resources away from essential spending areas or a reduction in government employment. Falling 
oil prices coupled with the significant decline in inflation rate should afford government some room 
to ensure that final settlements are substantially more affordable when linked to reduced CPI. 

b. Persistent weakness in the balance sheets of several SOCs41 could trigger calls for additional 
government support. Since 2008, borrowing by SOCs have constituted a significant part of South 
Africa’s public sector borrowing requirement42 as well as GDP (see Figure 6). 

Around 45 percent of SOCs’ borrowing is covered by government guarantees43 which have risen 
significantly since 2001/02, with financial SOCs accounting for the bulk of these guarantees (See 
Figure 7). In an environment of weak economic growth and tightening global conditions, increases 
in liabilities of SOCs will lead to a commensurate increase in the stock of public debt financed in 
domestic and international market. The effect of higher borrowing costs would adversely affect 
plans to reduce the budget deficit and stabilize debt, thus limiting government’s ability to expand 
fiscal space necessary to implement key social programs outlined in the NDP.

>>
41 In South Africa, SOCs are 
of two types: commercial 
(or financial) SOCs and non-
commercial (or non-financial) 
SOCs. Financial SOCs operate 
in sectors where there is either 
a natural monopoly, or where 
government has a strategic 
interest. Examples in South 
Africa include the electricity 
parastatal – ESKOM, and the 
defence conglomerate – Denel. 
On the other hand, non-financial 
SOCs denote state entities 
created for purposes of deliver-
ing of public goods and services 
and facilitating investments 
in line with stated welfare 
objectives of the government. 
Examples include the Develop-
ment Bank of Southern Africa 
and the Industrial Development 
of South Africa. 
42 The public sector borrowing 
requirement refers to funds 
needed by the public sector to 
cover any deficit incurred in the 
financing of its activities. 
43 See IMF Country Report 
No.14/338.  



c. In addition, it is also critical for government to ensure the credibility of its plans to adopt a 
deficit-neutral approach to financing SOCs. While government’s alliance partners in various trade 
union groups agree on the need to encourage improved operational standards and efficiency 
within SOCs, there remains sharp ideological disagreements44 on the need to employ a strategy 
of selling off nonstrategic state assets to finance the funding shortfalls of SOCs. Unions have con-
sistently opposed the sell-off of public assets on the grounds that such actions are equivalent 
to privatization that will result in substantial job losses, deteriorating service provision and rising 
costs. Achieving a compromise among the differing ideological views will be important to achieving 
political buy-in to back up stated commitment that government will not borrow funds to stabilize 
ailing SOCs, an outcome that will provide for confidence investor base that mitigates refinancing 
risks of SOCs by government. 

Figure 6:  SOC Borrowing as a % of Total Public Sector Borrowing and GDP, 2008/09-2016/17

Source: National Treasury database

Figure 7:  SOC Borrowing as a % of Total Public Sector Borrowing and GDP, 2008/09-2016/17

Source: National Treasury database

<<
44   The Congress of South 
African Trade Unions (COSATU, 
which represents the 
federation of labour unions, is 
allied to the governing African 
National Congress (ANC) 
party and has a strong say 
in national policy decisions 
enacted by government. 
COSATU has consistently 
and stridently opposed the 
sell-off of public assets on the 
grounds that such actions are 
equivalent to privatization that 
will result in substantial job 
losses, deteriorating service 
provision and rising costs. 
Therefore, COSATU is likely to 
force the cancellation of deals 
or influence the govern-
ment to impose additional 
conditions, such as strict local 
procurement and employment 
quotas. Protracted legal 
challenges are likely in case 
COSATU seeks to block any 
asset sales, which will further 
raise the cost and timeline of 
acquisitions



4. Fiscal Frameworks And Revenue Proposals

The key components of the 2015 fiscal frameworks and revenue proposals are discussed in greater 
detail below45.  

4.1 Non-Interest Allocations: Division of Revenue

4.1.1 Table 2 compares the MTEF estimates for non-interest expenditure at the time of the 2014 
MTBPS with figures tabled in the 2015 Budget. At the time of the 2014 MTBPS, real annual average 
growth in total MTEF allocations was projected to be 2.9 percent. This level of growth is maintained 
in Budget 2015. 

4.1.2 Government is expected to allocate a total of R3.5 trillion to non-interest expenditure over 
the 2015 MTEF period, with the national sphere responsible for 47.9 percent of total allocations, 
followed by provincial government at 42.9 percent. Local allocations are the lowest at R313.7 billion 
although the proportion of resources allocated to local government increases from 8.3 percent in 
2014/15 to 9.1 percent in 2015/16. Contrary to previous years, the allocation to the local sphere 
will show the smallest real annual average growth (2.1 percent), compared to the national and 
provincial spheres, which are set to grow by a real annual average of 2.9 percent and 3.1 percent 
respectively. 

4.1.3 The bulk of non-interest expenditure is allocated in respect of national departments. Relative 
to projections at the time of the 2014 MTBPS, the allocation to the national sphere has increased by 
R1.6 billion with real annual average growth increasing from an estimated 2.8 percent (2014 MTBPS 
projection) to 2.9 percent. This deviation is due to the shifting of further education and training 
colleges, adult education and port health from the provincial to national sphere. 

4.1.4 A total of R1.5 trillion is allocated to provinces over the 2015 MTEF period. Taking inflation into 
account, a real annual average growth of 3.1 percent is projected for the provincial allocation over 
the 2015 MTEF period. 

4.1.5 Funding to the local government sphere is aimed at supporting the roll-out of free basic 
services to indigent households. Local government receives an allocation of R313.7 billion over the 
2015 MTEF period (R99.8 billion in 2015/16, R103.9 billion in 2016/17 and R110 billion in 2017/18). 

Table 2: Medium Term Expenditure Framework Division of Revenue

Source: Commission’s 
calculations based on MTBPS 
(2014) and Budget Review 
(2015).

R'million

2012/13
2013/14

2014/15
2015/16

2014 MTBPS 2015 Budget 2014 MTBPS 2015 Budget

National Allocation 1661.3 1662.9 2.8% 2.9%

Provincial Allocation 1492.3 1490.8 3.1% 3.1%

Local Allocations 313.1 313.7 2.4% 2.1%

Total 3466.7 3467.4 2.9% 2.9%
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4.1.6 Over the past few years the structure of the allocations and trends highlighted in Table 2 have 
been largely consistent, with the national sphere receiving the largest share of resources and the local 
government allocation illustrating the fastest growth. The key question for South Africa is whether the 
existing structure of the fiscal framework and the underlying distribution of revenue and expenditure 
competencies, facilitates economic growth. In its submission for the 2012/13 division of revenue46, 
the Commission found that the current system of intergovernmental transfers, in particular in health 
and education sectors are strongly redistributive and equity enhancing. However, the quantitative 
magnitude in terms of accelerating GDP growth was small leading the Commission to conclude that 
the transfer system is not the most effective instrument to support government’s growth objectives, 
and this aspect should continue to be strengthened so that it plays a supportive role in this respect. 
Follow up Commission research conducted in 2012 that informed recommendations for the 2013/14 
division of revenue  found that existing revenue and expenditure assignments at the provincial level 



had a negative effect on economic growth while at the municipal level, revenue decentralisation had 
a positive effect on economic growth with expenditure decentralisation negatively affecting economic 
growth. 

4.2 Revenue Estimates and Tax Proposals

4.2.1 Tax revenue projections for 2014/15 reflect shortfalls of R14.7 billion and R4.6 billion against 
the 2014 Budget Review and MTBPS forecasts respectively. These projected revenue shortfalls are 
largely attributable to the sluggish economic growth over the past year. Given the muted economic 
growth outlook for South Africa, lower medium term revenue estimates are forecasted.  

4.2.2 Tax revenue trends show that from 1994/95 to 1999/2000, nominal gross tax revenues grew at 
an annual average of 12.1 percent, averaging 22.8 percent of revenue. Improvements in tax admin-
istration, the introduction of capital tax and higher corporate profits, as well as strong commodity 
prices resulted in the acceleration of tax revenue an average annual growth rate of more than 17 
percent between 2000/01 and 2004/05. This drove the share of tax revenue as a percentage of 
GDP to 23.4 percent over the same period. This ratio peaked at 26.4 percent in 2007/08. The advent 
of the global financial crisis altered this positive picture drastically. Tax revenue growth declined 
by 4.2 percent and tax as a share of GDP fell to 23.5 percent in 2009/10. Tax revenues have stabi-
lised since then, but weak economic performance has slowed down revenue growth as shown in  
Figure 8.  

Figure 8:  Tax Revenue as a % of GDP, 2008/09-2017/18

Source: National Treasury. 
Note: r-revised e-estimate

4.2.3 Fiscal measures adopted by Government in the 2015 Budget, encompass adjustments to tax 
policy. Government increased the fuel levy by significantly more than inflation (by 30.5 cents per litre). 
There is also an additional 50 cents per litre added on to the Road Accident Fund (RAF) levy, equivalent 
to a hike of 40% in this levy. Government is also proposing a 1% hike in the average tax rate of individu-
als, which is fairly well spread across all income categories. The combination of these tax increases 
will erode disposable income but will contribute to much needed government revenue for successful 
fiscal consolidation as shown in in Table 3 and Figure 9. 

4.2.4 Table 3 shows that the compensation for fiscal drag relief will be compensated by one percent-
age point increase in personal income tax, which is moderately distributive. The increases in indirect 
taxes and taxes on property together account for the net increase in tax revenues in 2015/16. 



Item Effect of tax proposal

Tax revenue (before tax proposals) 1 073 000

Consolidated revenue (before tax proposals) 1 180 579

Personal income tax 

Fiscal drag relief -8 500

Rate increase in income tax 9 420

Medical credits -920

Business income tax -150

Energy-efficiency savings tax incentive -150

Taxes on property 100

Adjustment in transfer duty 100

Indirect taxes 8 325

Increase in general fuel levy 6 490

Increase in excise duties on tobacco products 602

Increase in alcoholic beverages 1 234

Tax proposals before fiscal drag 2015/16 
(gross)

16 775

Tax proposals after fiscal drag 2015/16 (net) 8 275

Tax revenue (after tax proposals) 1 081 275

Consolidated revenue (after tax proposals) 1 188 855

Table 3: Impact of Tax Proposals on 2015/16 Revenue

Source: National Treasury

4.2.5 Nominal gross tax revenue for 2013/14 increased by 10.6 percent when compared with 2012/13. 
The 2014 Budget Review projected 10.5 percent growth in nominal gross tax revenues for 2014/15. 
This projection has been revised downwards to 8.8 percent as a result of sharp falls in estimates of 
corporate tax and customs duties as shown in the Figure 9.  

Figure 9:  Annual Change in Tax Revenue Performance, 2008/09-2014/15

4.2.6 Tax revenue as a percentage of GDP is expected to marginally accelerate from 25.2 percent 
in 2014/15 to 25.8 percent in 2015/16. The Budget tax proposals are expected to add R16.8 billion 
to revenue in 2015/16, before fiscal drag. These additional revenues and lower spending ceiling are 
envisaged to close the structural fiscal deficit over the medium term. 

Source: National Treasury

Source: National Treasury 
and South African Reserve 
Bank. Note: r-revised 



4.2.7 Overall, compared to the magnitude of revenue shortfall announced in 2014 MTBPS required 
for successful fiscal consolidation, it is the Commission’s view that these tax proposals are more of 
a ‘holding pattern’ than a radical consolidation exercise. Our research and experience elsewhere 
suggests that the probability of a successful fiscal consolidation is increased if taxes (particularly Value 
Added Tax (VAT)) increases, and if the wage bill is decreased. With NHI and Social Security reforms both 
placed on the table again, there is a need to structurally look at revenue take to match these entitle-
ments which would make reviewing all revenue options unavoidable. Politically it would perhaps be 
more palatable to reform VAT at the same time as say NHI and Social Security reforms. 

4.3 Unallocated Resources and Expenditure Prioritisation

4.3.1 Unallocated reserves are meant to serve as a fiscal buffer for Government in times of unplanned 
emergencies. At the time of Budget 2014, the Commission raised concern around the danger of 
excessive drawdowns on these resources and in so doing, creating a risk of having low reserves 
should an emergency situation arise. The maintenance of the fiscal buffer that was provided for in the 
2014 MTBPS and which is protected in Budget 2015 (see Table 4) is therefore welcomed, particularly in 
the current constrained economic environment. 

Table 4: Adjustments to the Unallocated Reserves, 2013/14-2017/18

R'million
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

 Medium-term estimates 

Budget 2013 4.0 6.5 10.0

MTBPS 2013 3.0 6.0 18.0

Budget 2014 3 6 18

MTBPS 2014 5.0 15.0 45.0

Budget 2015 5.0 15.0 45.0

Source: MTBPS (2013, 2014) 
and Budget Review (2013, 
2014 and 2015)4.3.2 Table 5 reports on changes in allocation to key functional categories for the 2015/16 financial 

year by comparing MTBPS 2014 and Budget 2015. The following functions were revised upwards: basic 
education, health, police service, post-school education and training, economic affairs, arts, sport rec-
reation, and culture and social protection. The Commission notes post-schooling receives the largest 
upward revision of 4.57 percent. The increase is driven by the expanded revenues from the skills 
levy, increased transfers to the National Student Financial Aid Scheme, increased transfers to higher 
education and continued construction of two new universities. The focus on expanding access to 
post-schooling education is welcomed as this is in line with the NDP and the overall thrust of moving 
South Africa towards a more knowledge-based economy. Expenditure in respect of social protection 
provides an important buffer for the poor, making the upward revision a welcome development, es-
pecially at the time of downward fiscal pressure on most spending programmes. The Commission 
would like to reiterate its previous findings on social security which show the positive socio-economic 
impacts on poor households such as increased likelihood of job search, education provision and food 
security among others and calls on government to maintain increased access provision.  



Table 5: Expenditure Component Revisions (Functional Classification)

Source: Commission’s 
calculations based on 
MTBPS (2014) and Budget 
Review (2015)

2015/16 Figures % Change from 
2014 MTBPS to 

2015 Budget2014 MTBPS 2015 Budget

Basic education 201 464 203 468 0.99%

Health 154 607 157 294 1.74%

Defence, public order and safety 171 569 171 150 -0.24%

Defence and state security 50 012 49 364 -1.30%

Police services 82 423 82 724 0.36%

Law courts and prisons 39 134 39 063 -0.18%

Post-school education and training 59 520 62 238 4.57%

Economic affairs 202 445 206 164 1.84%

Industrial development, trade and 
innovation

67 843 69 688 2.72%

Employment, labour affairs and social 
security funds

64 139 64 138 0.00%

Economic infrastructure and network 
regulation

70 463 72 338 2.66%

Local development and social infrastruc-
ture

199 623 199 570 -0.03%

Housing development and social infrastruc-
ture

179 611 179 224 -0.22%

Rural development and land reform 10 731 10 709 -0.21%

Arts, sport, recreation and culture 9 280 9 638 3.86%

General public services 68 341 64 385 -5.79%

Social protection 154 852 155 297 0.29%

Consolidated expenditure 1 343 956.0 1 351 006.8 0.52%

4.3.3 The following areas were revised downwards: defence, public order and safety, local develop-
ment and social infrastructure and general public services. The decline in housing development is a 
surprise, especially in the context of the NDP goal of upgrading all informal settlements by 2030. The 
Commission, however, welcomes reductions on general public services, especially since these cuts 
are in non-core areas such as goods and services, foreign mission and property management. Even 
though the downward revision of rural development and land reform is not significant, care should be 
taken in reprioritising away from a function where new priorities have been identified and where ad-
ditional funding would be required (for example, re-opening of new land claims). Further, the Portfolio 
Committee of Land Reform and Rural Development in its 2014 Budget Review and Recommendations 
report also called for more funding to the sector to support smallholder farmers in the main. 

4.3.4 In terms of the 2015 budget, job creation initiatives remain a priority for Government. Government’s 
strategy to create jobs is multi-pronged and revolves around: (a) public employment programmes (this 
includes the Expanded Public Works Programmes (EPWP) and Community Works Programme (CWP)); 
(b) Employment tax incentive and (c) Jobs Fund. 

a. The National Treasury has taken over the responsibility of managing the Jobs Fund from the 
Development Bank of South Africa. The Jobs Fund was launched in 2011 and provided once-off 
grant funding in the areas of enterprise development, infrastructure, support for work seekers 
and institutional capacity building. The Commission welcomes the new strategy, which intends 
to seek partnerships with larger intermediaries and ensure proper monitoring and evaluation 
processes are implemented. Thus far, the Fund has paid grants worth R1.48 billion and created 30 
701 permanent jobs in the process.



b. The Commission notes employers claimed the Employment Tax Incentive (ETI) for a total of 270 
000 employees in the first year of implementation. Research conducted by the Southern Africa 
Labour and Development Research Unit (SALDRU) on the effect of the ETI show that collectively, 
firms would have employed most of the youth in the absence of the subsidy47. The Commission has 
reiterated in the past the need for the ETI to create ‘new jobs’ irrespective of whether the incentive 
grant was available or not. The Commission calls on Government to make incremental adjustments 
to the grant design as more data comes online rather than waiting until 2016 for a broader review 
of the grant and effectively forfeiting the benefits of any design improvements in the interim.

c. While the economy is creating jobs, a large share of these jobs are seasonal in nature. The average 
level of job creation in the fourth quarter of each year over the past six years has amounted to 120 
percent of annual job creation as a result of temporary employment opportunities in the retail and 
tourism sectors ahead of the holiday season and in the agricultural sector at the time of harvesting. 
For real disposable income of households to improve, the economy will need to create sustainable 
jobs at a pace that can absorb new entrants into the labour market. Existing structural impedi-
ments that have led to a decline in the labour intensity of production is partly a reflection of labour 
market challenges that government must address.   

4.3.5 Table 6 provides real growth rates on the economic classification of consolidated government 
expenditure, projected revenue spending and compensation per capita over the period 2013/14 to 
2017/18. Allocations in respect of capital show the strongest real average growth over the period 
compared to growth in current expenditure48. Over the 2015 MTEF period, real growth in capital-related 
allocations range from 8.2 percent in 2015/16, to 0.5 percent in 2016/17 before marginally increasing 
to 0.8 percent by 2017/18. Given government’s adoption of infrastructure-led growth, these trends are 
welcomed. 

4.3.6 While the intent to significantly drive up infrastructural investment is welcome, the Commission 
laments that the Budget Review outlines how the planned cumulative expenditure on infrastructure 
will amount to R803 billion over the next three years. This is against the backdrop that previous MTEF 
have projected three-year capital expenditure planning programme between R800 billion and R850 
billion. The 2015 MTEF figure suggests therefore downward revision in budgeted infrastructural invest-
ment. This is of concern given that the country is still recovering from a fairly dramatic decline in the 
growth of fixed capital formation in part induced by the global financial crisis and hence could reduce 
the sustainable growth rate of the economy still further later on. 

4.3.7 Disaggregating the data by year, the following trends are observable: 

a. In line with the push to contain spending on goods and services, real growth of this component 
declined markedly in 2014/15. Whereas the decline in real growth reached -4.2 percent in 
2014/15, negative growth of this component is projected to continue in 2015/16, even though at 
a lower rate. Real annual average growth over the MTEF period is -1.5 percent.

b. Allocations in respect of transfers and subsidies will decline from 4.7 percent in 2015/16 to 
-1.4 percent towards the end of the MTEF period. The decline in transfers is largely in respect of 
a slowdown to subnational government, non-profit organisations (NPOs) and public corporations. 
NPOs play an important enabling role in delivering critical socio-economic services to the poor. 
Reducing real expenditure to NPOs places a further financial strain on a struggling sector and 
may even lead to possible closures and termination of vital services to the poor.  

c. Real growth of compensation of employees is projected to slow from 3.6 percent in 2014/15 to 
-0.7 percent in 2017/18. The Commission welcomes measures being taken to reign in the wage 
bill such as freezing of all national department posts and a review of funding for vacant posts. 
For the compensation projections to be realistic a wage bargaining agreement where salaries 
are pegged close to the inflation rate, will be required. Whether this will materialise may influence 
the credibility and likely sustainability of the fiscal framework. Despite the projected slowdown 
of compensation expenditure, compensation per capita still increases in real terms by close to 5 
percent in 2015/16 and only marginally slows to 3.47 percent by 2017/18. 
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d. Revenue is expected to grow in real terms by 1.55 percent on average per annum over the 
2015/16 MTEF period. If the economy grows below expected in the 2015 budget or if the cost of 
employment increases at a faster pace than projected, then the growth in the cost of employ-
ment will outstrip revenue growth over the 2015/16 MTEF period. This implies that the propor-
tion of revenue required to absorb the cost of employment will increase, thereby crowding-out 
expenditure on other priorities. 

Table 6: Spending by Economic Classification, Revenue and 
Compensation per Capita 2013/14-2017/18

Real Year on Year Growth 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Real Annual 
Average 
Growth  

2014/15 - 
2017/18

Compensation of employees 3.6% 2.9% 0.4% -0.7% 1.55%

Goods and services -4.2% -0.7% 0.8% -2.0% -1.53%

Transfers and subsidies 4.3% 4.7% 0.3% -1.4% 1.97%

Payments for capital assets 1.9% 8.2% 0.5% 0.8% 2.82%

Revenue 3.6% 2.9% 0.4% -0.73% 1.55%

Compensation per capita 2.98% 4.85% 4.26% 3.47% 3.89%

5. How South Africa’s Fiscal Framework can be Improved

5.1 The framework underlying South Africa’s revenue and expenditure estimates /allocations is rightly 
hailed a success. The fiscal framework has maintained a stable macroeconomic balance, improved 
intergovernmental and sectoral resource allocation, ensured predictability of the budget and more 
importantly strove for efficient utilisation of allocated resources on a continual basis. The credibility of 
this framework remains the glue that binds the economy together and maintains fiscal sustainability in 
the midst of heightened economic growth constraints. With the rising prospects of a weaker economic 
outlook, a reconsideration of expenditure and revenue plans will be necessary (fiscal consolidation).  

5.2 The 2014 MTBPS outlined a package of fiscal measures to reinforce consolidation and fiscal sus-
tainability. The fiscal package comprises of five interventions including the lowering of the expenditure 
ceiling, adjusting tax policy administration, strengthening budget planning and outcomes, freezing 
personnel headcounts and adopting a deficit neutral approach to bailing-out SOCs. 

5.3 Improving the fiscal framework and maintaining its credibility would need more than just the 
lowering of the expenditure ceiling. Although government has evidently been meeting its target 
spending ceilings, it is also clear that spending has been increasing faster than inflation.  Invariably, 
expenditure growth which outpaces inflation creates an artificial hard budget constraint and offsets 
the disincentive effect of the budget constraint imposed by the ceiling on budget claimants (spending 
agencies). Aggregate spending ceilings that are set abruptly and which are less tied to a specific 
long-term goal are not effective. More importantly, ceilings are likely to create incentive that bias 
revenue projections, especially where revenue is unconstrained. Rather than aligning to the revenue 
projections, the ceiling should instead be linked to a medium to long-term goal such as the reduction 
of the debt/GDP ratio. The aggregate expenditure ceiling must also incorporate expenditure cuts that 
would have been determined through an elaborate expenditure review process. In order to maintain 
their credibility and effectiveness, ceilings must be set outside of the budget preparation phase, must 
have the time horizon, be enforceable and an explicit numerical definition. This will require fostering 
the numerical fiscal rules, determining the ceiling and monitoring adherence thereof.  

5.4 Government further proposes to generate an additional revenue amounting to R27 billion through 
adjustment of the tax policy and administration to deal with the burgeoning revenue gaps. A radical 
consolidation exercise would require more aggressive tax reforms including VAT reductions in the 
wage bill. With NHI and Social Security reforms on the cards, there is a need to structurally look at 
revenue take to match these entitlements which would make reviewing all revenue options unavoid-
able. 



5.5 A related aspect to improve fiscal frameworks relates to the scope that does exist for all spheres of 
government and their entities to expand their own financing of capital expenditures and economic de-
velopment. Options previously discussed by the Commission include improvements in expenditure ef-
ficiencies informed by ongoing expenditure reviews, debt collections efficiencies and so forth. Private 
funding will need to be sourced for some of the required infrastructure investments, although this 
needs to be better managed to avoid the negative experiences of Gauteng e-Toll roads and electricity 
generation49. The long term problem to address is that the system of revenue-raising is highly central-
ized, especially with respect to the provincial level. This is a consequence of the top-down nature 
of the system. Part of the natural evolution of the intergovernmental fiscal relations (IGFR) system 
is the gradual decentralization of revenue-raising responsibilities to the provinces. It is natural that 
spending be decentralized prior to revenue-raising. However, it is now opportune to begin the process 
of revenue-raising decentralization. This can be done in a way that does not threaten the integrity of 
the tax system by allowing the provinces some say in setting their own tax rates on the same tax base 
used by the national government, using user charges like e-tolls as well, because user charges can be 
used at any sphere of government. Finally, the Commission agrees with Government that some scope 
does exist for municipalities to expand debt financing of capital expenditures. This will likely result in 
accelerated economic growth. 

5.6 The fiscal framework can also be improved through government-wide commitment to long-term 
planning and efficient resource utilisation. Long-term planning however remains the purview of 
selected provincial infrastructure conditional grants and an elusive goal across the three spheres of 
government. There are no fiscal parameters to measure the extent to which resources are utilised 
efficiently or not. In its Submission on the 2014/15 Division of Revenue, the FFC recommended that 
the interface between planning, budgeting and outcomes be improved through the newly adopted 
outcomes-oriented delivery approach. To promote effective capital infrastructure spending, the Com-
mission calls on scaling up institutionalisation of the Built Environment Performance Plans as a tool for 
changing the spatial development patterns of cities as well as the model for infrastructure conditional 
grants which couples incentives for performance with holistic capacity building. The Chief Procure-
ment Office (CPO) should start developing spending efficiency indicators against which spending 
agencies can be measured. Moreover the CPO should lead the professionalization of public sector 
SCM practitioners.  

5.7 Government efforts to maintain stability of the fiscal framework and overall fiscal sustainability are 
continuously undermined by the constant need to recapitalise SOCs. Previous Commission submis-
sions on the fiscal framework alerted government to the potential contingent liabilities associated with 
SOC guarantees. Despite the standing guarantees and the subsequent private capital secured, SOCs 
continue to demand additional capital injections, diverting crucial funding away from core spending 
and putting pressure on the country’s debt requirement. Although the current deficit-neutral financing 
stance is commendable, SOC’s should be allowed to leverage financing through their balance sheet 
given the increase in their asset base.  

5.8 The continuous cash injection into SOCs would be futile and continue to place financial duress 
on the fiscal framework if such interventions are not accompanied by stringent requirements for im-
provements in governance and performance. There are considerable weaknesses in the governance 
and performance of SOCs manifesting as follows: the inability of Eskom to meet construction delivery 
targets; failure of South African Airways (SAA) to submit its annual report timely; long drawn-out labour 
disputes within the Post Office; continuous functional challenges of the South African Broadcast-
ing Corporation (SABC) board and the inability meet the profit potential.  With the eminent reality of 
economic downturn, SOCs, need to find a balance between satisfying expectations to support govern-
ment stimulus plans through increased spending and job retention and increasing pressure to become 
more efficient. Government should play a leading role in creating the right environment for SOCs 
to excel. This is particularly important because SOCs often traverse multiple, unclear, or conflicting 
financial and social objectives. Thus the long term strategies for turning around SOCs should involve 
clarifying their objectives, focusing scare resources for high financial impact and improving account-
ability. 

5.9 Continuous ambiguities over the use of user pay principle to underpin financing model of the 
Gauteng Freeway Improvement program and infrastructure in general impacts negatively on South 
African National Roads Agency Limited (SANRAL’s) ability to service its debt and the overall credit 
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rating of the country. Further delays in the finalisation of the funding model will result in additional 
burden on fiscal framework. In this regard, the Commission calls on efforts aimed at ensuring funding 
mechanisms such as user charges work in tandem with other elements of the developmental strate-
gies to raise efficiency. Examples include user charges which encourage people to reduce congestion 
or factoring social and environmental “externalities” into prices, especially where use of the facility or 
service is currently unpriced. Putting in place measures to improve acceptability of the user charge 
principle for higher levels of infrastructure services and differentiated high value products, compared 
with the standard offering that is paid by and is affordable to the tax base. Examples of such measures 
include differentiation within the user charge principle and/or ensuring costs are aligned with willing-
ness to pay. The incremental costs of improving service levels of infrastructure should be kept to within 
the amount that users and other beneficiaries and stakeholders indicate they are willing to pay. This 
should be based on evidence about people’s willingness to pay, obtained through a transparent and 
robust examination. 

5.10 Finally, efforts to improve the fiscal framework and reduce the burgeoning fiscal constraints should 
ultimately be premised on re-igniting growth. The current economic growth estimates falls short of the 
required growth rate to fulfil NDP expectations and compares unfavourably with the rest of develop-
ing economies. South Africa needs to focus its strategy for reigniting growth on improving education 
expenditure outcomes, increasing the skills bases, maintaining strong growth on social safety-net 
spending and redirecting infrastructure spending towards underserved areas. On the micro front, 
South Africa needs to diversify its export away from raw mining commodities and de-concentrate the 
vertical market structure of its economy. 

6. Concluding Remarks 

6.1 The Commission commends Government for tabling a stable budget with plans to put the country’s 
public finances on a consolidation path still being maintained. Within the constraints of further reduced 
overall economic growth compared with earlier forecasts and an associated reduction in budgeted 
revenue growth, the 2015 Budget should just help prevent economic growth from falling too far and 
the country from entering into a debt trap.

6.2 The Commission notes Government efforts to facilitate economic growth through infrastructure-
led growth. To this end growth in the percentage of gross fixed capital formation allocated to economic 
infrastructure between 2010 and 2013 is welcomed. Government should continue sending a firm 
message regarding the application of cost reflective tariffs and general user pay principle to underpin 
the provision of infrastructure. 

6.3 Structural constraints remain an impediment to growth. Declines in potential growth and a negative 
output gap indicate that the cyclical factors previously perceived to be growth-constraining are in-
creasingly becoming structural. 

6.4 Various uncertainties that will affect the fiscal framework exist – these include pending reforms 
to health-care and social security. At this stage it is not possible to estimate the financial and fiscal 
impacts of these reforms. To ensure that the fiscal framework is protected, details on these reforms 
are required. 

6.5 Borrowing by SOCs have constituted a significant part of South Africa’s public sector borrowing 
requirement. The continuous cash injection into SOCs continue to place financial stress on the fiscal 
framework especially if such interventions are not accompanied by stringent requirements for im-
provements in governance and performance of SOCs. The long term strategies for turning around 
SOCs should involve clarifying their objectives, focusing scarce resources for high financial impact and 
improving accountability. 

6.6 The Commission welcomes Government’s focus on expanding access to post-school education as 
this is in line with the NDP and the overall thrust of moving South Africa towards a more knowledge-
based economy. 

6.7 Expenditure in respect of social protection provides an important buffer for the poor, making 
the upward revision a welcome development, especially at the time of downward fiscal pressure on 



most spending programmes. There are positive socio-economic impacts on poor households such 
as increased likelihood of job search, education provision and food security among others from such 
expenditures and Government should continue to maintain increased access provision to the needy 
and deserving. 

6.8 Allocations in respect of transfers and subsidies will decline over the MTEF period. The decline 
in transfers is largely in respect of a slowdown in transfers to subnational Government and notably 
NPOs. NPOs play an important enabling role in delivering critical socio-economic services to the poor. 
Reducing real expenditure to NPOs places a further financial strain on a struggling sector and may 
even lead to possible closures and termination of vital services to the poor.  

6.9 Even though the downward revision of rural development and land reform is not significant, the 
Commission advises that care should be taken in reprioritising away from a function where new priori-
ties have been identified and where additional funding would be required (for example, re-opening of 
new land claims). 

6.10 Real growth of compensation of employees is projected to slow down over the MTEF period. 
The Commission welcomes measures being taken to reign in the wage bill but notes that for the 
compensation projections to be realistic a wage bargaining agreement where salaries are pegged 
close to the inflation rate, will be required. This will enhance the credibility and likely sustainability of 
the fiscal framework. 

6.11 The Commission has made various suggestions for strengthening the fiscal framework and ensure 
it re-ignite economic growth. 



Appendix F: Submission on the 2015 Appropriations Bill

1. Background

1.1 This Submission is made in terms of Section 4 (4) (2) of the Money Bills Amendment Procedure 
and Related Matters Act (Act 9 of 2009) which requires Parliamentary Committees to consider any 
recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission (hereafter FFC or the Commission) when 
processing the Appropriations Bill50. It is also made in terms of Section 3 of the Financial and Fiscal 
Commission Act (1997), as amended, which requires the Commission to respond to any requests for 
recommendations by any organ of state on any financial and fiscal matter.  

1.2 In line with the request from the Standing Committee on Appropriations, this Submission is focused 
on the following key areas: 

•  An overall assessment of the 2015 Appropriations Bill. 

• An assessment of baseline changes across all votes and service delivery implications.

• Given the 2014/15 preliminary spending outcomes, identify risk areas and possible oversight 
responses in 2015 Appropriations Bill. 

• Assessment of the 2015 Appropriation Bill with regards to effecting government’s priorities, espe-
cially with respect to economic growth and job creation programmes, infrastructure investment 
and overall efficiency gains. 

2. General Overview ofthe 2015 Appropriations Bill

2.1 The 2015 Budget was tabled within a fiscally constrained environment. At the time when the 2014 
Medium Term Budget Policy Statement was tabled, it was anticipated that economic growth would 
reach 2.5 and 2.8% for 2015 and 2016 respectively. Despite growth rates being revised down to 2.0 and 
2.4% over the next two years, Government has managed to achieve a delicate balance in terms of: 

• Ensuring that allocations are aligned with priorities outlined in both the medium term strategic 
framework (MTSF) and National Development Plan (NDP),

• Protecting funding for social grants whilst directing cuts at non-performing programmes, and

• Striving for a balanced approach to funding new infrastructure (in support of infrastructure-led 
growth) relative to caring for the existing asset base

2.2 The key message of the Commission’s Submission on the 2015 Appropriations Bill is that Govern-
ment has tabled a budget that maintains fiscal stability and ably balances contending priority areas. 

2.3 A key risk area that may serve to unsettle the balance attained in the 2015 Budget relates to the 
public sector wage bargaining process, particularly if the outcome significantly outpaces inflation. 

2.4 Pending developments with a bearing on the fiscal framework and which could impact government 
resource allocation in the short to medium term include the implementation of the National Health 
Insurance (NHI) and social security reforms alluded to by the Minister of Finance in the 2015 Budget 
Speech. However in both instances further detail is required to understand the implications of the 
reforms for the fiscal framework. 

2.5 The Commission is of the view that a multipronged approach focussing on building and strengthen-
ing the capability of the state to implement government programmes alongside rooting out inefficien-
cies such as fruitless and wasteful expenditure, corruption  et cetera, can take South Africa closer to 
realising its socioeconomic goals and objectives as outlined in the NDP. 

>>
50 The Appropriation Bill is 
a piece of legislation that 
serves to appropriate money 
from the National Revenue 
Fund for the requirements of 
national government in order 
to provide for subordinate 
matters incidental thereto.



3. An Assessment of the Composition of Funds in the 2015 Appropriations Bill

3.1 Baseline Changes and Service Delivery Implications of 2015 Appropriation Bill

(a) Table 1 illustrates the baseline changes to the 2015 Appropriations Bill and historical growth in 
selected key national departments for the period 2012/13 to 2015/1651. Within the tight fiscal envi-
ronment, government should be commended for maintaining an overall real growth of 2.5% in the 
2015 Appropriations Bill which is consistent with the average annual growth rate in the previous 
three years (i.e. 2012/13 – 2014/15)52. Government’s strategy of maintaining previous levels of 
spending growth in the 2015 Appropriations Bill implies that in principle, service delivery should 
continue to grow, even though this may not be consistent across all national votes.

(b) Of the selected key national votes, Basic Education (7.3%) and Economic Development (6.7%) 
reflect the fastest growth in real terms on average per annum over the 2012/13 – 2015/16 period. 
The continued growth of these two votes in the 2015 Appropriations Bill are in line with the priori-
ties identified in the 2015 State of the Nation Address. The Commission notes Public Works (-7.4%), 
Human Settlements (-0.3%) and Rural Development (-1.3%) recorded negative growth rates over 
this period. These national votes play a critical role in socio-economic development and in infra-
structure delivery. While the negative growth of these votes may be as a result of reprioritisation 
due to slow spending, the Commission is of the view that continued reductions as a consequence 
of persistent underspending does not address the underlying long-term systemic problems. Instead 
government should investigate the underlying causes of slow spending and put in place appropri-
ate mechanisms to unblock constraints hindering service delivery in these sectors. 

(c) When comparing the baseline changes in the 2015 Appropriations Bill with the average growth 
for the period 2011/12 – 2015/16, the Commission notes that with the exception of Public Works, 
Health and Economic Development, the growth rate of all selected votes in the 2015 Appropriation 
Bill declined. The largest reduction in growth rate in the 2015 Appropriations Bill is recorded for 
Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (-11%), Justice and Constitutional Development (-4.8%), Energy 
(-3.3%) and Rural Development votes. In terms of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, grant alloca-
tions have declined due to under-performance; mainly the result of planning and procurement 
challenges, and skills deficits in some of the provinces. While there is no explanation provided for 
the decline in the allocation to Justice and Constitutional Development, reductions are likely to 
negatively impact on expanding court services in rural areas and increasing capacity to deal with 
case backlogs. 

<<
51  Refer to actual submission 
for the full list of baseline 
changes to national votes.
52 The total amount appropri-
ated in the 2015 Appropriations 
Bill increased to R679.5 billion 
from R633.5 billion in 2014.



3.2 2014/15 Spending Outcomes

(a) Table 2 shows the spending outcomes for 2014/15, including  the percentage of the total budget 
spent for the period 2011/12 to 2014/15 for selected key national government programmes that 
drive government priorities (such as education, health, justice and policing), and key built envi-
ronment programmes (such as energy, human settlements and rural development). While most 
programmes have spent on par with the national average (98%) over the period 2011/12 – 2013/14, 
uneven spending patterns are nevertheless noticeable. 

(b) Programmes that are important drivers of job creation and economic development such as 
Public Works (92.5 %), Basic Education (92.63%), and Human Settlements (97.4 %) have spent 
below the national average (98%). While there are no additions to Public Works for the 2015/16 
financial year, it is noticeable that Human Settlements is receiving an extra R365 million in the Ap-
propriations Bill mainly to fund the housing function being devolved to municipalities, and to repair 
housing infrastructure damaged by disasters. This is welcomed as it will accelerate government’s 
plans to upgrade informal settlements and reduce housing backlogs.

(c) Total national government spending in 2014/15 was 97% and marginally below the national 
average of 98% in the previous three years. While the final spending figures for 2014/15 must still 
be audited, the total underspending is equivalent to R22 billion, with the largest underspending 
recorded for Social Development (R11 billion), largely as a result of social grants coming under 
budget through a clean-up of the grants system. This implies savings have been realised. With 
respect to the key selected votes, as in previous years, uneven spending patterns are observed 
across sectors. Higher Education, Police and Human Settlements spent on par with its budget while 
Energy only spent 83% of its final budget. Of concern for the Commission is the underspending of 
critical social services such as Basic Education (98.6%) and Health (97.7%) driven largely by under-
spending on infrastructure programmes. Infrastructure programmes in education and health play a 
crucial role in addressing backlogs and therefore the underspending in this area is a concern. The 
Commission would like to reiterate the need for transferring agents to be capacitated effectively in 
grant design, monitoring and evaluation as well as ensuring proper coordination of infrastructure 
grants among the different spheres of government. 

Selected Key National Votes 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

2015/16 Ap-
propriation 

Baseline 
Change 

Real Annual 
Average 
Growth  

2014/15 - 
2017/18

Difference 
between (A) 

and (B)

11. Public Works -3.6% -22.2% -5.4% 1.5% -7.4% 8.9%

14. Basic Education 5.9% 8.5% 9.5% 5.1% 7.3% -2.2%

15.	Higher	Education	and	Training 5.9% 2.9% 1.6% 2.5% 3.2% -0.7%

16.	Health 2.3% 1.1% 5.7% 3.7% 3.2% 0.5%

18. Correctional Services 0.8% 2.2% -0.1% -0.3% 0.7% -0.9%

21. Justice and Constitutional 
Development 6.8% 0.2% 6.1% -2.1% 2.8% -4.8%

23. Police 3.4% 3.1% -0.2% 0.5% 1.7% -1.2%

24. Agriculture, Forestry and 
Fisheries 12.5% -0.7% 3.9% -9.4% 1.6% -11.0%

25. Economic Development 11.0% 8.7% -15.2% 22.3% 6.7% 15.6%

26. Energy 2.3% -8.5% 8.6% -3.6% -0.3% -3.3%

38.	Human	Settlements 2.8% 7.6% 0.5% 1.5% 3.1% -1.6%

39. Rural Development and Land 
reform 5.9% 0.2% -6.6% -4.5% -1.3% -3.3%

Total appropriation by vote 2.3% 2.4% 2.7% 2.5% 2.5% 0.0%

Table 1: Baseline Changes of Key National Votes, 2011/12 to 2015/16

Source: Budget Review (2015) and 
Appropriations Bill (2015)



Table 2: Aggregate Spending and Deviation from Final Budget, 2011/12-2014/15

3.3 Performance of Department of Labour and Compensation Fund

(a) Table 3 shows spending performance and audit outcomes for the National Department of Labour 
(DoL) and the Compensation Fund for the period 2011/12 – 2014/15. The Compensation Fund is 
an entity that reports to the DoL and its main objective is to provide compensation for disability, 
illness and death resulting from occupational injuries and diseases. While spending in 2011/12 
was close to 100%, the DoL consistently underspent from 2012/13 onwards. The underspending 
was largely a result of unfilled vacancies, reduction in the procurement of goods and services and 
incorrect billing of invoices that had to be returned to the DoL and could not be sent in time for 
payment. Despite the trend of underspending by the DoL, the department still managed to receive 
an unqualified audit from the AG. 

(b) While the Compensation Fund spent the full amount of the transfer payments received from 
DoL for the period 2011/12 – 2013/14, significant overspending of 87% is observed in 2014/15. 
While no reported information is available, one presumes higher than anticipated compensation 
and medical claims may have accounted for the significant overshoot. While the spending spike 
in 2014/15 is inconsistent with the historical trend, the DoL should carefully scrutinise the reasons 
for the overshoot and whether the factors causing the spike warrant factoring into future funding 
allocations. 

(c) The Auditor-General’s assessment of the Compensation Fund for the period 2011/12 – 2013/14 
have progressively worsened, with a disclaimer audit opinion received in the past two years. Over 
the period concerned, the AG has repeatedly raised a number of material issues that have not 
been adequately addressed. Some of these issues relate to:

• Lack of adequate internal control processes that did not allow the accuracy of benefits paid 
out to be confirmed;

• Incorrect accounting records and lack of proper controls over recording of revenue and 
payments received from debtors. Interest and penalties calculated on assessment of revenue 
and debtors were therefore incorrectly charged; and

• Insufficient audit evidence on various disclosures such as impairment allowance, outstanding 
claims, commitments, irregular expenditure inter alia.

Source: National Treasury Section 
32 Reports (2011–2015)

Selected Key National Votes
% ex-

penditure 
2011/12

% ex-
penditure  
2012/13

% ex-
penditure  
2013/14

Avge % 
spending 
(2011/12-
2014/15)

Revised 
estimates 
2014/15

Spending 
outcomes 
2014/15

% ex-
penditure 
(2014/15)

National Sphere
Select key budget votes

98% 98% 99% 98%
R’million R’million R’million

7. Public Works 90.2 90.1 97.19 92.5 6 121 6 030 98.51

15. Basic Education 99.0 91.1 95.20 92.63 19 690 19 411 98.58

16.	Health 97.5 101.2 98.08 99.45 33 901 33 130 97.73

17.	Higher	Education	and	Training 90.9 100.3 100.00 100.06 36 867 36 921 100.15

21. Correctional Services 96.5 97.6 99.74 98.31 19 722 19 595 99.36

24. Justice and Constitutional 
Development 99.0 96.87 96.87 98.21 15 162 14 892 98.22

25. Police 98.9 101.1 100.00 100.01 72 507 72 507 100.00

25. Agriculture, Forestry and 
Fisheries 98.8 100.2 98.85 99.30 6 692 6 611 98.79

28. Economic Development 96.5 100.1 99.51 99.72 7 438 695 99.71

29. Energy 99.6 97.8 100.00 99.14 5 680 6 218 83.60

31.	Human	Settlements 99.0 96.8 96.38 97.41 29 418 29 361 99.81

33. Rural Development and Land 
reform 98.3 100.5 100.00 99.59 9 455 9 399 99.41



(d) The Commission calls on the DoL to play a more active oversight role over the Compensation 
Fund entity and to put in place effective processes to ensure the issues raised by the AG are ad-
equately dealt with. If the reason for the inability to properly monitor the entity on the part of DoL 
is as a result of unfilled vacancies, the Commission calls on the DoL to prioritise filling vacant posts 
as it is undermining the department’s service delivery and fiscal oversight role. 

Table 3: Performance of Labour and Compensation Fund, 2011/12 – 2014/15

 (2011/12)  (2012/13) (2013/14) (2014/15)

Spending and deviation from final budget (%)

Dept of Labour 99% 95% 97% 94.9%*

Compensation Fund 100% 100% 100% 186.8%*

Audit Outcomes

Dept of Labour Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Not available

Compensation Fund Qualified Disclaimer Disclaimer Not available 

Source: Department Of Labour 
And Compensation Fund Annual 
Reports (Various); Estimates Of 
National Expenditure (2015); 
Appropriation Bill (2014)  
*Unaudited

3.4 Risks and Oversight Responses in 2015 Appropriations Bill  

(a) Weaker than expected economic growth was a key risk that played itself out in the 2014/15 
budget year and is likely to continue into 2015/16. Government is actively trying to manage this 
risk through: 

• Ensuring lower spending ceilings in 2015/16 and 2016/17 and achieve targets for tax revenue 
over the MTEF period 

• Budgets for non-essential goods and services have been frozen at 2014/15 levels, funding for 
long-standing vacancies have been withdrawn and adjustments to tax policy and administra-
tion is in the pipeline

• Unallocated reserves of R5 billion in 2015/16, R15 billion in 2016/17 and R25 billion in 2017/18 
is set aside to act as a fiscal buffer in case of a deteriorating economic outlook.

(b) The Commission fully endorses government’s efforts to moderate spending as a means to 
adjust to lower than expected economic growth. Nevertheless, the Commission calls on govern-
ment and legislatures to ensure the poor and vulnerable should continue to be cushioned through 
maintaining effective and efficient use of social expenditure. This can contribute directly to growth 
and jobs especially when taken in tandem with interventions devoted to job-friendly growth. In 
addition, government should maximize value for money and benchmarking of procurement of 
goods and services as well as ensure more stringent oversight by the Chief procurement officer. 

(c) Another key risk is a public sector wage settlement significantly above CPI inflation which could 
impact negatively on the fiscal sustainability of the public finances. Government has attempted to 
slow the growth of the public sector wage bill through: 

• Withholding additional reserves for change to personnel numbers
• Reviewing funded vacancies and
• Working to ensure sustainable cost-of-living adjustment.
• Cleaning up of personnel numbers across the spheres of government, especially in the 

provinces

(d) The Commission also welcomes efforts aimed at trying to find a long-term solution to the wage 
bill issue, especially the recent establishment of the Presidential Public Service Remuneration 
Review Commission in which the FFC is participating. 

(e) A further risk relates to the poorly performing and inefficient entities that may pose a significant 
risk to public finances through the disbursement of additional direct fiscal support, equity injec-
tions or guarantees. Government has attempted to address this risk by: 



• Working with these entities to develop sustainable financial frameworks supported by turna-
round plans. Many of these plans focus on stabilising finances in the short-term in order to 
improve the liquidity positions of these entities. 

4. Assessment Of 2015 Appropriations Bill with Respect to Effecting  
Government’s Five Priority Areas

4.1 Government has identified five specific objectives as areas of priority in its Medium 
Term Strategic Framework, namely:

• Promoting economic growth;
• Education;
• Health;
• Job creation and economic transformation; and
• Improving the public service.

4.2 Promoting Economic Growth

(a) The 2015 Budget reflects policy priorities outlined in the Medium Term Strategic Framework 
(MTSF), which in turn facilitates the implementation of plans contained within the National 
Development Plan (NDP). These have been identified as critical to boosting economic growth 
and reducing high levels of unemployment.52 Figure 1 shows that investment in infrastruc-
ture by public sector institutions continues to increase. The percentage of gross fixed capital 
formation by economic infrastructure increased from 68% in 2010 to 73% in 2013, while that 
of social infrastructure declined from 32% in 2010 to 27% in 2013. While the increase in gross 
fixed capital formation by economic infrastructure is taking place in line with targeted public 
infrastructure investment (see  Section 4 for further details), the decline in gross fixed capital 
formation by social infrastructure, highlights the need for more investment in this area to 
address the above mentioned developmental challenges. According to Statistics South Africa, 
investment in infrastructure by public sector institutions has increased by 4.8% (or R9.7 billion), 
from R202.8 billion in 2012 to R212.5 billion in 2013. A disaggregation of capital expenditure by 
type reveals an increase in plant, machinery and equipment (up R10 billion from 2012), ‘other’ 
fixed assets (R2 billion) and transport equipment (R1 billion). There were capital expenditure 
decreases on new construction works (R3 billion), leased assets and investment property 
(R0.7 billion), and on land and existing buildings (R0.1 billion). 

Figure 1:  Gross Fixed Capital Formation by Type of Infrastructure, 1994–2013

<<
53  In the 2015 Budget, Govern-
ment’s immediate priorities to 
boost growth and enhance job 
creation are centred on crucial 
plans to (a) resolve South 
Africa’s energy challenge, (b) 
revitalize agriculture and agro-
processing, (c) enhance mineral 
beneficiation, (d) implement 
industrial policy action strategy, 
(e)  encourage higher levels of 
private investment, (f) improve 
labour relations, (g) grow 
the small and medium scale 
enterprises sector, (h) improve 
the efficiency and role of state-
owned companies, and (d) 
enhance the growth potential 
of targeted sectors such as 
alternative/green energy and 
ocean economy (National 
Treasury, 2015). 

Source: National Treasury and World Bank



4.3 Education

The 2015 overall budget allocation to basic education reflects the policy expectations and priorities 
set out in the MTSF and the NDP. Basic education allocations account for 16.7% of total government 
expenditure. Over the 2015 MTEF, basic education allocations are projected to increase at an average 
nominal rate of 6.3%, slightly lower than the increase in health (7.1%) and social protection (7.0%). 
Although allocations to the three social functions are mutually reinforcing, the over prioritization of 
social protection allocations over basic education counteracts the ethos of NDP with respect to in-
creasing social mobility through better education. Providing a basic education is the central pillar of 
development, and an important lever for promoting upward mobility – thereby lowering reliance on 
social protection. 

(a) Over the 2015 MTEF, key priorities in the education sector are to improve curriculum delivery, 
provide sufficient learner and teacher support material, increase the supply of quality teachers, 
and accelerate delivery and improvement of school infrastructure. The bulk (77%) of the education 
appropriation is accounted for by compensation of employees, while the remainder funds other 
priorities (see Figure 2 below). The Commission maintains that administrative inefficiencies associ-
ated with managing the wage bill need to be addressed to free-up resources for other important 
education inputs. In its Submission on the Division of Revenue for 2015/16, the Commission 
indicated the need to address inequities in the allocation of resources at school level. The im-
plementation of priorities identified at the national level filter down in an inequitable way, thus 
depriving poorer schools most of the resources needed to deliver a quality education. 

Figure 2:  Basic education disagregated appropriation, 2015/16

(b) The Commission notes with concern the lack of synergy between the grants intended for 
education infrastructure. While the school infrastructure backlogs grant is projected to grow by 1% 
over the MTEF, there has been downward revision by R400 million because of poor spending. On 
the other hand, the education infrastructure grant is growing by an annual average rate of 12%.  
Funding should be sufficient to enable schools to meet the target for complying with minimum 
norms and standards for school infrastructure by 2016.  

4.4 Increasing Access to High Quality Health Care Services 

(a) Health remains a priority area for the 2015 MTEF and supports the MTSF and the NDP outcome 
of a long and healthy life for all South Africans. Some of the key priorities chosen by the govern-
ment include: 

Source: National Treasury (2015)



• Expansion of the HIV and AIDS treatment and prevention; 
• Revitalisation of public health care facilities;
• Ensuring the provision of a specialised tertiary hospital service.

(b) These three programs combined take up over 85% of the department’s total allocation over 
the MTEF period. While the overall real expenditure growth over the 2015 MTEF is projected to be 
slower than in the previous three years, the health budget is projected to grow by 7.1%. Therefore, 
if debt-service costs are excluded, projected health expenditure growth over the MTEF is second 
fastest (together with post-school education and training) after local development and social infra-
structure. This indicates government’s intention to continue supporting its goal of ensuring a long 
and healthy life for all citizens; an outcome of the MTSF, and in line with the NDP. The Commission 
is therefore of the view that despite slower average real expenditure growth, compared to the 
previous three years projected growth in annual average expenditure for health confirms govern-
ment’s priority of  a healthy life for all. 

4.5 Job Creation and Economic Transformation

(a) In terms of the 2015 budget, job creation initiatives remain a priority. Government’s strategy 
to create jobs is multi-pronged and revolves around: (a) public employment programmes (this 
includes the Expanded Public Works Programmes (EPWP) and Community Works Programme 
(CWP)); (b) Employment tax incentives and (c) Jobs Fund. To facilitate greater effectiveness, National 
Treasury has taken over the responsibility of managing the Jobs Fund from the Development Bank 
of Southern Africa. The Jobs Fund was launched in 2011 and provided once-off grant funding in the 
areas of enterprise development, infrastructure, support for work seekers and institutional capacity 
building. Thus far, the fund has paid grants worth R1.48 billion, and created 30 701 permanent jobs 
in the process.

(b) Government remains committed to building on and sustaining the gains of the Jobs Fund ini-
tiative. To this end, the 2015 Budget includes measures including tax incentives for employment 
and investment, support for enterprise development, skills and development and employment 
programmes targeting support and growth of local entrepreneurs, and small-scale businesses. The 
2015 Budget includes an allocation of R4 billion to the Jobs Fund, an amount that will be used in 
partnership with the private sector in facilitating access to finance and the scaling up of small and 
medium-scale enterprises. The Commission welcomes the new strategy, which intends to seek 
partnerships with larger intermediaries and ensure proper monitoring and evaluation processes. 
The Commission further welcomes commitments made in the State of the Nation Address (SONA), 
to ensure that 30% of government’s procurement is sourced from small and medium scale enter-
prises. Implementation of this commitment will provide further impetus to concerted efforts to 
grow small-scale businesses at rates that assist in raising job creation and economic development. 

4.6 Improved Public Service

(a) To achieve the developmental agenda, the NDP calls for a capable state that has the capacity 
to implement government programmes. Building a capable state requires appropriate leadership, 
sound policies, skilled managers and workers, and effective systems. 

(b) Government has continued efforts to enhance its capability to combat corruption in the 2015 
Appropriations Bill. Among measures aimed at improving investigative capacity in institutions, is 
R60 million allocated to the Financial Intelligence Services, R60 million reprioritized to the Public 
Protector and funds from the Independent Police Investigative Directorate allocated from its 
baseline over the MTEF period to establish a national specialized investigative team. The Com-
mission welcomes the release of the Supply Chain Management (SCM) review by the Office of 
the Chief Procurement Officer (OCPO). The Commission supports reforms proposed by the OCPO 
which aim at modernizing the SCM in the public sector (including raising the profile of the function 
to a professional and strategic level across all of government), reducing corruption in both public 
and private sectors, accelerating service delivery and reducing costs. Implementing more efficient 
procurement processes should take place, while at the same time ensuring that adequate checks 
and balances are not compromised. In addition, what is required is support for these initiatives and 
implementation from the whole of government. 



(c) With the implementation of government’s infrastructure plan being a key priority over the 
medium term, the focus in the 2015 Appropriations Bill is on prioritising the ability of the state to 
plan and implement infrastructure projects effectively. In this respect, built environment perfor-
mance plans have been introduced in order to incentivise integrated planning and implementa-
tion across built environment functions located in municipalities. While project management and 
infrastructure planning are two crucial areas for infrastructure development, government should 
however take a comprehensive and sustainable approach to capacity building, especially at local 
government level. In this respect, the Commission would like to reiterate a previous recommenda-
tion calling for a single capacity support agreement per municipality. 

(d) Another feature of skills support in the 2015 Appropriations Bill is the establishment of a labour 
market intelligence unit at the Human Science Research Council to link the economy-wide supply 
of required skills. A project to forecast skills is also being funded and in this respect, R15 million is 
being allocated to Wits University. While these initiatives are useful to identify and address future 
skills gaps in the labour market, demand-side factors to encourage the uptake of labour, especially 
among the youth should not be neglected. In addition, the ambit of the labour market intelligence 
unit should not exclude future skills required in the public sector. 

5. Assessment of Infrastructure Investment in National Government

5.1 At the time when Budget 2014 was tabled, government spending plans indicated that R847 billion 
would be allocated in respect of targeted public infrastructure investment, with the transport and elec-
tricity sectors being specifically emphasised. However, the impact of lower than anticipated economic 
growth, and the need to contain expenditure, has resulted in allocations in respect of infrastructure 
being revised downwards by R34.2 billion, bringing total infrastructure investment to R813.1 billion 
over the next three years. 

5.2 In his 2015 Budget Speech, the Minister of Finance emphasised Government’s reliance on cost 
recovery as an important avenue for funding infrastructure development, thus bringing into focus the 
issue of user fees. Whereas cost recovery and the application of user fees can contribute towards 
the sustainability of service delivery, the extent to which revenue can be derived from infrastructure 
utilisation, will be dependent on the willingness of consumers to pay. As noted by the Commission in 
its submission on the 2015 fiscal framework and revenue proposals, unwillingness to pay has posed a 
serious challenge in the case of the Gauteng Freeway Improvement Project with resistance to payment 
of tolling tariffs. Given Government’s stance in applying the user pay principle, what is now required 
are measures to improve the acceptability of the user pay principle for higher levels of infrastructure 
services and differentiated high value products, compared with the standard offering that is paid by 
and is affordable to the tax base54. 

5.3 Table 4 illustrates the real growth rates in infrastructure allocations by sector. Of the total R813-
billion allocated to public infrastructure over the next three years, 77% is allocated to the transport 
(R339-billion), energy (R166-billion) and water and sanitation (R117-billion) sectors. An assessment of 
real annual average growth indicates that whereas the allocation to transport and water grew posi-
tively by 4.9% and 1% respectively, allocations in respect of energy infrastructure is set to decline 
significantly by a real annual average of 27.9% per annum. According to the 2015 Budget Review the 
decline in growth is based on the fact that many of the infrastructure projects are nearing completion. 
Based on continued delays in key projects such as Medupi and Kusile, the Commission would advise 
caution in optimistic forecasts and would stress that for budgets to be reliable and realistic, they need 
to adequately factor in past performance when determining future projections.  

5.4 Infrastructure-related allocations in respect of justice and protection services, and central govern-
ment’s administration and financial services are projected to grow by a real annual average of 6.5% 
and 6.0% per annum respectively over the next three years. According to the 2015 Appropriations Bill:

(a) Growth in the justice and protection services sector is being driven by upgrading of courts, 
police stations and correctional facilities-related infrastructure. 

(b) Growth in the central government, administration services and financial services sector is 
mainly driven by plans to modernize the electronic document management system used by the 
Department of Home Affairs. 

>>
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Table 4: Real Growth in Allocations to Public Infrastructure Investment by 
Sector, 2012/13–2017/18

 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

R billion Outcome Estimates

Energy 75.1 69.5 69.2 71.1 56 39.2

Water and sanitation 22.6 26.2 34.8 37.3 39.8 40.3

Transport and logistics 69.5 76.4 93.7 104.3 113.5 121.4

Other economic services 8.9 11.8 17.5 15.4 15.5 14.7

Health 9.7 10.6 9.7 9.3 9.9 10.3

Education 9.8 12.3 13.5 14.5 14.5 14.8

Other social services 10.7 10.3 11.5 10.6 11.3 11.6

Justice and protection

services 4.4 4 3.9 4.5 5.2 5.5

Central government,

administration services and 
financial services

6.9 5.8 8.6 6.9 7.7 8.2

Total 217.7 226.9 262.4 274 273.3 265.8

Real Year on Year Growth      

Energy  -10.40% -3.80% -0.50% -23.50% -31.90%

Water and sanitation  12.30% 28.10% 3.80% 3.70% -1.60%

Transport and logistics  6.40% 18.50% 7.90% 5.70% 4.00%

Other economic services  27.60% 43.80% -14.80% -2.50% -7.40%

Health  5.80% -11.70% -6.90% 2.80% 1.20%

Education  21.00% 6.00% 4.20% -2.90% -0.80%

Other social services  -6.90% 7.60% -10.80% 3.30% 0.60%

Justice and protection
services 40.80% -6.50% 13.20% 11.00% 2.20%

 

Central government,
administration services and 
financial services

-14.70% 43.10% -22.00% 8.50% 3.60%
 

Total  0.90% 11.70% 1.20% -3.10% -5.30%

5.5 The responsibility for investment in new and existing infrastructure lies with all three spheres of 
government, including state owned companies. Over the 2015 MTEF period, state-owned companies 
(SOCs), and local government are responsible for just under 70% of all public investment in infra-
structure (see Figure 3). Poor performance in terms of financial mis-management and unmet service 
delivery targets associated with some of the major SOCs and municipalities brings into question the 
ability of these entities to effectively drive South Africa’s infrastructure-led growth. 

Source: Commission calculations 
based on Budget Review 2014

Figure 3:  Responsibility for Public Infrastructure Spending, 2012/13 - 2017/18

Source: Commission calculations 
based on Budget Review (2014)



5.6 In terms of the nature of infrastructure investment, Figure 4 indicates that by the end of the 2015 
MTEF period, 55% of resources allocated in respect of infrastructure investment, will be for new infra-
structure. The balance of the funding has been allocated to existing infrastructure in terms of repairs, 
rehabilitation, and upgrading. Whereas spending on maintenance and repairs only reaches 5.2% by 
the end of the medium term, this does reflect an increase relative to the 2.1% allocated to this item in 
2012/13. Focusing solely on new infrastructure without sufficient emphasis being placed on maintain-
ing the existing asset base, does not represent prudent investment sense, as the full range of invest-
ments in a particular type of infrastructure will not be realized. The Commission thus welcomes a more 
balanced approach to infrastructure development that attaches priority to caring for existing assets 
and developing new infrastructure where applicable. 

Figure 4:  Proposition of Infrastructure Spending by Type, 2012/13–2017/18

Source: Commission calculations 
based on Budget Review (2014) 

6. Measures to Stimulate Cost Efficiencies

6.1 The slow recovery post-global financial crisis has severely constrained the government purse 
thereby necessitating the need for achieving cost-efficiency. Section 195(1) (b) of the Constitution 
requires the promotion of efficient, economic and effective use of resources in every sphere of gov-
ernment, organs of state and public enterprises. Section 38 (b) of the Public Finance Management Act 
(PFMA) places the responsibility on Accounting Officers of government departments, trading entities 
and constitutional institutions to be responsible for the effective, efficient, economical and transparent 
use of the resources of the department, trading entities or constitutional institutions. Essentially, the 
production and delivery of public services within the government should be provided at the minimum 
opportunity cost. Inefficiencies in the public sector have become manifest in many forms, such as 
unproductive, wasteful, irregular or fruitless expenditure, duplication and wastage in procurement 
processes, among others. In suggesting measures to improve efficiency, the Commission is aware that 
there is no blueprint for improving public sector efficiency, but diverse approaches can be adopted. 
The Commission highlights a few key areas which all spheres of government should drive towards for 
improved efficiency.

6.2 Practical Measures to Improve Public Sector Efficiency

(a) Public sector wage bill and productivity: The Commission wishes to reiterate its previous views 
that public expenditure growth can be contained through curtailing the public sector wage bill, 
something that can be done without compromising growth. Public sector wages continue to grow 
above inflation over the medium term, albeit at a slower rate. The size and sustainability of the 
public sector wage bill continues to be of concern for the Commission, especially if core service 
delivery employment is not being prioritised now, and for the foreseeable future. The Commission 
is of the view that norms for frontline versus administrative staff to total expenditure per sector, 



and/or by specific occupational categories are of critical importance and government should work 
on developing and implementing these as a matter of urgency. The treasuries and sector depart-
ments as well as the Department of Public Service and Administration together with the Public 
service Commission should collaboratively establish mandatory norms and standards relating to 
the functions of the public service, the organisational structures and establishment of departments 
and other organisational and governance arrangements in the public service, as required by the 
Public Service Act (1994). In addition, there should be consequences for accounting officers who 
recruit outside of their approved establishment. Further to this, the Commission will continue 
research work focused on the issue of public sector productivity and how this can be enhanced. 

(b) Spending inefficiencies: Other areas for improving cost efficiencies are in the prevention of du-
plicated services and roles, and the avoidance of wasteful, fruitless, irregular and under spending. 
Budget execution is fraught with these challenges and the Commission continues to be concerned 
with monies that are appropriated, but are not spent as expected, or as budgeted for. This is not 
only a symptom of poor budget execution, but more fundamentally signifies poor and inefficient 
policy making on the part of government departments. Problems of irregular, wasteful and under-
spending tend to limit the state’s ability to provide appropriate services to the people. Factors 
behind these short comings range from a lack of compliance to more fundamental factors such as 
institutional weaknesses in procurement, capacity and corruption. All these issues require vigilance 
by those responsible and a strengthening of ongoing efforts to build capacity of the departments, 
to execute budgets and monitor the flow of funds during budget execution. It is also important that 
policies and plans are connected to budgets. 

(c) ICT Roll-out: ICT is known to improve access to service quality and responsiveness to citizens. ICT 
has the potential to reduce operational costs and improve efficiencies in the delivery of services. 
A shift towards ICT and e-governance will improve access to essential services, promote a citizen 
centric government and reduce the costs of providing these services. It will enable citizens to 
participate more fully in the development and delivery of services. The Commission therefore urges 
the government to prioritise the roll-out of ICT infrastructure especially in rural areas. In modernis-
ing ICT infrastructure, the government needs to leverage the infrastructure within the public sector 
in order to better share information, internally and externally, and to deliver integrated services. 

(d) Accurate cost estimates: To ensure that all spheres of government achieve greater efficien-
cies in the use of scarce public resources, it is important that more accurate cost estimates are 
made for services being delivered. As cost estimates of providing services are currently weak, the 
Commission in collaboration with SALGA, is working on a model to properly cost basic services in 
the local sphere. The model will assist in matching allocations and the costs of providing services, 
and in determining whether public services are efficiently funded. This costing exercise should be 
extended to provincial and national public services in future. 



7. Concluding Remarks 

7.1. On the 25th February 2015, the Appropriations Bill was unveiled. The bill takes on the characteristics 
of both the 2015 Division of Revenue Bill and Fiscal Frameworks, and Revenue Proposals. The Bill keeps 
within the expenditure ceilings set by the 2015 Budget Review. The Commission is pleased that despite 
the constrained resource envelope, the Fiscal Year 2015 Appropriations Bill indicates a continued com-
mitment to funding MTSF and NDP activities that play a critical role in strengthening and improving 
our lives.The Commission commends government in balancing the need to protect social grants, while 
targeting non-core and non-performing programmes as areas where expenditure can be cut.   

7.2. The Commission notes Government efforts to facilitate economic growth through infrastructure-
led growth. To this end growth in the percentage of gross fixed capital formation allocated to economic 
infrastructure between 2010 and 2013 is welcomed. Government should sustain this trend and also 
continue sending a firm message regarding the application of cost reflective tariffs and general user 
pay principle to underpin the provision of infrastructure. 

7.3. In terms of the nature of infrastructure investment, the Commission welcomes the more balanced 
approach to infrastructure development by Government that attaches priority to caring for existing 
assets and developing new infrastructure where applicable. 

7.4. Real growth of compensation of employees is projected to slow down over the MTEF period. The 
Commission welcomes measures being taken to reign in the wage bill, but notes that for the com-
pensation projections to be realistic a multi-year wage bargaining agreement will be required, where 
salaries are pegged close to the inflation rate. This will enhance the credibility and likely sustainability 
of the fiscal framework. 

7.5. The Commission has made various suggestions for strengthening and stimulating cost efficiencies.



Commission Advisories

1 National Legislature engagements

1.1 Standing Committee on Appropriations Presentation: Annual Submission for the Division of 
Revenue

1.2 Select Committee on Appropriations Presentation: Annual Submission for the Division of 
Revenue 

1.3 Select Committee on Appropriations MTBPS Workshop

1.4 Standing Committee on Finance Presentation on the role and mandate of the FFC, 
role played in the economy and Contribution to 
National Development Plan

1.5 Standing Committee on Appropriations Strategic Planning session

1.6 Portfolio Committee on Economic Develop-
ment

Briefing on the Economic Development Depart-
ment’s performance of the 2013/14 financial year 
and its projections for the 2014/15 financial year

1.7 Portfolio Committee on Mineral Resources Mineral Resources Department’s performance on 
the 2013/2014 financial year and its projections for 
the 2014/2015 financial year

1.8 Portfolio Committee on Public Works   Role and Function of the Financial and Fiscal Com-
mission, Recommendations of the Commission 
that relate to Public Works, Departmental Analysis

1.9 Portfolio Committee on Human Settlements Briefing on the Audit Outcomes of the Annual 
Performance Report of the Department of Human 
Settlements 2013/2014 and its Entities

1.10 Portfolio Committee on Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fisheries

Briefing on the 2013/2014 Annual Expenditure and 
Performance in preparation for the Budget Review 
and Recommendation Report

1.11 Portfolio Committee on Tourism Presentation-FFC’s recommendations with 
reference to the tourism sector

1.12 Standing Committee on Appropriations Status and Effectiveness of higher education 
funding in south Africa

1.13 Portfolio Committee on Health Department of Health Strategic Plan and Expendi-
ture Trends

1.14 Standing Committee on Appropriations Comment on the 2014 MTBPS

1.15 Standing Committee on Finance FFC Amendment Bill

1.16 Portfolio Committee on Economic Develop-
ment

Presentation: Portfolio Committee’s Strategic 
Planning Workshop

1.17 Standing Committee on Finance Deliberations on the FFC Amendment Bill

1.18 Select Committee on Appropriations/NCOP Briefing by the Minister of Finance on the 2015 
Budget

1.19 Portfolio Committee on Higher Education 
and Training

Briefing on funding of higher education during 
the Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) 
period

1.20 Standing committee on Finance Briefing: Annual report

1.21 Portfolio Committee on Higher Education 
and Training

Funding of Higher education during the MTEF 
period

Appendix G: List of 2014/15 Commission Advisories
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2 National Government engagements

2.1 Budget Council meetings (x4)

2.2 Budget Forum meetings (x1)

2.3 Budget Council Lekgotla: In terms of the 
IGFR Act

2.4 Medium Term Budget Policy Statement

2.5 Department of Women, Children and 
People with Disabilities: Gender Responsive 
Budgeting to Cabinet

2.6 Department of Women, Children and 
People with Disabilities: Workshop- Gender

2.7 Department of Women, Children and 
People with Disabilities: Meeting- Gender

3 Provincial engagements: Legislatures and Executive

3.1 Presentation to the nine (9) provinces un-
dertaken at pre-arranged dates and times

 Annual submission for the Division of Revenue

3.2 Western Cape Legislature Budget 
Committee

Annual submission for the Division of Revenue

3.3 Free State Provincial Legislature: Public 
Accounts and Finance Portfolio Committee

Presentation on how the Province can be assisted 
in growing its own revenue and on how to strike the 
balance between fiscal sustainability and protect-
ing the existing socio-economic gains

3.4 Northwest Provincial Legislature: 
Committee on Treasury, Enterprise Devel-
opment and Provincial Affairs

Present a Workshop on the Provincial Equitable 
Share (PES) formula

3.5 Gauteng Provincial Legislature Presentation at the 2014 MTBPS workshop

4 Local Government: South African Local Government Authority (SALGA)

4.1 Ehlanzeni District Municipality Disaster 
Management Centre, Mbombela, Mpuma-
langa Province

8th National Municipal Managers Forum

4.2 SALGA NEC Lekgotla

4.3 FFC Boardroom-Midrand Meeting between SALGA (CEO Mr Xolile George) 
and FFC (Acting Chair Mr Bongani Khumalo) on 
the consultation in terms of the Local Government 
Municipal Systems Act, 2000

4.4 Briefing Recommendations for the Division of Revenue

5 Other Organs of State

5.1 Forum for Institutions supporting 
democracy (x4)

5.2 OISD (x4)

5.3 Municipal Demarcation Board National Launch of the Ward Delimitation Consulta-
tive Process

5.4 Municipal Demarcation Board Strategic Planning session

5.5 Auditor General of South Africa Presented: Audit Strategy Workshop-13 November 
2014
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6 Other Stakeholders

6.1 Department of National Treasury TCF (x4)

6.2 Public Service Commission Meeting on joint projects

6.3 Meeting: 2014 IMF Article iv

6.4 Parliamentary Budget Office Briefing on Fiscal Framework, Budget Proposals 
and 2015 Division of Revenue

6.5 Parliamentary Budget Office Meetings: Setting up and staffing of the Parliamen-
tary Budget Office including being a panel member 
at the interviews, setting up engagement protocols 
and so forth

7 Media Briefings

7.1 Press Briefing 2014/2015 Submission for the Division of Revenue

7.2 Press Briefing Report Household Vulnerability and Climate Change 
: Case of Two South African Provinces
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